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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
BEo018  HZE2017F  EEZE20165  HZE2015F  HZ2014F
1283180 124318 124318 12A31H 127318
LERE tEE LEE It5E ItFE
(restated) (restated)
(lgE51) (E5))
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FAET TET TR FAET
Revenue L]
- Continuing operations RELEEH 427,867 497,935 333,553 56,411 -
- Discontinued operations BRIEEEET - - 5,058 10,610 16,540
427,867 497,935 338,611 67,021 16,540
Result £
- Continuing operations - BELEER
(Loss)/profit before income BRETER A
tax expense (B1#B)/ & H (382,926) (158,026) (98,335) (46,219) 16,876
Income tax expense BT (2,959) (1,535) (1,243) (6,112) -
(385,885) (159,561) (99,578 (52,331) 16,876
- Discontinued operations -BRIEEEER
Profit/(loss) before income BETER WA
tax expense &/ (58) - - 5,509 (422,428) (8,157)
Income tax (expense)/credit P H () /K - - - (2,952) 1,701
- - 5,509 (425,380) (6,456)
(Loss)/profit for the year REE (BB)/ & (385,885) (159,561) (94,069) (477,711) 10,420
(Loss)/profit attributable to: AT AT (BB)/ &7
Owners of the Company AATHEA
(Loss)/profit for the year from KEERBLEERY
continuing operations (B18)/ &7 (376,922) (160,367) (102,495) (63,141) 16,876
(Loss)/profit for the year from AERFRRIELEES
discontinued operations 2 (ER),/#7 - - 5,509 (425,380) (6,456)
(376,922) (160,367) (96,986) (478,521) 10,420
Non-controlling interests FERES
(Loss)/profit for the year from TEEHRECEERL
continuing operations (B18)/ &7 (8,963) 806 2,917 810 -
(385,885) (159,561) (94,069) (477,711) 10,420
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
(gE351) (lg=5)) (i=5) (BE5)
(Loss)/earning per share gk (&8) /B
- Basic (HK cents) - HARCE) (15.64) (9.55) (6.56) (26.82) 0.64
- Diluted (HK cents) =% 5 10::11)) (15.64) (9.55) (6.56) (26.82) 0.60
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LFMBEE

As at As at As at As at As at *
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
120184 120175 120165 120155 120145
12A31H 124318 124318 12H31H 12A31H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FEL FEL FET FET
Assets and liabilities SEHEE
Non-current assets ERBHEE 4,441,642 4,787,070 4,335,653 4,251,704 4,287,972
Net current (liabilities)/assets hB(aE)/EEFE (951,994) (204,291) 220,904 (208,848) 121,919
Non-current liabilities E =L (481,042) (1,418,284) (1,464,914) (639,551) (355,902)
Net assets BESE 3,008,606 3,164,495 3,091,643 3,503,305 4,053,989
Non-controlling interests FERER (5,709) (16,655) (15,512) (14,668) -
Equity attributable to ADAEEA
owners of the Company ElE 3,002,897 3,147,840 3,076,131 3,488,637 4,053,989
2018 total gas production and gas sales recorded were 2018 pipeline gas sales accounted for 100% of
approximately 97.42 million cubic meter and 78.10 total gas sales
million cubic meter respectively 2018 F B BIHEMEIHEE 2100%
2018 F RERERMHEENBIXNRI7T42AB LT KR
78.10A & 7K
million
cubic meter 0
Sl o 14.7%
97.42 Residential piped sales
10000 RAEHEHE

2018 CBM Sales Mix

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 85-3% 20182 FRERHERM
Industrial piped sales
Sales Production TEREESE
(million cubic meter) (million cubic meter)
HEE (BB XK) ERE(AELHK)
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BUSINESS STRUCTURE
RIGRIB

Sino Oil and Gas
Holdings Limited

o B i R I R

Coalbed
Methane Business

RERES

The Group holds
70% interest of
Sanjiao CBM
Block through a
production sharing
contract, which
PetroChina is the
business partner of
the project

SEEBEMNOK

BREE =ZRKE

RIER70%H 2 -

HERERHER
S Ep:i

Raw Coal
Washing Project
[RIRRBEET

The Group holds a
75% equity interest
of a raw coal
washing project
company located
in Qinshui Basin,
Shanxi Province

E@HEAMPR LD
KA — KRR R
T8 B A B 75% s

ARAE

Crude Oil
Business

8 E 3

The Group is
actively seeking
for merger and

acquisitions

opportunities of oil

and gas project in

North America and
China

SEREBBSRIL
5 Ko B RO B R A
®IA B BFE
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Financial
Services Business

SRR S

The Group owns
a wholly-owned
financial leasing
subsidiary in
Shaanxi Province

SERREHEA — K
2EMEREEE

YNCI

Station Project
BILXARIEE

The Group holds a
30% equity interest
of a LNG project
located in
Shanxi Province
(the project is
construction in
progress)

SEBEMRILT
B—ERERXAR
T8 B 30% 1 &
(ZBEEREEY)



CORPORATE STATEMENT
i RIALTE

Strategic Goal
2 g B iR

Dedicated to become a professional international oil & gas

explorer and producer

BORBRAEEMERHRBIRFAEES

/C?rporate Value
TEEESH

People Oriented
Effective Use of Resources
Bring Harmony with Great Virtue

UABE ERER EE#Y

72

Business Principle

BEETE

Equal emphasis on business and capital
Equal attention to resources and talent

BEXEEFLE SREAAILE

2

Enterprise Spirit
1t ZE FR T

Passion Efficiency Execution

HE BH BT
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Sino Oil
and Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”), | hereby present the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Overview

In 2018, China’s macro-economy grew steadily and green policies
fueled the booming natural gas market. Natural gas consumption
continued to surge across the country due to various government
initiatives for environmental protection, including the coal-to-gas
conversion in the residential, heat supply and industrial sectors.
It is expected that China will push forward the control and
treatment of atmospheric pollution and the demand for natural
gas in key regions will maintain rapid growth until 2040, with new
demand mostly from residential, industrial and power sectors.
This demonstrates the great potential and promising outlook
of China’s natural gas market. On the other hand, the Shanxi
Government has attached great importance to the development
of the coalbed methane industry. In particular, with the launch
of “Transformation of Resources-based Cities”, “Gasification
for Shanxi” and other key policies in recent years, the coalbed
methane industry in Shanxi is strengthening its position,
accelerating its growth significantly and expanding its business

scale.
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In light of the above macro-conditions, the Group is optimistic
about the development of the PRC natural gas and coalbed
methane market. During the year, our team forged ahead with the
Sanjiao CBM Project and boosted the production volume, sales
and price. In the future, it will carry on the cooperation with the
PRC partner to formulate more efficient drilling plan for higher
effectiveness, while leveraging the potential of the Sanjiao CBM
Project to lay a solid foundation for development and profitability.

The management of the Group believes that a sound shareholder
structure plays a crucial role in steady business development
and is conducive for better corporate governance. During the
year, a few strong shareholders were introduced to optimize the
shareholder structure of the Company in a bid to maximize our
corporate value.

Prospect

Looking forward, driven by favorable macro-policies and the
positive outlook for the natural gas market, the Sanjiao CBM
Project will capitalize on its own potential strengths and become
increasingly profitable. The Group will further advance the
construction and development of the Sanjiao CBM Project in full
swing, so as to enhance production capacity, maintain steady
growth and provide solid backing for business expansion.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

The year 2019, with no doubt, will be challenging. It is true that
when the convertible notes become due in the second half of
the year, the Group will be under financial pressure to a certain
extent. Nonetheless, not only have we obtained financial support
from our shareholders and directors, we have also formulated
various corresponding plans that we are confident about easing
such financial pressure in stages soon. The management of
the Group will set its current primary goal to maintain a sound
financial position and a healthy debt level. To this end, we will
draw up a series of proactive and pragmatic measures and plans.
Apart from fundraising activities, we will also implement prudent
capital management and establish stringent financial policy, with
the view of making progress in the shortest time possible.

On top of the above, we are seeking suitable opportunities in
the oil and gas and energy sectors. Through different forms of
investments, we explore the feasibility of business diversification
and improve the business development mix to upgrade our
operational resilience. The Group will proceed with the intensive
development of principal businesses and pursue expansion with
caution. By conducting active research on high-quality investment
projects that offer growth potential and stable revenue, it

will consolidate overall revenue growth to ensure long-term
sustainability. ‘

2019 EAGETRMIBH —F BN T+
FRPMZARBERENEHEEEKR — T
EOMBERE BERTESRRREZTOHY
BXE KERCHESEERE TR I
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Appreciation Bt
During the year, Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter has resigned as HHREAALERNEERRNEZRRENREEREE
an independent non-executive director since he would spend B MERFERNBEBIIERITES B
more time on his professional practice. Mr. He Lin Feng, being RE R F R SR NN 3= E WIS =AW
a non-executive director, will also be leaving at the end of this AEMAFERATES B AAZENES
month due to his other business commitments. On behalf of the  REXEZEBE@RFMANTANEARD TEH D
Board, | would like to thank both of them for their contribution to B

the Company during their tenure.

Lastly, I, on behalf of the Group, would like to express my 5B KAAZBRREBRZFERETMIE
heartfelt gratitude to our shareholders, business partners and RAEENSURR EBEHIKREERNU
investors for their trust and support over the years. | would also RUMHE  THE2EETREFNBHKE -
like to extend my deepest appreciation to all our staff members. REBE—MUGF #BESHERAEERD
The Group will strive to achieve steady development and bring BERRE UWRERENHSIEDOR -

fruitful returns to our shareholders as always.

Dai Xiaobing FE
Chairman B

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019 &7 20193 H29H




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2018, Sino Oil and Gas
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) recorded a total revenue of approximately
HK$427,867,000 (2017: HK$497,935,000). The slight decrease
in turnover was mainly attributable to the Group’s change
of certain part of the coal washing business model, which
affected the calculation of turnover, while the actual profit of
this business remained stable. The turnover included the sales
of coalbed methane (“CBM”) in our Sanjiao CBM Project of
approximately HK$89,406,000 (2017: HK$76,663,000), the
sales derived from raw coal washing project located in Qinshui
Basin, Shanxi Province of approximately HK$331,488,000 (2017:
HK$417,637,000), and the income from the financial services
business in Shaanxi Province of approximately HK$6,973,000
(2017: HK$3,635,000).

The operation of the Sanjiao CBM Project continued to develop
steadily. During the year, the CBM sales has increased by
approximately 16.6% as compared with that of last year. In the
meantime, government subsidy and part of VAT tax refund of
approximately HK$25,866,000 (2017: HK$29,447,000) for sales
of CBM for the year 2017 were received and recorded as “other
income” during the year. The Sanjiao CBM Project has entered
into the development stage, and the Group believes that it will
bring long-term and substantial profits.

For the financial year of 2018, the Group recorded a net
loss of approximately HK$385,885,000 (2017: net loss of
HK$159,561,000). It was mainly attributable to the heavy finance
costs incurred and impairment losses on goodwill and intangible
assets arising from the coal washing business.

The finance costs incurred during the year were approximately
HK$ 324,547,000 (2017: HK$322,173,000). According to the
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, part of the finance
costs were non-cash items, such as imputed interest on
convertible notes and amortization of transaction costs, and the
finance costs actually affecting the cash flow of the year were
approximately HK$110,084,000 (2017: HK$128,755,000). In
addition, during the year, the Group recorded an impairment
loss on goodwill of approximately HK$39,244,000 (2017:
HK$46,705,000) and an impairment loss on intangible assets of
approximately HK$45,734,000 (2017: Nil) arising from the coal
washing business.
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Other than the above, according to Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard 9 which became effective on 1 January 2018,
the Group recognised expected credit losses for short-term
investment, other receivables and deposits approximately
HK$31,769,000 (2017: Nil). On the other hand, the gain from
the change in fair value of the financial liabilities arising from the
relevant convertible notes was approximately HK$37,638,000
(2017: HK$187,042,000 (Please refer to note 8 to the financial
statements). According to the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, the above fair value change and impairment loss were
non-cash accounting treatments. It had no impact on the cash
flow and operation of the Group.

The interest income amounted to approximately HK$30,536,000
(2017: HK$30,143,000) disclosed in “other income”, mainly
derived from the refundable deposits of CAD40 million of the
Group’s possible acquisitions located in Alberta, Canada and
short-term investment.

During the year, the Group was exposed to certain key risks
and uncertainties which have been disclosed in note 46 to the
financial statements.

Natural Gas and Oil Exploitation

Coalbed Methane Exploitation—Sanjiao Block in the Ordos
Basin

Project Overview

Through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Orion Energy International
Inc. (“Orion”), the Group entered into a production sharing
contract (“PSC”) with China National Petroleum Corporation
(“PetroChina”), its partner in the PRC, for exploration, utilization
and production of the CBM field in the Sanjiao block, located in
the Ordos Basin in Shanxi and Shaanxi provinces. The Group has
a 70% interest in the PSC. The PSC covers a block in the Ordos
Basin in Shanxi and Shaanxi provinces, with a total site area
of 383 square kilometers. According to a competent person’s
updated report provided to the Company by the end of 2015,
the proved and probable CBM reserves of Sanjiao CBM Project
amounted to approximately 8.301 billion cubic meters and the
net present value at 10% discount of the future revenue of the
reserve was approximately HK$11.498 billion.

S 25T aR B o th

B—FE - BER2018FE1AIBELE R 2 &
BHBRMEERFZME FAEE AR R
- HEmERER RS IRBEHEEREAE
&5 18 49 531,769,000 T (20174 « #&) -
MEBEBAEREENBEEGEZAREA
% B) 1y IR 25 49 A37,638,0005%8 JT (20174 -
187,042,000/ 70) (FF1E R MR M EES) o
BEEBMBHREEL Lz AR BEED
UERBEEEAIREEHRE WIATE
FEBMEBZRERARERLE -

FSEEREMBANFNBEKRASEY
30,536,000/ 7T (20174 : 30,143,000/
)  HZHMEBEBRAXERBEASENAME
AMBAEFENBEBEEENITRERS
40,000,000007T * ARG EIZE -

FA AN B FTE AR L 2 R T8
AR RO BN B IS R MY 546 -

XARR B HFEK
RERMFR-DBEZHBH =X ER

ER®E
AEBBEBET2ENBRARRIEZEREA
BERAR ([Bh%])  BARBEBHEFREA
BAAREB AR ([P AM])TLEEDK
&R (TPSCI)  EHE LT RPRAEBEZ
Faw="EMETEERBHER FERE
EE WEBEEFRT0%ET - PSCEZFE L
AERBRAEASM LTS K383 FHFAE
2R BE—HHEEERALTR2015FEK
MARFRBIZBERSET  —XKEER
HREzFFE (ERBE+WK) 4 4883.01E L
FK - MZFEERRBAFERE (10%HTH)
4 5114.98BB T °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Following the approval of its overall development plan by the
National Development and Reform Commission (“NDRC”) in
2015, Sanjiao CBM Project was granted a mining permit by the
Ministry of Land and Resources of the PRC with an approved
CBM production capacity of 500 million cubic meters per annum
in July 2017. The mining permit shall be valid for 25 years from
July 2017 to July 2042. At this point, all necessary administrative
approvals under the current PRC laws and regulations have
been obtained for exploration, development, exploitation and
production phases of Sanjiao CBM Project.

Infrastructure

As at 31 December 2018, the Sanjiao CBM Project has
completed a total of 118 wells, comprising 66 multilateral
horizontal wells and 52 vertical wells. Out of the total 118 wells,
90 wells were in the normal dewatering and gas producing
stage, of which 90 wells had accessed to a gas collection
pipeline network. A ground pipeline network of approximately 18
kilometers, inter-well pipelines of approximately 63.2 kilometers,
and outbound pipelines of approximately 17 kilometers were
completed. Approximately total 71.4 kilometers of 10KV power
grid and branch power line were also completed.

To cope with the increasing production volume of Sanjiao CBM
Project, the Group has undertaken the expansion of the CBM
processing station. Its daily processing capacity will reach
750,000 cubic meters upon completion. The total CBM daily
processing capacity of the station is 500,000 cubic meters now.

Sales

During the year, CBM sales amounted to HK$89,406,000 (2017:
HK$76,663,000), which has increased by approximately 16.6% as
compared with that of last year. During the year, the production
and sales of CBM were approximately 97.42 million cubic meters
(2017: 81.22 million cubic meters) and 78.10 million cubic meters
(2017: 72.62 million cubic meters) respectively, resulting in a
gas sale-to-production rate of nearly 80% for the year (2017:
approximately 90%). The decrease in the sale-to-production rate
was mainly due to some major maintenance work for the sales
pipelines during the year, which made some of the CBM to be
flared. The maintenance work was completed during the year
and the sales of CBM have resumed normal. In terms of the
composition of gas sales throughout the period, industrial piped
CBM sales accounted for approximately 85.3% of total sales
(2017: 90.0%), while residential piped CBM sales contributed
approximately14.7% (2017: 10.0%).
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Raw Coal Washing Project Located in Shanxi Province
The Group owned a 75% equity interest of a raw coal washing
project company located in Qinshui Basin, Shanxi Province. In the
year of 2018, the Chinese domestic market of coal was stable.
During the year, the raw coal supplier has early terminated the
favorable supplier agreement. Though the operating team has
been actively seeking alternative suppliers, the raw coal supply
to some extent was affected. Therefore, the project team sought
to develop direct processing business in order to diversify the
risk of a single business model. This development has affected
on the computation of the turnover amount, resulting in a decline
in turnover, while the actual profit remained stable. During the
year, the revenue from the raw coal washing business was
approximately HK$331,488,000 (2017: HK$417,637,000). Among
the mix of the turnover during the year, the raw coal washing
business accounted for approximately 97.7%, and the raw coal
processing business accounted for approximately 2.3%.

The Group was required to make an impairment loss of
approximately HK$45,734,000 (2017: Nil) for the relevant
intangible assets associated with the terminated favourable
supplier agreement. Further, due to the very same reason,
the performance of the project was affected adversely, the
Group is required to make an impairment loss of approximately
HK$39,244,000 (2017: HK$46,705,000) for the relevant goodwill
arising from the impact of the termination of the favourable
supplier agreement. These impairment losses were non-cash
accounting items and did not affect project operations and cash
flow.

Others

At the end of 2016, the Group set up a wholly-owned subsidiary,
Shaanxi Zhao Yin Finance Leasing Company Limited (“Zhao Yin
Finance Leasing”) in Shaanxi Province. The major purpose of the
establishment of this finance leasing company is to strengthen
the Group’s bank-enterprise relations so as to create cooperation
channels; as well as to seek for the suitable financing channels
and sources for the Group’s upcoming possible mergers
and acquisitions (“M&A”) and development. Further it also
provides short-term investment opportunities for the Group’s
capital. During the year, the business recorded an income of
approximately HK$6,973,000 (2017: HK$3,635,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Possible Acquisition — Oilfield in Alberta, Canada

With the purpose of further enriching the Group’s resources
reserves, apart from actively seeking suitable oil and gas blocks
in China, the Group is also exploring investment opportunities
in overseas upstream businesses. The Group hence entered
into two non-legally-binding memorandums of understanding
(“MOUs”) in June and September 2014. The acquisition targets
are oil and gas fields located in Alberta Province, Canada. The
Company expects that overseas acquisition activities can expand
the Group’s business portfolio of natural gas and oil which will
contribute profit and cash flow. Further, this can augment the
Group’s overall risk resistance capacity when facing unstable
external factors.

In January 2019, the Group and the vendor have agreed to
further extend the time limit for entering into formal agreements
in respect of the terms in the MOUs to 31 July 2019. Meanwhile,
the Group and the vendor have commenced discussion on the
possible refund of the relevant deposits.

Summary of Resources
The Group’s oil and gas reserves, as at 31 December 2018, are
summarized as follows:
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Category Coalbed Methane
Reserve

Rl RERMHE
Billion cubic feet (Gross)

FIET G HER (HEEE)

Proved (1P) ZE(P) 131.5 (Note a)
Proved and Probable (2P) FERBIE (2P) 428.0 (Fft 5Ea)

(@)  The Company has made an estimation on the reserve as at
31 December 2018 on the basis of a competent person’s
report prepared in accordance with the standards for
“Petroleum Resources Management System” recognized
under Chapter 18 of the Listing Rules on the Sanjiao CBM
Field reserves as of 30 September 2015, adjusted and
updated based on CBM production volume.

(b) Reserve translation reference: one cubic meter of natural
gas is equivalent to approximately 35.2 cubic feet.
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Capital Expenditure

For the period ended 31 December 2018, the total expenditure
capitalised was approximately HK$52 million (2017: HK$129
million), which mainly comprises of (i) construction works in
progress of oil and gas fields, (ii) direct expenses and (jii) finance
expenses, The breakdown of which is as follows:

()  Construction works in progress of oil and gas field mainly
representing drilling expenses approximately HK$12 million
(2017: HK$61 million), dewatering expenses amounted to
approximately HK$1 million (2017: HK$9 million) and ground
facility expenditure amounted to approximately HK$4 million
(2017: HK$20 million).

(i) Direct expenses mainly represent direct labour cost
(included, but not limit to, petroleum engineers and
geologists etc.) amounted to approximately HK$23 million
(2017: HK$24 million) and other direct cost incidental to the
exploration and development of the Sanjiao CBM Project
amounted to approximately HK$7 million (2017: HK$9
million); and

(i)  The total finance expenses capitalised during the year was
approximately HK$5 million (2017: HK$6 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group incurred
around HK$7 million (2017: HK$11 million) drilling costs for the
farm-in project in Canada as disclosed in note 17 to the financial
statements.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2018, the net assets of the Group were
approximately HK$3,009,000,000 (31 December 2017:
HK$3,164,000,000) while its total assets were approximately
HK$4,963,000,000 (31 December 2017: HK$5,410,000,000).
As at 31 December 2018, the Group had external borrowings
including the liability component of convertible notes of
approximately HK$1,595,000,000 (31 December 2017:
HK$1,772,000,000), and the gearing ratio based on total assets
was approximately 32.14% (31 December 2017: 32.75%). By the
end of December 2018, the current ratio was approximately 0.35
(31 December 2017: 0.75). Information on the Group’s collateral
assets and repayment of the Group’s borrowings is set out in
notes 32 and 33 to the financial statements.

During the year, the Company has redeemed convertible notes
with an aggregate principal amount of HK$296,000,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In March 2018, the Company issued a total of 3,380,000,000
new shares (which represents 338,000,000 shares after the share
consolidation*) to an independent investor. The net proceeds
from the subscription of approximately HK$178,000,000, of which
approximately 95% has been used for partial settlement of the
principal and interest of certain convertible notes of the Company
and outstanding loans of the Group; and the remaining balance
has been used as working capital of the Group.

In July 2018, the Company issued 3,980,000,000 shares (which
represents 398,000,000 shares after the share consolidation®) to
each of the two independent investors respectively, with a total
of 7,960,000,000 new shares (which represents 796,000,000
shares after the share consolidation®). The net proceeds from
the respective subscription were HK$ 142,780,000 and HK$
118,900,000, of which approximately 93% has been used
for partial settlement of the principal and interest of certain
convertible notes of the Company and the outstanding loans of
the Group; and the remaining balance has been used as working
capital of the Group.

In October 2018, the Company issued a total of 557,560,000
new shares to two independent investors. The net proceeds
from the subscription of approximately HK$93,170,000, of which
approximately 95% is used for the repayment of the interest of
certain convertible notes of the Company and outstanding loans
of the Group, and the remaining balance has been used as
working capital of the Group.

During the year, the Company has introduced quality
shareholders so as to raise capital and optimize shareholding
structure. The cash flow situation of the Company has been
improved. After settling certain financial obligations, the Group’s
short-term liabilities have been reduced. In addition, the operation
of the Sanjiao CBM Project has entered into development stage
and brought operating cash flow to the Group. As a result, the
Company’s position of assets and liabilities has been improved
accordingly.
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Having considered the issue of the Group’s net current liabilities
as at 31 December 2018, among which the convertible note with
a principal amount of HK$1,014 million to fall due in September
2019, is posing a relatively great financial pressure to the Group.
At present, in addition to the financial support provided by the
three shareholders and directors to the Group, the Company is
also actively considering settling the convertible note by way of,
including but not limited to, (i) exploring the possibilities with the
convertible note holder and/or certain potential investors to have
full or partial conversion of the convertible note; (ii) exploring the
possibilities with the convertible note holder to amend terms of
the convertible note so as to extend its maturity; (iii) discussing
with existing shareholders who may consider acquiring the
convertible note from the convertible note holder and having full/
partial conversion of the convertible note; and/or advance to the
Company; and/or (iv) approaching different financial institutions
for medium to long term debt and/or equity financing.

Though there is no concrete timeline for materializing the above
plans yet, the Company is of the view that the growth of the
coalbed methane operation in Shanxi and the existing net asset
value of the Group, are positive factors to the potential investors
and financiers. Having taken into account the available financial
resources of the Group and the above measures, the directors
of the Company, including the audit committee, share the view
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due in foreseeable future, and accordingly, the going concern
issue will be resolved.

With the approval by the shareholders of the Company at the
Special General Meeting held on 8 August 2018, every ten issued
and unissued existing shares of par value of HK$0.01 each in the
share capital of the Company be consolidated into one consolidated
share of par value of HK$0.10 each. For details, please refer to the
circular issued by the Company on 19 July 2018.

Foreign Exchange Fluctuations

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales and
purchase transactions and recognized liabilities and assets that
are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency
of the operations to which they relate. As at 31 December 2018,
no related hedges were made by the Group. In respect to trade
and other receivables and payables held in currencies other than
the functional currency of the operations to which they relate,
the Group ensures that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable
level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates where
necessary to address short-term imbalances.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2018, the Group employed approximately 332
employees. The remuneration policy of the Group is based on the
prevailing remuneration level in the market and the performance
of respective companies and individual employees.

Environmental Protection

The Group is responsible for its impact to the environmental
arising from its business operations. During the year, the Group
strictly complied with the local environmental regulation of
the PRC. Details are disclosed in the Environmental, Social,
Governance Report 2018 to be issued by the Company pursuant
to the Listing Rules.

PROSPECTS

In 2018, China’s natural gas market flourished and consumption
continued to grow rapidly. According to the preliminary
accounting of the National Bureau of Statistics, natural gas
consumption increased by 17.7% in 2018. The 2019 Global
Energy Market Outlook released by the International Energy
Agency in February 2019 is expected that China will surpass
Japan to become the largest importer of LNG in 2019, and by
2040, its net imports will be close to the level of European Union.
The increase of natural gas demand in China is expected in the
future, and the entire natural gas industry will be in a prime time
of development.

Unconventional natural gas is an essential component to achieve
the goal of matching China’s natural gas consumption growth
prospects. As one type of the unconventional natural gas, CBM
has become an important carrier to promote energy production
and consumption revolution. With the realization of the scale of
CBM development, the economics benefits of CBM exploitation
will become increasingly apparent. In 2018, the General Office of
the People’s Government of Shanxi Province issued and actively
implemented the “Implementation Plan for Deepening the CBM
(Natural Gas) System Reform in Shanxi Province” to accelerate
the development of the CBM industry as a pillar industry in the
diversified industrial system of Shanxi Province. Against the
backdrop of the rapid development of natural gas industry with
state support, a favorable business environment for the CBM
industry growth has been created. The Group believes that the
Sanjiao CBM Project will have steady development with increasing
competitiveness. Its profitability will hence be further enhanced.
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Looking ahead, on the one hand the Group will make its
greatest effort to ease the financial burden of the short term
funding as soon as possible, and on the other hand the Group
will allocate its resources to push forward the development
of the Sanjiao CBM Project. We will formulate a clear plan to
increase productivity to support a steady growth, so as to lay
a solid foundation for the expansion of the Group’s business
presence and sustain a long-term and healthy development.
Riding on this foundation, the Group will assess the possibility
of diversified business development in a prudent and pragmatic
manner, and hope to enhance the sustainability and stability of
the business portfolio returns, diversified business risk, maintain
long-term growth momentum, and generate substantial returns
for shareholders.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. Dai Xiaobing, aged 51, was appointed as Executive Director
of the Company in May 2010 and Chairman of the Board of the
Company in September 2011. Dr. Dai is in charge of the overall
affairs of the Group. He is also responsible for the Group’s
human resources management (including human resources
planning, personnel deployment, remuneration scheme and staff
training), capital operation (including financing, investment and
merger and acquisition of projects) and technology management
(including introduction and application of technology), etc. Dr.
Dai was awarded a PhD in Econometrics by the School of
Economics, Jilin University, the PRC. Dr. Dai is experienced in
the corporate finance sector as well as merger and acquisitions
and corporate restructuring of companies in the PRC. He is also
familiar with the capital market in the PRC. Dr. Dai had been one
of the co-founder of China Securities Journal organized by Xinhua
News Agency and was a journalist, department head and deputy
general manager of the agency, through which he has extensive
experience in government public relations and investor relations.
He was also an independent director of Jiangxi Ganneng Co.,
Ltd. (TFAZERE B BR A A)), a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange.

Mr. King Hap Lee, aged 56, was appointed as Chief Executive
Officer of the Company in November 2010 and Executive Director
of the Company in September 2011. Currently, Mr. King serves
as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer (and Deputy
Chairman of the Board). Mr. King is responsible for the Group’s
strategic planning, operation planning, external relationship
and organizational management (including rules and systems,
organizational structure and corporate culture). Mr. King holds a
bachelor degree of engineering and a master degree of business
administration from Xian Jiaotong University and Guanghua
School of Management of Peking University respectively.
He worked for various central government departments and
state-owned enterprises for a considerable period of time and has
extensive experience in government organizations and enterprises
management. He was the deputy director and chairman of
Workers Union of Mechanic and Electronic Products Importation
and Exportation Office of the State Council, the deputy general
manager of Bl T 2 M35 RYII&E 27 (China Machinery
Industry Marketing & Supply Shenzhen Group Corporation*) and
managing director of F&EHE /AT (China National Machinery
Hong Kong Company?*).
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Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence, aged 54, was appointed as
Executive Director of the Company in March 2009. He is also the
chief financial officer of the Company. Mr. Wan is responsible for
the Group’s financial management (including investment budget,
allocation of funding, control on sales as well as inspection
and audit of financial matters), legal matters (including tracking
on legal matters, risk control and compliance monitoring) and
internal affairs of the headquarter of the Group. Mr. Wan holds a
bachelor degree of commerce and a master degree of business
administration. He has years of experience in accounting and
financial management and has worked for international accounting
firms and listed companies in Hong Kong. He is a fellow member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
Certified Practising Accountant of CPA Australia. He is also an
independent non-executive director of China Primary Energy
Holdings Limited and Eagle Legend Asia Limited, both of which
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Chen Hua, aged 583, was appointed as Non-executive
Director of the Company in June 2014. Mr. Chen holds a bachelor
degree and founded the Kingkey Group Limited (“Kingkey Group”)
in 1994. He is the founder, chairman and chief executive officer
of Kingkey Group. Kingkey Group is a Chinese well-known brand
with an integrated business comprising property development,
hotel, property management, financial investment, golf club and
beverage operations. Kingkey Group has invested and developed
total construction area of over 5 million square metres and its
constructions have been awarded various prizes by different
cities, provinces and the state. It is one of the Top 50 Property
Enterprises in China and renowned in the property sector across
the nation. Kingkey Group took four years to complete the
‘KK100” Complex which has become the landmark of Shenzhen
and one of the tallest complex building in the world. Mr. Chen
also actively involves in various community charities and has
accumulated hundreds of millions RMB charitable donations over
the years.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

Mr. Huang Shaowu, aged 48, was appointed as Non-executive
Director of the Company in June 2014. Mr. Huang was the main
founder for Shenzhen Aisidi Co., Ltd. (“Aisidi”) (shares of which
are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) in 1998 and it is
the “Fortune” 500 enterprises in China. Mr. Huang is currently
a director of Aisidi, the chairman of Shenzhen Sinomaster
Investment Group Co., Ltd. (YTt N@EEEEEER A
a], “SMT”) which is the controlling shareholder of Aisidi, the
chairman and general manager of ZIIHEIREREER AR A
7] which is major shareholder of Aisidi. SMT is a large investment
conglomerate with investments in mobile internet and related
businesses, energy, optical communication, ecological agriculture,
supply chain and real estate businesses.

Mr. He Lin Feng, aged 49, was appointed as Non-executive
Director of the Company in August 2014 and has tendered his
resignation with effect from 30 March 2019. Mr. He holds a
bachelor degree in Economics from Renmin University of China.
Mr. He has been an executive director of 28 & IEEHE AR A A
since 2006. He was a director of FK/EMEEKEBR AR from
1996 to 2005 and the business manager of ¥/&M/EF & QA
from 1991 to 1995. Mr. He has extensive experience in financial
management and project investment businesses.

Ms. Chai Lin, aged 34, was appointed as Non-executive Director
of the Company in April 2018. Ms. Chai has been the general
manager of the investment management department of China
Huarong International Holdings Limited (“China Huarong”) since
August 2017. Crescent Spring Investment Holdings Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of China Huarong, is a holder of
the Company’s convertible bonds in the principal amount of
US$130,000,000. She served as the deputy general manager at
a subsidiary of China Huarong in Shenzhen from November 2016
to August 2017 and the general manager of the Southern China
Wealth Management Centre of China Industrial International Trust
Limited from September 2013 to September 2016. Ms. Chai
obtained a bachelor’'s degree in accounting and a master’s
degree in business administration from Sun Yat-sen University in
July 2007 and December 2016 respectively. Ms. Chai has been
a non-executive director of Beautiful China Holdings Company
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (stock code: 706), since April 2018.
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Independent Non-executive Director

Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick, BBS, JP, aged 71, was
appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company in August 2010. Professor Wong is a Certified Public
Accountant (Practising) in Hong Kong and Managing Practicing
Director of Patrick Wong CPA Limited. He is also a Chartered
Secretary and a Certified Tax Advisor. He has over 40 years’
experience in the accountancy profession. Professor Wong was
accorded Doctor of Philosophy in Business, was awarded a
Badge of Honour by the Queen of England, was appointed a
Justice of the Peace and was awarded a Bronze Bauhinia Star
(BBS) by the Hong Kong Government of SAR. He was appointed
Adjunct Professor, School of Accounting and Finance, The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University from 2002 to 2013. Professor Wong
is currently an independent non-executive director of Galaxy
Entertainment Group Limited, CC Land Holdings Limited, Water
Qasis Group Limited, Winox Holdings Limited, Li Bao Ge Group
Limited and BAIC Motor Corporation Limited and he resigned
as independent non-executive director of Munsun Capital Group
Limited (formerly known as China Precious Metal Resources
Holdings Co., Ltd.), Guangzhou Baiyunshan Pharmaceutical
Holdings Company Limited, Real Nutriceutical Group Limited
and National Arts Entertainment and Culture Group Limited on 3
October 2016, 23 June 2017, 12 October 2017 and 1 January
2019 respectively, all of which are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

Dr. Wang Yanbin, aged 62, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in September 2011.
Dr. Wang is a professor and tutor for doctoral candidates of
China University of Mining & Technology (Beijing), and head
of the Scientific Research Office of China University of Mining
& Technology (Beijing). Dr. Wang holds a bachelor degree in
coalfield geology from the faculty of geology of Huainan Mining
Institute in China. He also holds a master degree in coal petrology
and coalfield geology and a doctor degree in coalfield, oil and
gas geology and organic geochemistry from China University of
Mining & Technology (Beijing). Prior to 1993, Dr. Wang mainly
engaged in teaching and scientific research on coalfield geology
and coalbed methane geology. Since 1993, he has focused on
geological research on coalfield geology, oil, natural gas and
coalbed methane. He has led the development of a project
for the National Natural Science Foundation of China, and few
scientific projects for China National Petroleum Corporation and
China Petrochemical Corporation. Dr. Wang has also participated
in more than 30 scientific projects in cooperation with various oil
fields and Mining Bureaus nationwide. He was granted the State
Scientific and Technological Progress Award for several times and
has published 3 books and more than 70 academic papers.

Dr. Dang Weihua, aged 53, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in July 2013. Dr. Dang
currently works for 1t RBE(RE)EZMEHFT as a lawyer. Prior
to this, he served as the General Manager of Shenzhen Branch of
Changjiang Securities Company Limited (“Changjiang Securities”)
and the Chief Representative of Shenzhen Representative Office
of Changjiang Securities, Deputy General Manager of Asset
Preservation Department and Legal & Compliance Department
of Changjiang Securities. Dr. Dang had worked in Changjiang
Securities (formerly known as Hubei Securities Company Limited)
for 23 years and served in different departments and positions.
He has extensive experience in securities industry. Dr. Dang
holds a master degree of business administration at Zhongnan
University of Economics and Law. He was awarded a PhD in
Econometrics by the School of Economics, Jilin University. Dr.
Dang holds Chinese lawyer qualification as well as securities
practice qualification.
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Senior Management

Ms. Yim Siu Hung was appointed as the Company Secretary
of the Company in December 2011 mainly responsible for the
Group’s legal compliance work. Ms. Yim has joined the Company
since August 2005 and holds a bachelor degree in law from
Nottingham Trent University, UK and a bachelor degree in
accountancy from City University of Hong Kong. She is a fellow
member of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.
She has years of extensive experience in the company secretarial
sector and has worked for international accounting and law firms
and listed companies in Hong Kong.

Dr. Rao Mengyu has been working for Orion Energy International
Inc. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company since November
2010) since December 2007 and now serves as the Chief
Geologist of the Group, mainly responsible for geology research
and exploration work of the Company’s Sanjiao coalbed
methane project. Dr. Rao graduated from the Department of
Geology of Anhui University of Science & Technology. In 2005,
Dr. Rao was awarded a PhD in Geology by the China University
of Petroleum (East China). He was engaged in research work
for the oil and gas geology fundamental theories and coalbed
methane (“CBM”) development technology in the post-doctoral
station of the College of Petroleum and Natural Gas Engineering,
China University of Petroleum (Beijing). He has over 20 years of
experience in the industry and has years of experience in onsite
work and indoor scientific research in respect of CBM projects.
Dr. Rao has published 24 research papers in the journals such as
Acta Petrolei Sinica, and also is one of the principal participants
in the scientific research achievement of “Research, development
and application of CBM multi-lateral horizontal well”. Such
achievement was awarded the second prize of science and
technology advancement in 2009 by the China National Coal
Association.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

Mr. Mei Ximin joined the Company in September 2015. Mr. Mei
currently serves as Executive Vice President of the Group and
Chief Supervisor of Orion Energy International Inc., responsible for
the Company’s coordination in relation to the government’s public
affairs and assisting in the production and operation of Orion
Energy International Inc. Mr. Mei obtained a bachelor degree
in economics from Jilin University in 1983. He was granted the
professional title of senior economist in 1995. Before joining the
Company, Mr. Mei had served as the Director of the Bureau of
Commodity Prices of Jilin Province and senior executive of & #k
ElEt 5= /A 5], He had served as vice president of a Hong Kong
listed company since 2008.

Mr. Dai Zhonggang joined the Company in April 2015.
Currently, Mr. Dai serves as Vice President of the Group and
General Manager of Orion Energy International Inc. Mr. Dai is
responsible for the production and operation management of the
Sanjiao coalbed methane project and the overall deployment of
the project’s large scale development. Mr. Dai holds a bachelor
degree in business administration from Jiangxi University of
Finance and Economics. Mr. Dai had served as chairman
and general manager of a mining company owned by a listed
company and has accumulated extensive related management
experience.

Mr. Zhou Suolin joined the Company in 2007 and now serves
as Deputy General Manager of Orion Energy International Inc.
(“Orion”), responsible for the financial management of Orion.
Mr. Zhou graduated from Changchun College of Geology
majoring in Geology and holds a college degree in statistics,
and obtained his master degree in accounting from Business
School of Jilin University. Mr. Zhou was once Head of the
Accounting and Finance Division of Jilin Petroleum Survey
and Exploration Command Office of the Ministry of Geology
and Mineral Resources, Director of the Finance Department
of Northeast Petroleum Bureau of the Ministry of Geology and
Mineral Resources (Shihai Bureau) and Director of the Finance
Department of Northeast Petroleum Bureau of Sinopec Star
Petroleum Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhou has extensive financial management
experience in the oil and natural gas sectors.
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Ms. Zhou Xingyu, joined the Company in November 2017 as
Vice President of the Group, mainly responsible for financing
and business mergers and acquisitions of the Company in
Hong Kong and China. Ms. Zhou is a university graduate and
holds a master degree in economics from Central China Normal
University. Ms. Zhou has extensive experience in financing and
mergers and acquisitions. Ms. Zhou had been the president
of the second sub-branch of Kunming Branch of Guangdong
Development Bank. She was later employed by Kunming
Branch of China Minsheng Bank and worked as the general
manager of the institutional customer department, responsible
for inter-bank business with various respective departments of
Yunnan Provincial Government. Thereafter, Ms. Zhou served
as the chairman of EMEAREERERET AT where she
coordinated and set up business cooperation with various banks
and established good cooperative relationships.

Mr. Tan Xin joined the Company in February 2015 as Vice
President of the Group, mainly responsible for financing and
business mergers and acquisitions of the Company. Mr. Tan
graduated from the Department of World Economy of Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics majoring in international
finance, and obtained his master degree from Nankai University in
Tianjin. He has extensive experience in international finance and
investment banking. Mr. Tan once worked in China Construction
Bank, Shenzhen Branch, and acted as cadre at sub-section level
and economist in the Foreign Exchange Department of China
Construction Bank and General Department of China Investment
Bank. Thereafter, he served as the deputy general manager of
FEEREBFRE S A A], the general manager of China Affairs
Department of BEEEEKRESRABR AT and the general
manager of FIITTERREILEERBRA A

*

For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is committed to maintain
and develop high standards of corporate governance practices
for the purpose of providing a framework and solid foundation
for its business operation and development. Effective corporate
governance provides probity, transparency, accountability which
contributes to the corporate success and enhancement of
shareholder value.

The Company complied with all the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2018.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY

DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code (the “Model Code”)
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code
of conduct and rules governing dealing by all directors in the
securities of the Company.

All the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard regarding directors’ securities dealings set out
in the Model Code during the year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2018, the Board comprises three executive
Directors, namely Dr. Dai Xiaobing (Chairman), Mr. King Hap
Lee (Chief Executive Officer) and Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence;
four Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen Hua, Mr. Huang
Shaowu, Mr. He Lin Feng (will resign on 30 March 2019) and
Ms. Chai Lin; and four Independent Non-executive Directors
(INEDs”), namely Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick, Dr. Wang
Yanbin, Dr. Dang Weihua and Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter
(resigned on 31 December 2018).
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The individual attendance records of each Director at the
meetings of the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and general meetings during
the year are set out below:

2018 {ERR AR R, BITHE R ARE

Number of meetings attended/held during term of

office in 2018

Annual Special
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General General
Board  Committee = Committee ~ Committee Meeting Meeting
EZE EBHZEE HNZEE REZEE RREEXE RRNAKE
Number of meetings held AEEMETEERY
during the year 9 4 1 2 1 4
Executive Directors BITESE
Dai Xiaobing (Chairman) §)&(2E) 9/9 - 17 2/2 17 3/4
King Hap Lee (Chief Executive Officer) 2R (TR EH) 8/9 - - - 0/1 0/4
Wan Tze Fan Terence BTE 9/9 - - - 17 4/4
Non-executive Directors EHITES
Chen Hua Rz 5/9 - - - 0/ 0/4
Huang Shaowu ERE 9/9 - - - 0/1 0/4
He Lin Feng s 7/9 - - - 0/1 0/4
Chai Lin (appointed on 1 April 2018) S (R2018F4 1B R AT) 3/6 - - - 0/1 0/4
Independent Non-executive BUEHTES
Director
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter BEZ2 (20185
(resigned on 31 December 2018) 12BN BEE) 9/9 4/4 17 2/2 17 3/4
Wong Lung Tak Patrick BEE 9/9 4/4 17 2/2 17 3/4
Wang Yanbin TER 79 4/4 - - 0/1 0/4
Dang Weihua g2 8/9 - = = 0/1 0/4
Notes : B2

1. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee 1. HZE2018F12A31ALFERN BEZELZEE
BEREEEHRE BB 2EE (R20185F
12A31HEHE) REERIF L - EEFEF -

MR2019F3F20RAZ T ARZEZEENE -

comprised Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick, Mr. Wong Kwok
Chuen Peter (resigned on 31 December 2018) and Dr. Wang
Yanbin. Dr. Dang Weihua was appointed as Audit Committee
member on 29 March 2019.

2. During the year ended 31 December 2018, Dr. Dai Xiaobing, 2. HZE2018F12A81BLFENRN  &H/NEF
T EE R %A (R2018F12 31 HEHE) -
REEEHARAFINEE G RREREESN
BX B o 201943 H20H - BEFEH L EE(E
REMEESNIREEEFHKE -

Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter (resigned on 31 December 2018)
and Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick were members of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Dr. Dang
Weihua was appointed as a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee on 29 March 2019.
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Apart from the fiduciary duty and statutory responsibility towards
the Company and the Group, the Board is responsible for the
management of the business and affairs of the Group with the
objective of enhancing the Company and shareholder value.
Key responsibilities include formulation of the Group’s overall
strategies, setting of corporate and management targets,
monitoring of operational and financial matters, approval of major
capital expenditures, material acquisitions and disposal of assets,
corporate or financial restructuring, material borrowings and any
issuing, or buying back, of equity securities. Responsibility for
delivering Company’s objectives and running the business on a
day-to-day basis is delegated to divisional management who have
been given clear guidelines and directions as to their authority.
The Board also delegates certain specific responsibilities to three
committees (Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee). The composition and functions of each
committee are described below.

The Board includes at least three INEDs which is in compliance
with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules. Professor Wong Lung Tak
Patrick has appropriate qualifications and accounting related
financial expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules. Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter resigned as an INED
with effect from 31 December 2018. Upon the resignation of
Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter, the Company had yet to meet the
requirement of having INEDs representing at least one-third of the
Board under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company was
required to comply with aforesaid Listing Rule within three months
from 31 December 2018 pursuant to Rules 3.11 of the Listing
Rules. As such, Mr. He Lin Feng will resign as Non-executive
Director with effect from 30 March 2019 so that the composition
of the Board will be in compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. All the
INEDs are independent under these independence criteria, and
with their wide range of skills and experience to the Group, they
are capable to effectively exercise independent judgment on
issues of strategy, performance, risk and people through their
contribution at Board and committee meetings.

There is no financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationship between the Directors.
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The Board has extensive corporate and strategic planning and
industry experience for discharging their duties as Directors in
the best interest of the Company and that the current board
size is adequate for its present operations. Each of the Directors
keeps abreast of his responsibilities as a Director of the Company
and of the conduct, business activities and development of the
Company.

On appointment to the Board, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package covering the general, statutory
and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that he
is sufficiently aware of his responsibilities under the Listing Rules
and other relevant regulatory requirements. All Directors and
senior management are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Directors are regularly briefed on the business
operations and policies of the Company and from time to time
provided with written training materials to develop and refresh
their professional skills.

All the Directors, namely Dr. Dai Xiaobing, Mr. King Hap Lee, and
Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence, Mr. Chen Hua, Mr. Huang Shaowu,
Mr. He Lin Feng (will resign on 30 March 2019), Ms. Chai
Lin, Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick, Dr. Wang Yanbin, Dr.
Dang Weihua and Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter (resigned on
31 December 2018) participated in continuous professional
development by reading materials and attending seminars on
corporate governance, regulatory development and other relevant
topics with an emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a
director of a listed company in compliance with the CG Code
during the year.

The Company updates the Directors from time to time with
development in the laws and regulations relevant to their role as
director of the Company. Directors are also encouraged to update
their skills, knowledge and familiarity with the Group through
initial induction, ongoing participation at Board and committee
meetings.
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The Company’s senior management regularly supplies the Board
and its committees with adequate information in a timely manner
to enable them to make informed decisions. Monthly updates
as required in C.1.2 of the CG Code are provided by the senior
management to all Directors to enable them to be apprised of the
circumstances of the Company and to discharge their duties. All
Directors have access to Board papers and related materials that
will assist them for decision making. Any Director, wishing to do
so in the furtherance of his duties, may take professional advice
at the Company’s expense as arranged by the Company.

The biographical details of the Directors are listed in the section of
“Directors and Senior Management Profiles” in this annual report
and the INEDs are expressly identified in all of the Company’s
publication such as circular, announcement or relevant corporate
communications in which the names of Directors of the Company
are disclosed. The Company maintains on its website and on the
Stock Exchange’s website a list of its directors with their role and
function.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE
The Company continues to subscribe for an insurance policy to
indemnify the Directors and senior executives of the Group from
any losses, claims, damages, liabilities and expenses, including
without limitation, any proceedings brought against them,
arising from the performance of their duties pursuant to their
appointment under their respective service agreements entered
into with the Company. The current policy shall be under constant
review to ensure that the insurance cover is appropriate.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are segregated
and performed by two separate individuals, Dr. Dai Xiaobing and
Mr. King Hap Lee respectively, to ensure a balance of power
and authority. Dr. Dai Xiaobing as the Chairman of the Company
provides leadership to the Board and ensures that the Board
discharges its responsibilities effectively and the Directors receive
complete, accurate and timely information and are properly
briefed on issues arising at Board meetings. He also holds
annually meeting with the non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors) without the presence of
other executive directors. Dr. Dai Xiaobing is in charge of the
overall affairs of the Group. He is also responsible for the Group’s
human resources management (including human resources
planning, personnel deployment, remuneration scheme and staff
training), capital operation (including financing, investment and
merger and acquisition of projects) and technology management
(including introduction and application of technology). The
Chief Executive Officer, Mr. King Hap Lee, is responsible for
the Group’s strategic planning, operation planning, external
relationship and organizational management (including rules and
systems, organizational structure and corporate culture).

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of Mr. Chen Hua, Mr. Huang Shaowu, Mr. He Lin Feng (will
resign on 30 March 2019), Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick,
Dr. Wang Yanbin, Dr. Dang Weihua and Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen
Peter (resigned on 31 December 2018), being non-executive
Directors and INEDs of the Company, has/had entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term of two years.
Ms. Chai Lin, a non-executive Director of the Company, has
entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of
one year. In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, at each
AGM of the Company, one third (or the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) of the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election. As such, all the non-executive
Directors and INEDs are also regarded as appointed for a specific
term. Furthermore, the Company’s Bye-laws provide that any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the
Board or as an additional member of the Board shall hold office
only until the first general meeting of the Company and shall then
be eligible for re-election at such meeting.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees delegated with
various responsibilities, including Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. All the Board committees
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective
terms of reference which are available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange. The meetings and
proceedings of the committees are governed by the provisions
contained in the Bye-laws of the Company for regulating
the meetings and proceedings of Directors unless otherwise
stipulated in their respective terms of reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging its
responsibilities for financial reporting and corporate control.
During the year, the Committee comprised three INEDs, namely
Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter (resigned on 31 December 2018),
Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick and Dr. Wang Yanbin. The
Committee is chaired by Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick. Dr.
Dang Weihua, an INED, was appointed as a member of the Audit
Committee with effect from 29 March 2019.

Upon the resignation of Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter on
31 December 2018, the Company had yet to have an Audit
Committee comprising a minimum of three members required
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Company was required
to comply with aforesaid Listing Rule within three months from
31 December 2018 pursuant to Rule 3.23 of the Listing Rules. As
such, Dr. Dang Weihua, an INED, was appointed as a member of
the Audit Committee with effect from 29 March 2019 to comply
with the aforesaid Listing Rule.

Except for the above, the Company has complied with Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules which requires that the audit committee
must comprise non-executive directors only and must be chaired
by an INED, at least one of the audit committee member is an
INED who possesses appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise and the
majority of the audit committee are INEDs.

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2018

EFZEEE
EXgBETORY=-_BEZES  X&
BRE DHARERZES FHME
REZEQ -2HMEFZEEHRERZAN
BESERTERTORY mZxBERE
RARB A LBl B - RIE
EENBREESARTN ELZEGZE
ZLREFOZARANERAAUNME - LR
BEERgRNMEREF -

BEREESE
ENLZECREMPESZSERTVERER
CEERNET -FRN BERLZESRES
BB IEMITESE - BERE 2 & (FR20184F
12AMBEE)  BEEHIEETEREL -
HREHBREERZEEN IR - B IEH
NTEEEREBLEZIAEREZEEKE
B201943 29 A #E £/ -

RERZ2EEHIR AARERFTES
MAIFEI2IGERBERZESR LA
BHEMKMBEE - BIZE EWRAFE3.231K
B7BH2018F 12 A31H#E31E ANE ST Lt
EHRA AN BUFATEESERER
TEZAREZEZEEKE - B2019943H29
BfEM - NESF Bl ETAR A -

[l op

=)
2324
ZAN/N

Br Lt PASN - R ARIE BT £ AR RIE3.21
Rz RE BESRZEGALHHAIFERNTE
FHERARVERBIFNTESRETRE
RO -—HAKNEREAEEREXERNEH
HEAVBEELERBIIFATES kX
MOMEZZEGKERBIIFRTES -



None of the Audit Committee members are members of the
former or existing auditors of the Company. Four meetings of the
Audit Committee were held during the year. The Audit Committee
discharges its duties which include to review the completeness,
accuracy and fairness of the Company’s financial statements,
evaluating the Company’s auditing scope and procedures as well
as its risk management and internal control systems, to review
the interim and final financial statements before their submission
to the Board and the annual general meeting for approval, and
to make recommendation on the appointment of external auditor
and approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of
external auditor. The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient
resources, including independent access to and advice from
external auditors.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee which set out
the Audit Committee’s authority and duties are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company’s objective for its remuneration policy is to maintain
fair and competitive packages based on business requirements
and industry practice. During the year ended 31 December 2018,
the Remuneration Committee comprised three members including
one Executive Director and two INEDs, namely Dr. Dai Xiaobing,
Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter and Professor Wong Lung Tak
Patrick. Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter resigned, and Dr. Dang
Weihua was appointed, as a member of Remuneration Committee
with effect from 31 December 2018 and 29 March 2019
respectively. The committee is chaired by an INED, Professor
Wong Lung Tak Patrick. Except for the above, the Company has
complied with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules which requires that
the remuneration committee has a majority of the member being
INEDs and must be chaired by an INED during the year ended 31
December 2018 and for the period up to the date of publication
of this annual report.

With reference to business needs and company development,
individual performance and contribution, changes in relevant
markets and general economic situation, the Remuneration
Committee has adopted the model set out in B.1.2(c)(ii) of the
CG Code where the Committee reviews and recommends to the
Board on the Company’s policy and structure for remuneration of
the Directors and senior management. During the review process,
no individual director is involved in decisions relating to his own
remuneration.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee setting
out the Remuneration Committee’s authority and duties are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Nomination
Committee comprised one Executive Director and two INEDs,
namely Dr. Dai Xiaobing, Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick and
Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter. Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter
resigned, and Dr. Dang Weihua was appointed, as a member of
Nomination Committee with effect from 31 December 2018 and
29 March 2019 respectively. Dr. Dai Xiaobing acts as Chairman
of the Nomination Committee.

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which aims to
set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board to ensure
that the Board has the balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, knowledge
and skills. In identifying suitable candidates, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates with the objective criteria with
due regard of the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee bases on the aforesaid criteria when
making recommendations to the Board on the nomination and
appointment of directors, assesses the independence of INEDs,
review the structure, size and composition of the Board at
least annually and makes recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
made available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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The policy for the nomination of directors performed by the
Nomination Committee during the year ended 31 December 2018
is on the basis that the Nomination Committee is responsible
to make recommendations to the Board on the selection,
appointment and re-appointment of directors to ensure that
the Board have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The selection criteria used by the Nomination
Committee in assessing the suitability of a candidate include
character and integrity, professional qualifications, knowledge,
and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company. With regard to nomination procedures, any Board
member may nominate or invite a candidate for appointment as
Director to be considered by the Nomination Committee. The
Nomination Committee will then evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria set out above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship and then make recommendation for
consideration and approval by the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions within its terms of reference. Its duties include to
develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance; review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of directors and senior
management and the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; develop,
review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
(if any) applicable to employees and directors; and review the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report as required under Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

External Auditor

BDO Limited was re-appointed as external auditor of the
Company by shareholders at the 2018 Annual General Meeting
until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting.

During the year, the fees paid or payable to the external auditor
of the Company, BDO Limited were approximately HK$1,700,000
and HK$100,000 for audit service and non-audit service rendered
(excluding disbursement fees) to the Group respectively. The
reporting responsibilities of BDO Limited are stated in the
Independent Auditor’s Report contained in this Annual Report.

Financial Reporting

The Group had net current liabilities of HK$951,994,000 as at 31
December 2018. As at that date, the Group had total borrowings
of HK$477,123,000, trade, other payables and accruals of
HK$331,682,000 and convertible note with principal amount
and interests of HK$1,237,265,000. Out of which borrowings
of HK$16,956,000, trade and other payables and accruals of
HK$331,682,000 and convertible note with principal amount
and interests of HK$1,237,265,000 would be due for repayment
within twelve months from the date of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with the repayment dates of the
respective agreements, while the Group maintained its cash and
cash equivalents of HK$36,949,000.

The Auditor is of the opinion that the above financial status
indicates the existence of a material uncertainty which may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. As such, a cash flow forecast of the Group
has been prepared by the directors on the major assumption
that three major shareholders and directors would be able
to provide continuing and sufficient support to the Group to
meet its financial obligations. Please refer to Note 3(b)(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements. Since the Auditor was unable
to verify the financial position of the three aforementioned major
shareholders and directors so as to assess whether they have
sufficient financial capability to provide their aforementioned
financial support to the Group. Accordingly, the Auditor was
unable to be satisfied regarding the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern and to conclude on the appropriateness of the
director’s use of going concern basis of accounting in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Please also refer to the
Independent Auditor’s Report set out on page 62 to page 65 of
this annual report.
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In addition to the aforementioned financial support to the Group
by major shareholders and directors, the Company also considers
settling the aforementioned convertible note and/or the current
liabilities to be due in the next twelve months of 31 December
2018 by way of, including but not limited to, (i) exploring the
possibilities with the convertible note holder and/or existing
major shareholders and/or certain potential investors to have
full or partial conversion of the convertible note; (i) exploring the
possibilities with the convertible note holder to amend terms
of the convertible note so as to extend its maturity; and/or (iii)
approaching different financial institutions for medium to long term
debt and/or equity financing. Accordingly, the directors consider
the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its operating
and financing needs as and when they fall due within the twelve
months from 31 December 2018. The directors are satisfied that
it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis.

The Board is accountable for proper stewardship of the
Company’s affairs, and is responsible for ensuring that the
Group keeps fair and accurate accounting records which
disclose its financial position. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibility to prepare the financial statements of the
Group in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. This responsibility extends to both interim
and annual reports.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish, maintain
and review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems to ensure that shareholders’
investments and the Group’s assets are safeguarded. The
Group’s systems of risk management and internal control include
the setting up of a management structure with limits of authority
and are designed to help the Group to identify and manage the
significant risks amid achieving its business objectives, protect
its assets against unauthorized use or disposition, ensure the
maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of
financial information for internal use or for publication and ensure
compliance with relevant laws and regulations. The systems are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than
eliminate the risks of failure to achieve the Group’s business
objectives.

®ERE

of

BE

BREAFEREREESHAEENTH
Gh o RRARMEBN (BEEDTRER) UL TA
AER LA AT AR R B & 2018512 431
HEI12E AR BHEEN TS EE: ()R]
BREBEFAEAR RBEEZTERER X
AETECREERITEREH X AT RR
RBRZAREME (NETBRREERE AR
BRI BB EEERUEREEISA 2/ 8
MR EGNA TR mEEETRFRER
HBBHR/ IRARE At EEREA
AEEBEKAEENEEE BN R2018F12
AR TZEARNIHANEE TS
B EECMERPFELCEEERYURAYT
WMERBRE -

EEFfATEEHERARAER LA
ERARAEERTREEMBGIMRAFNR
FREENGATH EFNAEL  REDH
BEEERBEAEELER ST EUREN
SENMBHRER EFNAAERET YR
ERFHEOEL

[ B E E 0 Py B Ex 4
EEeRBREAREERY  #FMBIAE
B EERARMEERSEOG R AR
REREERAEHEERIRE - N&EH
RREERABEERREERAETEERE
NE#ER SEBPHAEEBNREEER
XBEBRMEHZERRAR REEERR
AEEENALEE  #EZE 25 LH
NP B EREAIERRIEERZ AN
RERETHBEIERD - BB RGE &
REM (BEXFREM) RELBEENKRER
MHBR WEEMFMHBAREAREER
XBERZRAR -

2018 F 8 | FEBERERERXA




42

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

During the year, the nature of the Group’s operation remained
unchanged comparing with that of last year. In order to maintain
effective and efficient risk management and internal control
systems, the Group performs review for the risk management and
internal control systems systematically on a regular basis which
covers financial, operational, and compliance controls.

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee reviews at least
annually results of the internal audit work performed by the
Group’s internal audit function covering the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
regarding financial management and reporting, the effectiveness
and efficiency of operations and compliance with laws and
regulations. Where areas for improvement in respect of the design
and implementation of risk management and internal control
systems are identified, actions will be taken as recommended to
refine the systems. Significant internal control issues are reported
to the Audit Committee and the Board on a timely basis to ensure
prompt and appropriate actions are taken. During the vyear,
no significant control failures or weaknesses have been noted.
The Board considers that these systems of risk management
and internal control are effective and sufficient to guarantee
the Group in achieving its business objectives and there are
adequate resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes in respect of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions.

The Company strictly complies with the requirements of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) and the Listing Rules,
particularly, in the disclosure of inside information and financial
reporting. The Company discloses inside information to the public
as soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls
within any of the safe harbours as set out in the SFO. Before the
information is fully disclosed to the public, the Company ensures
the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Company
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be
maintained or confidentiality may not be preserved, the Company
would immediately disclose the information to the public. The
Company is committed to ensure that information contained in
announcements or circulars are not false or misleading as to a
material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of a
material fact. The Company discloses its information in an open,
fair and just manner by disseminating information to the public
through publication of corporate information on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company, Ms. Yim Siu Hung,
is a full-time employee of the Company and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Directors have access
to the advice and services of the Company Secretary regarding
board procedures, and relevant laws, rules and regulations. For
the year ended 31 December 2018, Ms. Yim has complied with
paragraph 3.29 of the Listing Rules by taking no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(the “Act”) and Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws of the Company,
shareholders holding in aggregate not less than 10% of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary of the
Company, to request a special general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition, and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If the directors do not within
twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed to convene such meeting, any of the requisitionists
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves convene a meeting to be held within three
months from the said date.

Any number of shareholders representing not less than 5% of the
total voting rights of the Company at the date of the requisition
or not less than 100 shareholders of the Company are entitled
to put forward a proposal for consideration at a general meeting
of the Company. Shareholders should follow the requirements
and procedures as set out in Section 79 of the Act for putting
forward such proposal at a general meeting. The procedures for
shareholders to propose a person for election as a director are
made available on our website as required by the Listing Rules.
The requisition of the proposals made by shareholders may be
addressed to the Company Secretary at the Company’s head
office and principal place of business in Hong Kong.
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Annual general meetings and special general meetings provide
a useful forum for shareholders to share views with the Board.
Members of the Board (also including members of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees) attend shareholders’
meetings and make themselves available to answer shareholders’
questions. Enquiries of shareholders may also be put to the
Board by contacting the Company Secretary by phone or email,
as stated in our website, www.sino-oilgas.hk.

COMMUNICATION WITH INVESTORS

The Board recognizes the importance of good communication
with shareholders as well as investors. During the year, analysts’
conferences were held regarding the Group’s operational and
financial performances. Information in relation to the Group is
disseminated to shareholders and investors in a timely manner
through a number of channels include interim and annual reports,
announcements, circulars and press releases. Electronic copies
of these documents and general information of the Group’s
operation can be obtained through the Company’s website.
Throughout 2018, the Company also avails itself of opportunities
to communicate and explain its strategies to shareholders and
the investor community, through regular meetings with financial
analysts, fund managers and potential investors. The Company
will continue to promote and enhance investor relations and
communication with its investors. During the year ended
31 December 2018, updated consolidated versions of the
Company’s Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws reflecting
the increases in the authorised share capital of the Company to
HK$500,000,000 divided into 50,000,000,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each on 22 June 2018 and to HK$1,000,000,000
divided into 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each on 9
August 2018 respectively were published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The directors submit their annual report together with the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018, which
are set out on pages 66 to 232.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in (i) exploration, development and
production of coalbed methane, (ii) raw coal washing and sale of
raw and cleaned coal, (iii) exploitation and sale of crude oil and
natural gas and (iv) provision for financial services in China.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018 is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 12 to 21 of this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 39
to the financial statements.

DIVIDENDS AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to its
shareholders to be our goal. In deciding whether to propose
a dividend and its amount, the Board takes into account the
Group’s earnings performance, financial and cash flow position,
investment requirements, future prospects and other factors
which the Board deems relevant. The Company will continue
to review the dividend policy from time to time and there is no
assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period. The payment of dividend is also subject to the
requirements of Bermuda laws and the Company’s Memorandum
of Association and Bye-laws.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the financial
statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

The authorised share capital of the Company was increased
from HK$400,000,000 divided into 40,000,000,000 shares of
HK$0.01 each to HK$500,000,000 divided into 50,000,000,000
shares of HK$0.01 each by an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 22 June 2018.

Following the passing of relevant ordinary resolutions by the
shareholders at the special general meeting of the Company held
on 8 August 2018, effective from 9 August 2018, () every ten
shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company were consolidated into
one share of HK$0.10 each, (i) the authorised share capital of
the Company was increased from HK$500,000,000 divided into
5,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each to HK$1,000,000,000
divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each and (iii) the
board lot size of the shares for trading on the Stock Exchange
was changed from 5,000 shares of HK$0.01 each to 10,000
shares of HK$0.10 each.

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 37 to the financial statements.

ISSUE OF SHARES UNDER GENERAL

MANDATE

On 26 January 2018, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with Mr. Zhang Yongdong who was third party
independent of the Company and the connected persons of
the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules), under which
the Company allotted and issued to the subscriber a total of
3,380,000,000 shares of the Company with the aggregate
nominal value of HK$33,800,000 at a price of HK$0.053 per
share. The closing market price of the Company’s shares was
HK$0.066 per share on 26 January 2018, being the date on
which the terms of the issue were fixed. The net proceeds from
the subscription was fully utilized as intended as to approximately
95% has been used for partial settlement of the principal
and interest of certain convertible notes of the Company and
outstanding loans of the Group; and the remaining balance has
been used as working capital of the Group. The net subscription
price was about HK$0.0527 per share. Further details of the
aforesaid issue of shares are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 26 January 2018 and note 37(a)() to the financial
statements.
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On 21 June 2018, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with Ms. Wong Ka Wai Vivian who was third party
independent of the Company and the connected persons of
the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules), under which
the Company allotted and issued to the subscriber a total of
3,980,000,000 shares of the Company with the aggregate
nominal value of HK$39,800,000 at a price of HK$0.036 per
share. The closing market price of the Company’s shares was
HK$0.036 per share on 21 June 2018, being the date on which
the terms of the issue were fixed. The net proceeds from the
subscription was fully utilized as intended as to approximately
93% has been used for partial settlement of the principal and
interest of certain convertible notes of the Company and the
outstanding loans of the Group; and the remaining balance has
been used as working capital of the Group. The net subscription
price was about HK$0.0359 per share. Further details of the
aforesaid issue of shares are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 21 June 2018 and note 37(a)(i) to the financial
statements.

On 27 June 2018, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with Mr. Lai Chun Lam who was third party
independent of the Company and the connected persons of
the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules), under which
the Company allotted and issued to the subscriber a total of
3,980,000,000 shares of the Company with the aggregate
nominal value of HK$39,800,000 at a price of HK$0.03 per share.
The closing market price of the Company’s shares was HK$0.035
per share on 27 June 2018, being the date on which the terms
of the issue were fixed. The net proceeds from the subscription
was fully utilized as intended as to approximately 93% has been
used for partial settlement of the principal and interest of certain
convertible notes of the Company and the outstanding loans of
the Group; and the remaining balance has been used as working
capital of the Group. The net subscription price was about
HK$0.0299 per share. Further details of the aforesaid issue of
shares are set out in the announcements of the Company dated
27 June 2018 and note 37(a)(i) to the financial statements.
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On 12 October 2018, the Company entered into the subscription
agreements with Mr. Wong Chun Chau and Mr. Zhuo Kun
who were third parties independent of the Company and the
connected persons of the Company (as defined in the Listing
Rules), under which the Company allotted and issued to the each
of the aforesaid subscribers 278,780,000 shares of the Company
with the aggregate nominal value of HK$55,756,000 at a price of
HK$0.168 per share. The closing market price of the Company’s
shares was HK$0.187 per share on 12 October 2018, being
the date on which the terms of the issue were fixed. The net
proceeds from the subscription was fully utilized as intended as
to approximately 95% is used for the repayment of the interest
of certain convertible notes of the Company and outstanding
loans of the Group, and the remaining balance has been used
as working capital of the Group. The net subscription price was
about HK$0.1671 per share. Further details of the aforesaid issue
of shares are set out in the announcement of the Company dated
12 October 2018 and note 37(a)(i) to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 37(c) to the financial
statements and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
respectively.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on pages 4 and 5.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales to the Group’s five largest customers
took up 72% and the largest customer accounted for 21% of
the Group’s revenue for the year. The aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
100% and the largest supplier accounted for 93% of the Group’s
total purchases for the year.

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or
any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Dai Xiaobing (Chairman)

Mr. King Hap Lee (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence

Non-executive Director

Mr. Chen Hua

Mr. Huang Shaowu

Mr. He Lin Feng

Ms. Chai Lin (appointed on 1 April 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter (resigned on 31 December 2018)
Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick

Dr. Wang Yanbin

Dr. Dang Weihua

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-law 87(1), Mr. King Hap Lee,
Mr. Huang Shaowu and Dr. Dang Weihua will retire by rotation
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election. Mr. He
Lin Feng will resign as non-executive director with effect from 30
March 2019. All other remaining directors continue in office.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment other than statutory compensation.
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‘ DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND EENKRMRBERAKROPES

UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the MR2018F12A31H  ARBIEF([EFF]) 3¢
directors (the “Directors”) or chief executive of the Company in TTHAHNARR S ETMBE EE (AFE
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company H MEFEIED (B 5 L HE KRG ) EXVEB AT
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of the BFzRE) 2D - HERMSESETEES
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as IR RAIRIBEES KNSRI EIB2EFE
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to ZERMATE K IRE LT AR R M &1 ATE
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company METAESETIALTSHNEESE| ([1Z
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for ESFR ) MBMERANB N ZERZ R

Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model KB
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as
follows:
Number of shares/
Interests in shares/ underlying shares of Percentage of
Name of Director Long/short position  underlying shares ~ Nature of interest the Company held issued shares
RiRt &R Fsd ARG/ e
4.2 B/ %8 s BatE HERHHE LY ER L
Dai Xiaobing Long position Shares Beneficial owner/Interest of controlled corporation 158,504,000 4.74%
Bl 78 B ERBAA/RENRAER
Short position Shares Beneficial owner/Interest of controlled corporation 137,524,500 4.11%
KA ki BRBAAN/RENRAER
Long position Underlying shares Interest of controlled corporation 6,012,500,000 179.72%
e RERH R A RER
Long position Share options Beneficial owner (Note 2) 3,600,000 0.11%
e BihE Bk A (HEE2)
King Hap Lee Long position Shares Interest of controlled corporation (Note 3) 10,000,000 0.30%
] e ffn REHIRAESR (H33)
Long position Share options Beneficial owner 3,600,000 0.11%
e Bihe BREAAA
Wan Tze Fan Terence Long position Shares Beneficial owner 3,366,000 0.10%
BTH e fin BEEAA
Long position Share options Beneficial owner 3,600,000 0.11%
e BhE BEAERA
Chen Hua Long position Underlying shares Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4) 76,897,179 2.30%
R e ) REHREES (f5H4)
Wong Lung Tak Patrick  Long position Share options Beneficial owner 300,000 0.01%
BEE e BhE EREBA
Wang Yanbin Long position Share options Beneficial owner 300,000 0.01%
E3137) e BihE EREAA
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Notes:

M

Particulars of directors’ interests in the share options of the

Company are set out in the section “Share Option Scheme”.

Sino Oil and Gas Resources Investments Limited (“SOGRI”) owns
85,119,500 shares and has short position of 70,800,000 shares.
SOGRI is wholly owned by Dr. Dai Xiaobing. Pursuant to the SFO,
Dr. Dai is taken to have interests and short position in such shares.
In addition, Dr. Dai beneficially owns 73,384,500 shares and short
position of 66,724,500 shares of the Company.

Unless the context requires otherwise, capitalized terms used
in this paragraph shall have the same meanings as defined in
the announcement issued by the Company on 31 May 2016.
On 31 May 2016, the Company entered into the Subscription
Agreement with Crescent Spring Investment Holdings Limited
(the “Bondholder”) pursuant to which the Company issued to
the Bondholder the Convertible Bonds in the aggregate principal
amount of US$130,000,000 due 2019 on 29 September 2016, and
Sino Oil and Gas Resources Limited (“SOGR”), a company wholly
owned by Dr. Dai Xiaobing, entered into a Put and Call Option
Deed with the Bondholder pursuant to which the Bondholder
grants to SOGR an irrevocable and unconditional right (but without
obligation) to purchase some or all of the Convertible Bonds at
the Call Option Purchase Price during the Call Option Period, and
SOGR grants to the Bondholder an irrevocable and unconditional
right (but without obligation) to require SOGR to purchase some
or all of the Convertible Bonds at the Put Option Purchase Price
during the Put Option Period. Based on the conversion price of
HK$0.168 per share, a maximum of 6,012,500,000 shares may
be allotted and issued upon exercise of the conversion rights
attaching to the Convertible Bonds in full. Further details are set
out in the announcements and circular issued by the Company on
31 May 2016, 30 September 2016 and 12 July 2016 respectively.
Pursuant to the SFO, the Convertible Bonds give rise to an interest
in 6,012,500,000 underlying shares of the Bondholder and the Put
and Call Option Deed gives rise to an interest in 6,012,500,000
underlying shares of the Company of SOGR and Dr. Dai Xiaobing
and short position of 6,012,500,000 underlying shares of the
Bondholder.
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(8) 10,000,000 shares are owned by Petromic Corporation, a company
wholly owned by Sinoint Holdings Limited which in turn is wholly
and beneficially owned by Mr. King Hap Lee. Pursuant to the SFO,
Mr. King is taken to have interests in such shares.

(4) 76,897,179 underlying shares are owned by KZREHEEAR A 7],
a wholly owned subsidiary of RES£EHBR A R] which is owned as
to 90% by Mr. Chen Hua. Pursuant to the SFO, Mr. Chen is taken
to be interested in such underlying shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of
the Directors nor the chief executive had any interests or short
positions in the securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Share Option Scheme

The Company currently has a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) which was adopted by way of an ordinary resolution
passed by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting of the
Company held on 28 May 2010.

The Scheme are in full compliance with the relevant requirements
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The purpose of the Scheme
is to enable the Company to recognise the contributions of the
participants to the Group and to motivate the participants to
continuously work to the benefit of the Group by offering to the
participants an opportunity to have personal interest in the share
capital of the Company.

The eligible participants includes any full-time and part-time
employee (including Directors) of the Company or its subsidiaries,
any suppliers, consultants, agents and advisers. The Scheme
became effective on 28 May 2010 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the
date of coming into effect.
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Pursuant to the Scheme, the maximum number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme shall
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval of the limit and such limit may be
refreshed by shareholders in general meeting. However, the total
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes must not
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. As at 31
December 2018, there are outstanding options for subscription of
41,200,000 shares under the Scheme, representing 1.23% of the
issued shares of the Company.

Under the Scheme, the maximum entitlement for any eligible
person (other than a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or any of their respective
associates) is that the total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of the
latest grant does not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at the relevant time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in
general meeting. Share options to be granted to a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or
any of their respective associates are subject to approval by
the independent non-executive directors of the Company. In
addition, any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company or any
of their respective associates, when aggregated with all share
options (whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding) already
granted to any of them during the 12-month period up to the date
of grant, in excess of 0.1 percent of the shares of the Company
in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000
(based on the closing price of the shares at the date of each
grant of the options), is subject to shareholders’ approval in
general meeting of the Company.
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The period within which an option may be exercised under
the Scheme will be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion. Under the Scheme, an option may not be exercised
after the expiration of 10 years from the date of grant of the
option.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the exercise price in relation to each
option shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion,
but in any event shall not be less than the higher of: (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet on the date of grant of such option; and
(i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of such option.

Some further disclosures relating to the Scheme are set out in
note 36 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2018, the directors and employees of the
Group had the following personal interests in options to subscribe
for shares of the Company granted at nominal consideration
under the Scheme. Each option gives the holder the right to
subscribe for one share. Details of share options held by the
Directors and employees of the Group and movements in such
holdings during the year ended 31 December 2018 are as follows:
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Number of options

EREYE
Outstanding Exercise
Outstanding Lapsed at 31 Date of Exercise price per
at 1 January during the December grant period share
2018 year 2018 (D.M.Y) (D.M.Y) HK$
20184 20185 g Bk
1A18 12A318 BE fTEEm Z2iTEE
HERTHE REAKN iof RATIE (B.8.%) (B.B.%) BT
Directors
Bz
Dai Xiaobing 3,600,000 - 3,600,000  06.12.2011  06.12.2011-05.12.2021 2.76
N 3,000,000 3,000,000 - 23.11.2015  23.11.2015-22.11.2018 2.22
King Hap Lee 3,600,000 - 3,600,000  06.12.2011  06.12.2011-05.12.2021 2.76
=T 3,000,000 3,000,000 - 23.11.2015  23.11.2015-22.11.2018 2.22
Wan Tze Fan Terence 3,600,000 - 3,600,000 06.12.2011  06.12.2011-05.12.2021 2.76
BFE 3,000,000 3,000,000 - 23.11.2015  23.11.2015-22.11.2018 2.22
Chen Hua 3,000,000 3,000,000 - 23.11.2015  23.11.2015-22.11.2018 2.22
B
Huang Shaowu 1,700,000 1,700,000 - 23.11.2015  23.11.2015-22.11.2018 2.22
He Lin Feng 3,000,000 3,000,000 - 23.11.2015  23.11.2015-22.11.2018 2.22
(BRI 2
Wong Lung Tak Patrick 300,000 - 300,000  06.12.2011  06.12.2011-05.12.2021 2.76
HER 300,000 300,000 - 23.11.2015  23.11.2015-22.11.2018 2.22
Wang Yanbin 300,000 - 300,000  06.12.2011  06.12.2011-05.12.2021 2.76
T 300,000 300,000 - 23.11.2015  23.11.2015-22.11.2018 2.22
Dang Weihua 300,000 300,000 - 23.11.2015  23.11.2015-22.11.2018 2.22
Employees 30,100,000 300,000 29,800,000  06.12.2011  06.12.2011-05.12.2021 2.76
B2 84,700,000 84,700,000 - 23.11.2015  23.11.2015-22.11.2018 2.22
Total 143,800,000 102,600,000 41,200,000
Aé+
=)
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Notes:

(1) On 23 November 2015, the Company granted 1,058,000,000
options to eligible persons at an exercise price of HK$0.222 per
share exercisable for three years from 23 November 2015, being
the date of grant. Out of these options, 30,000,000 options and
10,000,000 options (adjusted to 3,000,000 options and 1,000,000
options respectively upon the taking effect of the consolidation of
ten shares to one share of the Company on 9 August 2018 with
exercise price adjusted to HK$2.22 per share) were granted (and
were unexercised and lapsed upon expiration of exercise period
on 22 November 2018) to Ms. Xu Ning (being Dr. Dai Xiaobing’s
spouse and she had previously provided personal guarantee to a
loan facility to Orion Energy International Inc. (“Orion”), a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company) and Ms. Dai Qing Fang (Dr. Dai
Xiaobing’s sister and she is an employee of Orion) respectively.

2) No option was granted or exercised during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the sections “Directors’ Interests
in Shares and Underlying Shares” and “Share Option Scheme”,
at no time during the year was the Company or any of its
associated corporations a party to any arrangement to enable
the directors of the Company or any of their spouses or children
under eighteen years of age to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2018, the following persons, not being a

Director or chief executive of the Company, had an interest or

short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company

as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336

EFEEREE

FERREREMATZHER

720181283180 * M FA L (WIEAREE
S TRAE) RIBIEEF R E K6 5£336
BEFEE2ERMASH N AR T 2Kk 8
B EREERIOAR

of the SFO:
Number of
Interests in shares/
Long/short shares/underlying underlying Percentage of
Name position shares Nature of interest shares held issued shares
RiRH R Fifshkin,/ EERT
& Be/ %A HE R 5 e HERGHE RBEHE
Substantial shareholders
TERR
Bright Achieve Investments Limited (Note 1) Long position Shares Beneficial owner 719,763,500 21.51%
SEREERAF (M1) e ik fn ERBEBAA
Lai Chun Lam Long position Shares Beneficial owner 398,000,000 11.90%
B e B¢ ERAA
Zhang Victor Ri Chun Long position Shares Beneficial owner 398,000,000 11.90%
KAE 1A gl ERlEEA
Other persons
Hi AL
Wong Chun Chau Long position Shares Beneficial owner 278,780,000 8.33%
B e ik fn ERBEAA
Zhuo Kun Long position Shares Beneficial owner 278,780,000 8.33%
£ e B¢ EREA
Crescent Spring Investment Long position Underlying shares  Beneficial owner 6,012,500,000 179.72%
Holdings Limited (Note 2)
Crescent Spring Investment e =kl EnlEEA
Holdings Limited (P #2)
Short position Underlying shares  Beneficial owner 6,012,500,000 179.72%
e HER K EaEA
Long position Shares Security interest 137,524,500 411%
1A Bfp REER
Sino Oil and Gas Resources Long position Underlying shares  Beneficial owner 6,012,500,000 179.72%

Limited (Note 2)
mEARERERD A (M:E2)

iR

iR

EafAA
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Notes:

Bright Achieve Investments Limited (“Bright Achieve”) is
wholly-owned by Kingkey Investment Group Limited which in turn
is owned as to 50% by each of Mr. Chen Jiarong and Mr. Chen
Jiajun, being the sons of Mr. Chen Hua, a non-executive director of

the Company.

Crescent Spring Investment Holdings Limited (“Crescent”) owns
convertible bonds in the principal amount of US$130,000,000 due
2019 carrying the right to convert into shares of the Company at a
conversion price of HK$0.168 per share. Based on the conversion
price of HK$0.168 per share, a maximum of 6,012,500,000 shares
may be allotted and issued upon exercise of the conversion rights
attaching to the convertible bonds in full. The convertible bonds
give rise to an interest in 6,012,500,000 underlying shares of

Crescent.

Unless the context requires otherwise, capitalized terms used in
this paragraph shall have the same meanings as defined in the
Company’s announcement dated 31 May 2016. Pursuant to the
Put and Call Option Deed entered into between Crescent and Sino
Oil and Gas Resources Limited (“SOGR”), a company wholly owned
by Dr. Dai Xiaobing, Crescent grants to SOGR an irrevocable and
unconditional right (but without obligation) to purchase some or all
of the Convertible Bonds at the Call Option Purchase Price during
the Call Option Period, and SOGR grants to Crescent an irrevocable
and unconditional right (without obligation) to require SOGR to
purchase some or all of the Convertible Bonds at the Put Option
Purchase Price during the Put Option Period. The Put and Call
Option Deed gives rise to an interest in 6,012,500,000 underlying
shares of each of SOGR and Dr. Dai Xiaobing and short position of
6,012,500,000 underlying shares of Crescent.

Crescent also holds security interest in 137,524,500 shares of the

Company.
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Crescent is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Huarong
International Holdings Limited (7 B % gb BIFR 15 iR B IR 2 &) which in
turn is owned as to 88.1% by Huarong Real Estate Co., Ltd. (Z£@%
BEABRSEAF) (“Huarong Real Estate”) and 11.9% by Huarong
Zhiyuan Investment & Management Co., Ltd. (ERBEREEE
AR EMTAF) (“Huarong Zhiyuan”). Both Huarong Real Estate
and Huarong Zhiyuan are wholly owned by China Huarong Asset
Management Co., Ltd. (B3 B & = B IR (5 B PR A 8]) which is in
turn owned as to 77.49 % by Ministry of Finance of the People’s
Republic of China (F# ARLFBEEIEEL). Pursuant to the SFO,
China Huarong International Holdings Limited, Huarong Real
Estate, China Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd. and Ministry of
Finance of the People’s Republic of China are deemed to have the

aforesaid interests and short position held by Crescent.

Saved as disclosed above in this section, as at 31 December
2018, the Company has not been notified of any other persons
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who
had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of retirement schemes operated by local authorities in
the PRC. The Group also operates a defined contribution scheme
covering full time employees in Hong Kong. Details of employee
retirement benefits are set out in note 35 to the financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS
Particulars of the directors’ remuneration and highest paid
individuals’ emoluments are set out in note 11 and note 12 to the
financial statements respectively.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, subject to the applicable
laws and regulations, the directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in or
about the execution of their duty in their offices. Such permitted
indemnity provision has been in force throughout the year and is
still in force. In addition, the Company has arranged appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
directors and senior executives of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in note 49 to the financial statements, no
contracts of significance subsisted at any time during the year to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had material interest, whether
directly or indirectly.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its directors, as of the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of the shares with not less
than 25% of the total issued shares of the Company as required
under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the listed securities of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws in Bermuda which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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AUDITOR
The financial statements for the year have been audited by BDO
Limited who retires and, being eligible, offers for re-appointment.

By order of the Board
Dai Xiaobing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk
A

EEE - +852 2218 8288
{8E : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SINO OIL AND GAS
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 232,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matter described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion”
section of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion
on these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects,
in our opinion the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Scope Limitation Relating to the Going Concern Basis
of Preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements
As set out in Note 3(b)(ii) to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had net current liabilities of HK$951,994,000 as at 31
December 2018. As at that date, the Group had total borrowings
amounting of HK$477,123,000, trade and other payables and
accruals of HK$331,682,000 and convertible note with principal
amount and interests of HK$1,237,265,000. Out of which
borrowings of HK$16,956,000, trade and other payables and
accruals of HK$331,682,000 and convertible note with principal
amount and interests of HK$1,237,265,000 would be due for
repayment within twelve months from the date of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with the repayment dates of
the respective agreements, while the Group only maintained its
cash and cash equivalents of HK$36,949,000.

The above conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, and therefore, it may
be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.

As detailed in Note 3(b)(ii) to the consolidated financial
statements, in view of the above circumstances, the directors
have prepared a cash flow forecast of the Group which takes
into account of the major assumption that three shareholders
and directors would be able to provide continuing and sufficient
support to the Group to meet its operating needs and financial
obligations. The directors consider the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet its operating and financing needs as and
when they fall due within the twelve months from 31 December
2018. Accordingly, the directors are satisfied that it is appropriate
to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.

The appropriateness of the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements on the going concern basis largely depends
on whether the above-mentioned major assumption taken into
account by the directors in the going concern assessment are
achievable.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
(Continued)

However, we were unable to verify the financial position of
the three shareholders and directors who are individuals and
providing financial support to the Group to enable us to assess
whether they have sufficient financial capability to provide their
aforementioned financial support to the Group. There were no
other satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt to assess
whether the Group had sufficient resources to meet its operating
and financing needs for the foreseeable future. Accordingly,
we were unable to satisfy ourselves regarding the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to conclude on the
appropriateness of the director’s use of going concern basis of
accounting in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements do not include any
adjustments that may be necessary should the going concern
basis of preparation be determined to be inappropriate. These
would include any adjustments to write down the Group’s assets
to their net realisable amounts, to provide for any liabilities which
may arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as
current.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2018
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Qur responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an
auditor’s report. This report is made solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

However, because of the matter described in the “Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our report, we were not able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Cheung Or Ping

Practising Certificate Number P05412

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B 5 THET FET
Revenue EHER 6 &15 427,867 497,935
Direct cost BEKA (393,815) (487,540)
Gross profit EF 34,052 10,395
Other income HAp Y A 7 56,972 60,878
Other (losses)/gains, net Hio (B5E), MW F58 8 (57,939) 181,371
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHEH (2,485) (3,833)
Administrative expenses THEHR (88,801) (84,246)
(Loss)/profit from operations K (BB &F (58,201) 164,565
Finance costs & B AR 9(a) (324,547) (322,173)
Share of loss of an associate FE(E— KB & R RE1E 22 (178) (418)
Loss before income tax expense B FT/S B S I A S 18 9 (382,926) (158,026)
Income tax expense s sz 10 (2,959) (1,535)
Loss for the year KEEEBE (385,885) (159,561)
Other comprehensive income, after tax ~ H2mE Uz - K%
ltem that may be reclassified to AgeEMoEEEncEAE
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating REGIEB I ELEZR
foreign operations (291,292) 332,498
Changes in fair value of AHEESREEZ
available-for-sale investments NEBEEZD - (1,928)
ltem that will not be reclassified to TMEEFHBEEE=CAE
profit or loss:
Changes in fair value of equity BAVFESEBEME Y
investments designated at fair value SRz IR E 2 AT E
through other comprehensive income o) (4,453) =
Other comprehensive income for AEFAEMPEEEE
the year, after tax B B 12 (295,745) 330,570
Total comprehensive income for the year 784 € 2 [E Uk 25 42 58 (681,630) 171,009
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HZE2018F12A31 B ILEFEE

2018 2017
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B & THET FET
Loss attributable to: AT AT ELERS :
Owners of the Company KRABRHEE A (376,922) (160,367)
Non-controlling interests IR (8,963) 806
(385,885) (159,561)
Total comprehensive income ATNATELMEEKGERE
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZAYNECIE 2N (671,007) 169,866
Non-controlling interests FEfE AR (10,623) 1,143
(681,630) 171,009
HK cents HK cents
&AW Rl
(restated)
(&%)
Loss per share BiEE
- Basic and diluted —BEARREE 14 (15.64) (9.55)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2018

2018 2017
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B 5 THET FHET
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment LE I o & 16 2,026,855 2,110,392
QOil and gas exploration and SRR KA B E 17
evaluation assets 61,600 57,255
Payment for leasehold land held BAMEE LR 18
for own use 3,915 4,356
Intangible assets mREE 19 2,174,607 2,353,579
Goodwill = 20 11,596 51,877
Interest in a joint venture R—REEDEZER 21 - =
Interest in an associate R—RKEE QR 2w 22 57,977 59,137
Financial assets at fair value through EAFEEREBE=YERZTE 23
profit or loss BE 38,301 30,077
Equity investments designated at RATEFERAEMEE K= 24
fair value through other R RERE
comprehensive income 956 -
Available-for-sale investments AHEESREE 24 - 5,409
Deposits and prepayments e RBEMNFKIE 27 52,365 95,777
Loans receivable FEULE 5K 25 13,470 19,211
Total non-current assets FEnBEEARE 4,441,642 4,787,070
Current assets REBEE
Inventories e 26 11,950 15,070
Financial assets at fair value through EATEEBERINEKE M 23
profit or loss BE 19,399 21,529
Trade, notes and other receivables, JEUWER N - BN ERE K HfbfE 27
deposits and prepayments WER K ~ e MTETFRIE 365,106 438,570
Short-term investment FEEIR A 28 69,216 77,205
Loans receivable JE U B 5% 25 18,290 48,029
Amount due from a joint venture B —REEDER 21 320 320
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY 29 36,949 21,766
Total current assets MBNE EERE 521,230 622,489
Total assets pab=-3 4,962,872 5,409,559
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2018 2017
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
s FHET FHET
Current liabilities REERE
Trade and other payables and accruals  FEFBRZR ~ H b BT FIE K 30
BIRE H (331,682) (407,832)
Borrowings e 32 (16,956) (77,437)
Convertible notes AR R 33 (1,118,267) (297,142)
Financial liabilities at fair value through R AFEBEBEREVIEZFE 33
profit or loss Bf& (257) (37,895)
Taxation HIa (6,062) (6,474)
Total current liabilities mE B EER (1,473,224) (826,780)
Net current liabilities RENBEFE (951,994) (204,291)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERASEE 3,489,648 4,582,779
Non-current liabilities ERBHEE
Provisions B 31 (8,594) (6,709)
Borrowings BE 32 (460,167) (456,451)
Convertible notes CIEY & 88 - (940,889)
Deferred tax liabilities FIEFRIBE E 34 (12,281) (14,235)
Total non-current liabilities FERBABRRE (481,042) (1,418,284)
NET ASSETS HAEFE 3,008,606 3,164,495
Capital and reserves attributable to FAATHEAAEBIEERREE
owners of the Company
Share capital & 7 37(a) 334,544 165,388
Reserves it 2,668,353 2,982,452
Equity attributable to owners of the RRAFHEB ANE(LEE
Company 3,002,897 3,147,840
Non-controlling interests I 12 AR 4 2 40 5,709 16,655
TOTAL EQUITY Mg 3,008,606 3,164,495

Dai Xiaobing
BhE
Director

EZE

On behalf of the directors

REE=S

Wan Tze Fan Terence

mYEh
Director

EZE

2018 £ 3| |
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
R EDx

For the year ended 31 December 2018

HZE2018F12A31 B IEFE

¢ Equity attributable to owners of the Company
FATRAABGER
Available-
for-sale
investments
reserve/Fair ~ Convertible
Share  Contributed ~ Share option value reserve  noteequity ~ Exchange  Accumulated Non-
Share capital premium surplus reserve (non-recycling) reserve reserve losses controlling
(note 37(a))  (note 37(c)(i) (note 37(c)(il)) (note 37(c)i)) (note 37(c)(v)) (note 37(c)(v)) (note 37(c)(vi)) (note 87(c)(vii) Total interests Total
Pl
BERE/
ATBRAE
(FRERE Thi
Bd  hBEE  E9RR  BRERE BRE) ERENEE  ERERE  ZiER
(Wetarie)  (Waksio)  (Watsmiolin) (Wetsmeli)  (Waksnolin)  (WESn(e)t)  (Waam(eli) (Rakanic)nii) Bt FRRER it
HK$ 000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
Tt Tt Tt Tt Tin Thn Tin TEn Thn Thn Thn
At1 January 2017 R017E1R 18 170987 412718 81,043 110,344 (260) 10,409 (327,188 (1,181,905) 3,076,131 16512 3,091,643
(Loss)/proft for the year RER(BR)/ & - - - - - - - (160367 (160,367) 806 (159,561)
Other comprehensive income Ef2ENE - - - - (1,926 - 332,161 - 330233 37 330570
Tota comprehensive income for e year ~ AEE2EHELE - - - - (1.928) - 32,161 (160,367) 169,966 1,143 171,009
Released upon expiry of convertble RTERZEISRER
notes note 33 (Hstas) - - - - - (10409 - 10409 - - -
Released upon lapse of share options REREXIRED
(note 37(ai) (Wi3EsT(a)i) - - - (2491 - - - 2,491 - - -
Repurchase of shares note 37 (3f) ROER (HE37(2)() (5549 (02614) - - - - - 6 (98,157) - (98,157)
At 31 December 2017 as originally ~ R2017412B31AMAET
presented 165,388 4,120,104 81,043 107,853 2,188) - 5000  (1,329,366) 3,147,840 16,095 3,164,495
It adoption of: 1557 :
- HKFRS 9 rote 2A ) -ERUBAS RN
(HaE2(a)Ai(c)) - - - - - - - 0.42) 9428 (329 (9749
At 1 January 2018 (restated) R018F1A18 (EE5) 165,388 4,120,104 81,043 107,853 2,188) - 5006 (133879 3,138,414 16,332 3,154,746
Loss for the year KEEER = = = - - - - (376,922 (376,922 (8,963) (385,885)
Other comprehensive income Ef2ENE - - - - (4453 - (269,63) - (294,089) (1,660) (295,745)
Total comprehensive income for the year A 2ENEEE - - - - (4459) - (28083 (716922 (671,007) (10623 (681,630)
Issue of shares (note 37(2f) ity (3 169,156 366,33 - - - - - - 53,490 - 535,490
Released upon apse of share options REREXNEER
(note 37(a)() (M k37(a)i) = - - (12,725) - - - 12125 - - -
At 31 December 2018 1A2018%12A31R 34544 4486438 81,043 35,128 (6,641) - (284626)  (1,642,089) 3,002,807 5700 3,008,606
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeReaERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018
B Z£2018F12 A1 HIEFE

2018 2017
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B & FHET FE T
Operating activities WEER
Loss before income tax expense BRETSR S R E B (382,926) (158,026)
Adjustments for: FHEIFE :
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BEREZETE 16
equipment 34,401 53,188
Amortisation of intangible assets | EE 2 #HE 19 23,373 20,251
Amortisation of payment for leasehold B R E £ b5 8 18
land held for own use 240 233
Interest expense FMEZ W 9(a) 324,547 322,173
Interest income B2 UA 7 (30,536) (30,143)
Change in fair value of financial assets XA F(EBBIBENERZ 8
through profit or loss VBEERTEE (29,131) (43,275)
Change in fair value of financial RATEZABRIEZ 8
liabilities through profit or loss PHBaBERAFTEE (37,638) (187,042)
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE BMEEREZ 8
plant and equipment & (59) (28)
Written off of property, plant and FHEYE  BERSE 8
equipment 163 85
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale TETHTESHEE Y 8
investments &8 - 1,606
Reclassification from equity to HEMHTESREER 8
profit or loss on disposal of BEmENHERER
available-for-sale investments - 260
Share of loss of an associate B — KBt & R RIEE 22 178 418
Impairment loss on goodwill s R EEE 20 39,244 46,705
Impairment loss on intangible assets mREERERE 19 45,734 =
Expected credit losses on financial BB E B EE 8
assets measured at amortised cost ZBEEERE 31,769 =
Impairment loss on loans receivable W EFURERE 8 - 4,612
Impairment loss on other receivables H th i 2 AR 3R (B BT 1B 8 - 377
Operating profit before changes in ZES LB EFELHEH
working capital 19,359 31,344
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL (3 m) 2,488 (3,535)
Decrease in trade, notes and other EYERESR - BIRER R
receivables, deposits and prepayments  E i FEUERE X « 124 &
R RIBR D 91,460 70,580
(Decrease)/increase in trade and FERTRRFR - Ht A RIE R
other payables and accruals ERRER CRd) 8GN (100,750) 26,371
Cash generated from operations KREEBEE RS 12,557 124,760
PRC enterprise income tax paid BB EAED (4,690) (4,428)
Net cash generated from CEEBELEZRLFE
operating activities 7,867 120,332
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FalenE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HZE2018F12A31 B IEFE

2018 2017
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B & FHET FE T
Investing activities BEFH
Payment of purchase of property, BAYE - BEMEEMNK 16
plant and equipment (52,833) (132,999)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWME - WBELEE
plant and equipment P18 538 198 215
Payment of purchase of oil and gas BABRBRERFHEEMNK 17
exploration and evaluation assets (7,092) (10,554)
Payment of acquisition of WEIHHESMEENK
available-for-sale investments - (12,616)
Settlement of financial assets at HEEZEATEBRAER 51(b)
fair value through profit or loss PR 2 IS & E 14,169 17,000
Increase in loans receivable JE Y& SR A0 (15,431) (69,180)
Proceeds from repayment of I BlE 2 e W E R FT 18 5RIE
loans receivable 48,924 23,060
Acquisition of assets through acquisition % i@ Y2 B8 — &1 B B A A) 41
of a subsidiary, net of cash WEEEE (HRE2) - (2,031)
Interest received B U B 41 5,096
Proceeds from disposal of HEAHEECREE
available-for-sale investments Fr 1S 3038 - 8,005
Net cash used in investing activities XEFEFMAZIELEE (12,024) (174,004)
Financing activities HEEH
Proceeds from issue of shares BT TS A 37 535,490 =
Payment for repurchase of shares fE B AR 1 5 3K 37(a)(i) - (98,157)
Proceeds from borrowings BEMS A 32 30,000 75,156
Repayment of borrowings BEEE 32 (106,962) =
Proceeds from corporate bonds, net BITCEBHFMBHIAFRE 32 6,000 134,342
Repayment of convertible notes upon REIHREE T RREE 88
expiry (309,136) (167,064)
Repayment of loans from shareholders  {&i& I B & & (32,503) (79,659)
Proceeds from a loan from a shareholder — % & 8R & R TS FIE 20,950 84,821
Interest paid B F & (110,084) (128,755)
Net cash from/(used in) financing AL EEIEL (FFTHA)Z
activities &g 33,755 (179,316)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RE&RIRSZFEYEm
cash equivalents (RY)F8E 29,598 (232,988)
Cash and cash equivalents at M1A1BZIRERIEEEEY
1 January 21,766 251,530
Effect of foreign exchange rate Exgaszue
changes (14,415) 3,224
Cash and cash equivalents at W12A31BZIRE RIS E 29
31 December, representing cash EBY > IR RBITEER
and bank balances 36,949 21,766
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability
in Bermuda on 2 November 1999 under the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended) and its shares were listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“The Stock Exchange”) on 9 February 2000. The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.
The principal place of business of the Company is Suite
1201-1202, 12/F, Li Po Chun Chambers, 189 Des Voeux
Road Central, Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 39.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2018

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-2016

2.

Cycle Joint Ventures
BBV BWEER2014— 2016 M FESCE BAEGFTENF28RZEF]  REERAIREELEIRE

Amendments to HKFRS 2

B4 %5 ¥ 3% Pt 5

31 December 2018
2018%F12H31H

—RE&EHE
FECREIZERBER AR ([RAGE])RIE
BRE1981F R ADE (BIEFT) 19995
1MA2BEBREGMK L ARRBRE
BRAF - HRRHR2000F2 A9B R B %
BMAaXSMARRAR (B ER E
M o AR &) 2 58 F A Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda > INQA &) Z £ B & ¥
AR EEHETISIRTEB/ AR
1£1201-1202% -

ARAB—FREERAR - XHEA
A2 EEHBHERM 30 -
RANE BB ®R & 2R

(a) IR&E] EEITEEMER
HEHA-2018FE1H1HEEAE

Amendments to HKAS 28, Investments in Associates and

BEARYBHRE LR FE 2R ZIER]

HKFRS 9
EBM R ELERIFEIR
HKFRS 15

BBV R E RIS 1557
Amendments to HKFRS 15

BRYBIRE LR FE15EZER]

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

&5 (AR BHREREBEREE) —RBF225

Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions

IR RERNRZZZ pENETE

Financial Instruments

MBIE

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

BER A%

Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Clarifications to
HKFRS 15)

BERaKE (BEEBMBHREERF155%)

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

HNERZ B RFARNRE
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2018 (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle -
Amendments to HKAS 28, Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures

The amendments issued under the annual improvements
process make small, non-urgent changes to standards
where they are currently unclear. They include amendments
to HKAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures,
clarifying that a Venture Capital organisation’s permissible
election to measure its associates or joint ventures at fair
value is made separately for each associate or joint venture.

The adoption of these amendments has no impact on these
financial statements as the Group is not a venture capital
organisation.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 - Classification and
Measurement of Share-Based Payment Transactions
The amendments provide requirements on the accounting
for the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on
the measurement of cash-settled share-based payments;
share-based payment transactions with a net settlement
feature for withholding tax obligations; and a modification
to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment
that changes the classification of the transaction from
cash-settled to equity-settled.

The adoption of these amendments has no impact on
these financial statements as the Group does not have any
cash-settled share-based payment transaction and has
no share-based payment transaction with net settlement
features for withholding tax.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. M EHMBHREED (E) ’
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective (a) BRATT ST EEMBER
1 January 2018 (Continued) HEA|-2018F1A1HEEN
(&)
A  HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments A FBEUBREENFESR-MBI
8
(i) Classification and measurement of financial () HMHBEIRZHERE
instruments
HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: 7 B R 45 2 B 5595k 1A20184F1 A1
Recognition and Measurement for annual periods beginning Az kMiaz FEHERRE B
on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three HERE0 (BT A ERKTE] -
aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: (1) AR IAEeTREAR ZMA =@
classification and measurement; (2) impairment and (3) FE: (WD EREE QR E &Q)% H
hedge accounting. The adoption of HKFRS 9 from 1 January 25t o B2018F 1 A1H BERE BT 5
2018 has resulted in changes in accounting policies of the WRELENFREBERAESESHEBR
Group and the amounts recognised in the consolidated REZEMEMEMER L R ELEES o

financial statements.

The following tables summarised the impact, net of tax, of TERXBMBEER S B HREELFQ
transition to HKFRS 9 on the opening balance of reserves, SR R2018F1 A1H G - RetEiER
accumulated losses and non-controlling interests as of 1 JEPE RS Y A E (FIK L IE)
January 2018 as follows (increase/(decrease)): mr (g CRd))
HK$'000
F& T
Accumulated losses 5 i
Accumulated losses as at 31 December 2017 #2017E12831H Y BT E51E (1,329,366)
Increase in expected credit losses (‘ECLs”) EnEWEERMIBEREEBE
in trade receivables ([TEHEERBE]D (249)
Increase in ECLs in other receivables and deposits 1 £ {th i€ W BR 2k & 32 & #Y) 78 Hf
EEE#E (6,444)
Increase in ECLs in short-term investment NG EEENTEREEEE (2,733)
Restated accumulated losses R2018sE1A1B B ETI BT E5E
as at 1 January 2018 (1,338,792)
Non-controlling interests FEIER R
Non-controlling interests #20175E12A 31 H B9 FE = IR HEZS
as at 31 December 2017 16,655
Increase in ECLs in trade receivables HINEREROBEREEEE (83)
Increase in ECLs in other receivables N E b E N IE R TE R E E B 1R (240)
Restated non-controlling interests 20181 1B WEE 5| FEi= R iER

as at 1 January 2018 16,332
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°* 2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. FNEEUBREEN(E)

76

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2018 (Continued)

A HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) Classification and measurement of financial
instruments (Continued)

(a) IHR&E] EEITEEMER
HEHA-2018FE1H1HEEAE
(48)

A FBEUBRERAFSE-MBT

"] (&)

() HMBEIRZHERE (&)

HK$'000
FABT
Available-for-sale investments reserve OEHESHEEHFE
Reserve balances at 31 December 2017 ?2017£E12A 31 H 9kt & 63 (2,188)
Reclassify to fair value reserve (non-recycling) SO EELTEME
(TMEELERER) 2,188
Restated reserve balance as at 1 January 2018 2201851 H1HMEEF B &85 -
Fair value reserve (non-recycling) W FEFE (TRESBEEER)
Reserve balances at 31 December 2017 ®2017E12A31H I 4565 -
Reclassify from available-for-sale investments BRI ESREEREENSE
reserve (2,188)

Restated reserve balance as at 1 January 2018 220181 H1HMEE T B &85 (2,188)

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and
measurement requirements for financial liabilities from HKAS
39, except for financial liabilities designated at FVTPL,
where the amount of change in fair value attributable to
change in credit risk of the liability is recognised in other
comprehensive income unless that would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch. In addition, HKFRS 9 retains the
requirements in HKAS 39 for derecognition of financial
assets and financial liabilities. However, it eliminates the
previous HKAS 39 categories for financial assets of held
to maturity financial assets, loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial assets. The adoption of HKFRS
9 has no material impact on the Group’s accounting
policies related to financial liabilities and derivative financial
instruments. The impact of HKFRS 9 on the Group’s
classification and measurement of financial assets is set out
below.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2018 (Continued)

A HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) Classification and measurement of financial
instruments (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9, except for certain trade receivables (that
the trade receivables do not contain a significant financing
component in accordance with HKFRS 15), an entity
shall, at initial recognition, measure a financial asset at its
fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs.
A financial asset is classified as: (i) financial assets at
amortised cost (“amortised costs”); (i) financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); or (iii)
FVTPL (as defined in above). The classification of financial
assets under HKFRS 9 is generally based on two criteria:
() the business model under which the financial asset is
managed and (i) its contractual cash flow characteristics
(the “solely payments of principal and interest” criterion,
also known as “SPPI criterion”). Under HKFRS 9, embedded
derivatives is no longer required to be separated from a
host financial asset. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument
is assessed as a whole for the classification.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets
both of the following conditions and it has not been
designated as at FVTPL:

o It is held within a business model whose objective is
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

o The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that meet the SPPI
criterion.

B4 %5 ¥R 3% P 5

201812 H31H

RMEBUBREER (8)

(a) IHR&E] EEITEEMER
HEHA-2018FE1H1HEEAE
(48)
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([FVTPL]) 2 M5 B E) st EM B EE °
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BE M2 E U TR ([FVOCI]) 2 8 15
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EsoB—RERAMELED : )FHE
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‘ 2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. FNEEUBREEN(E)

78

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2018 (Continued)

A HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) Classification and measurement of financial
instruments (Continued)

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of

the following conditions and it has not been designated as

at FVTPL:

o It is held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets; and

o The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that meet the SPPI
criterion.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held
for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in
other comprehensive income. This election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis. All other financial assets
not classified at amortised cost or FVOCI as described
above are classified as FVTPL. This includes all derivative
financial assets. On initial recognition, the Group may
irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise
meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise
arise.

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2018

(a) IHR&E] EEITEEMER
HEHA-2018FE1H1HEEAE
(4&)

A BEUBBREERNSEHR-MHEL
B (%)

(i) BHBETAZHERIEE)

MEBRERRSE AT GRS BI3E
1 E AFVTPLAT 8 - RIZE B &R & & IA
FVOCI5t & :

s ZEHKREA—EEEREAKRNMS
HWRERERHENBEELEK
BAMRREE R

s RUBBEEZAOGRRENFER
HELANAERAXN A RFES%E
AR RE -

RMRERLIEFEEBERERE
AEEAAAHEMEEREM2E
WP A REAFEZHEEES -
ZEBRIREZRIBIEL - A HM it
I IE 5 $8 & 1% #E 55 pK AN 3 LAFVOCIET &
LB EE B EBFVIPLETE °
WBEMBITENBEE - RYIAER
B AEEA A AAREMEENFEE
(REMAFEFEREHEKATE RN
FVOCIEt 2 2 27 ) R LAFVTPLET 2 © Al
REBBETERIABR DS E
BLEE A o



ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2018 (Continued)

A HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) Classification and measurement of financial
instruments (Continued)

The following accounting policies would be applied to the

Group’s financial assets as follows:

FVTPL FVTPL is subsequently measured at fair
value. Changes in fair value, dividends
and interest income are recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost
are subsequently measured using
the effective interest rate method.
Interest income, foreign exchange
gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on
derecognition is recognised in profit or

Amortised cost

loss.
FVOCI Equity investments at fair value through
(equity other comprehensive income are

measured at fair value. Dividend income
is recognised in profit or loss unless
the dividend income clearly represents
a recovery of part of the cost of the
investments. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are not reclassified to profit
or loss.

instruments)

The classification and measurement requirements of HKFRS
9 did not have a significant impact to the Group.

As of 1 January 2018, listed equity investments were
reclassified from available-for-sale investments to equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income. The Group intends to hold them for long-term
strategic purposes. These listed equity investments with
a fair value loss of HK$2,188,000 were reclassified from
available-for-sale investments reserve on 1 January 2018 to
the fair value reserve (non-recycling).
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2018 (Continued)

A HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) Classification and measurement of financial
instruments (Continued)

The following table summarises the original measurement

categories under HKAS 39 and the new measurement

categories under HKFRS 9 for each class of the Group’s

financial assets as at 1 January 2018:

2.

Carrying amount

RMEBUBREER (8)

(a) IHR&E] EEITEEMER
HEHA-2018FE1H1HEEAE
(48)

A BEUBBREERNSEHR-MHEL
B (%)

(i) BHBETAZHERIEE)

TRBAAEENZEINNBEEER
20181 A1 B IR BH A g 5 E R E395%
HNRESAESERBEEBMBRESE
RIS MEETE 4R -

Carrying amount

as at as at
1 January 2018 1 January 2018
under HKAS 39  Reclassification Remeasurements  under HKFRS 9
R201851A1H R2018%1A18
REFESER REBHUE
05 HERR MY BEERIFR
REE ENiDE EXHES BRMREE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i TR T T TBL
Financial assets at amortised cost: &R AF B2 HBEEE
Trade, notes and other receivables, ~ BWER - BUEE R EH
deposits and prepayment BUWER  BERBEARE  2Ali0) 438,570 = (7,016) 431,554
Short-term investment BHgE 2()Ali(c) 77,205 - (2,7393) 74,472
Loans receivable ERER 67,240 = = 67,240
Amount due from a joint venture Eh-RAELETE 320 = = 320
Cash and cash equivalents ReRALSEN 21,766 - = 21,766
Financial assets at fair value RATEERERIIRZ
through profit or loss MHEE
Contingent consideration GBRE 51,606 - = 51,606
Financial assets at fair value BATEEREMR2ENE
through other comprehensive SRz BEE
income (non-recycling) (FBENEZEER)
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong 2A& 7 1 2 (R IR - 5,40 - 5,409
Financial assets classified as RIEEH S 0 Fo05
available-for-sale investments (BAFE)DEBTH
under HKAS 39 (at fair value) HESHEE 5,409 (5,409) - -
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2018 (Continued)

A HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets

The adoption of HKFRS 9 has changed the Group’s
impairment model by replacing the HKAS 39 “incurred loss
model” to the “expected credit losses (“ECLs”) model”.
HKFRS 9 requires the Group to recognise ECL for trade
receivables, financial assets at amortised costs, contract
assets and debt investment at FVOCI earlier than HKAS 39.
Cash and cash equivalents are subject to ECL model but
the impairment is immaterial for the current period.

Under HKFRS 9, the losses allowances are measured on
either of the following bases: (1) 12-month ECLs: these are
the ECLs that result from possible default events within the
12 months after the reporting date: and (2) lifetime ECLs:
these are ECLs that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall
is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and
has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.
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82

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2018 (Continued)

A HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on the
12-month ECLs. The 12-month ECLs is the portion of the
lifetime ECLs that results from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. However, when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will
be based on the lifetime ECLs. When determining whether
the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and
informed credit assessment and including forward-looking
information. The Group’s debt investment at FVOCI are
considered to have low credit risk since the issuers’ credit
rating are high.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:
(1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to
the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realising security (if any is held); or (2) the financial
asset is more than 90 days past due; unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that
a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECL is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2018 (Continued)

A HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Presentation of ECLs

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised
cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the
assets.

Impact of the ECL model

(@) Impairment of trade and notes receivable

As mentioned above, the Group applies the HKFRS
9 simplified approach to measure ECLs which
recognises lifetime ECLs for all trade receivables.
To measure the ECLs, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. Applying the ECL model results
in the recognition of ECL of HK$332,000 on 1 January
2018. During the year ended 31 December 2018, no
additional ECL for trade receivables is provided based
on the provision matrix.

In respect of notes receivable, they represented bank
acceptance bills which were issued by banks located
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) with
high credit-rating or with good reputation. There was
no recent history of default and the management
has assessed that the ECL was not material as of 1
January 2018 and for the year ended 31 December
2018.

(b) Impairment of other financial assets measured at
amortised cost
Other financial assets at amortised cost of the Group
include short-term investments, loans receivable,
amount due from a joint venture, other receivables
and deposits. Applying the ECL model result in the
recognition of ECLs of short-term investment and
other receivables and deposits of HK$2,733,000
and HK$6,684,000, respectively, on 1 January 2018
and a further ECLs of short-term investment and
other receivables and deposits of HK$1,736,000 and
HK$30,033,000, respectively, for the year ended 31
December 2018. Details are set out in note 27.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2018 (Continued)

A HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Impact of the ECL model (Continued)
(c) As a result of the above changes, the impact of the

2. FMNFEMBREELN(HR)

(a) IHR&E] EEITEEMER
HEHA-2018FE1H1HEEAE

(&)

A FBEUBRERAFSE-MBT
8](&)

(i) FIBEEREF)

FHEEERERZE (&)
© HMRLMEH HBEMBREE

new HKFRS 9 impairment model results in additional Bl 5%k Rk (B 18 = B 52 2 B B EE A
impairment allowance as follows: ERERT
Loss
allowance Additional
as at expected Loss allowance
31 December credit loss as at
2017 recognised on 1 January 2018
under HKAS 39 1 January 2018 under HKFRS 9
12017%12A318 2018%1R1H
REBFEET  R2018F1A18 REE B
B HISE395% EAER R TP
R EERE RHEEEE  ERNEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL THT FET
Loans receivable (note 25(h)) YR E SR (FifE25(h) 4,803 - 4,803
Short-term investment (note 28) R E (E28) - 2,733 2,733
Trade, notes and other receivables and deposits: BN - BRZE R
Hi MR AR E S -

Trade receivables (note 27(h)) FE MR (Bt x27 () - 332 332
Other receivables (note 27(i) o M BR 30 (PEEE27(3) 392 960 1,352
Other deposits (note 27()) AR e (WE27() - 5,724 5,724
392 7,016 7,408
5,195 9,749 14,944
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2018 (Continued)

A HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iii) Transition

The Group has applied the transitional provision in HKFRS 9
such that HKFRS 9 was generally adopted without restating
comparative information. The reclassifications and the
adjustments arising from the new ECLs rules are therefore
not reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2017, but are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position on 1 January
2018. This mean that differences in the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities resulting from
the adoption of HKFRS 9 are recognised in accumulated
losses and reserves as at 1 January 2018. Accordingly,
the information presented for 2017 does not reflect the
requirements of HKFRS 9 but rather those of HKAS 39.

The following assessments have been made on the basis of
the facts and circumstances that existed at the date of initial
application of HKFRS 9 (the “DIA”):

o The determination of the business model within which
a financial asset is held;

° The designation and revocation of previous
designations of certain financial assets and financial
liabilities as measured at FVTPL;

° The designation of equity investments not held for
trading as at FVOCI.

If an investment in a debt investment had low credit risk at
the DIA, then the Group has assumed that the credit risk
on the asset had not increased significantly since its initial
recognition.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2018 (Continued)

B HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (“HKFRS 15”)

HKFRS 15 supersedes HKAS 11 Construction Contracts,
HKAS 18 Revenue and related interpretations. HKFRS 15
has established a five-steps model to account for revenue
arising from contracts with customers. Under HKFRS
15, revenue is recognised at the amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.
The amendments to HKFRS 15 included clarifications on
identification of performance obligations; application of
principal versus agent; licenses of intellectual property; and
transition requirements.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the cumulative
effect method without practical expedients. The Group has
recognised the cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS
15, if any, as an adjustment to the opening balance of
accumulated losses at the date of initial application (that
is, 1 January 2018). As a result, the financial information
presented for 2017 has not been restated.

The transition to HKFRS 15 had no impact on the opening
balance of accumulated losses and NCI and no impact on
adopting HKFRS 15 to the Group’s consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2018 and its
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 December 2018. There was no impact on
the Groups’ consolidated statement of cash flow for the
year ended 31 December 2018.

Details of the new significant accounting policies and the
nature of the changes to previous accounting policies in
relation to the Group’s various goods and services are set
out below:
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2018 (Continued)

B HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (“HKFRS 15”) (Continued)

(i) Sales of coalbed methane (“CBM”)

Revenue from sales of CBM through pipelines is recognised
when the coalbed methane passes through the built-in
gas metre which is taken to be the point in time when the
customer obtained control of the CBM delivered and the
Group satisfies the performance obligation. Controls refers
to the ability to direct the use of, and obtain substantially all
of the remaining benefits from an asset.

(ij) Sales of raw and cleaned coal

Revenue from sales of raw and cleaned coal is recognised
when the raw and/or cleaned coal is delivered to customers’
designated location and the customer accepts and takes
control of the raw and/or cleaned coal. There is generally
one performance obligation and the consideration includes
no variable element.

Receipt in advance related to consideration received for the
sales of raw and/or cleaned coal are included in “Trade and
other payables and accruals”.

(iii) Other income

Interest income

Interest income, which mainly includes interest income from
financial services and bank interest income, is accrued
on a time-apportioned basis by reference to the principal
outstanding using the effective interest method.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2018 (Continued)

(3 HK(IFRIC) - Int 22 - Foreign Currency

Transactions and Advance Consideration
The Interpretation provides guidance on determining the
date of the transaction for determining an exchange rate
to use for transactions that involve advance consideration
paid or received in a foreign currency and the recognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability. The
Interpretations specifies that the date of the transaction for
the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on
initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income
(or part thereof) is the date on which the entity initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance
consideration.

The adoption of these amendments has no impact on these
financial statements as the Group has not paid or received
advance consideration in a foreign currency.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. BRMNEEBMBHREED(E)
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued (b) EHEMHERKRERZHTE
but are not yet effective B THHBMFREEL
The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to ANEFWMIBATEEA 5|2 BMIE K
the Group’s consolidated financial statements, have been ERZHE] NS T BB ISR %R
issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early EAEBEELALERNER Y 540 ER
adopted by the Group. B -
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Amendments to HKFRS 3, Business Combinations'
Cycle
BBV BWMEEL2015—2017F B2 FEE BEVBMELEAEIIN [EBEH] ZBTA
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Amendments to HKFRS 11, Joint Arrangements!
Cycle
BBV BWEER2015—2017F BB FEE BEMBREERFEI115R [5ELH] 2BFTA
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Amendments to HKAS 12, Income Taxes'
Cycle
BBV MELEL2015—2017F BB FEE BELERE125 [FEHR] 2B
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Amendments to HKAS 23, Borrowing Costs!
Cycle
BBV BWEER2015—2017F BB FEE BEGTERIFE23R [BEKARN] ZIBFTA
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures'
BAEEERIE 285 2155] REFERR REERE RN R
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation’
BB BwEERNFEIR 2 IEF] R IR (E 1R BT 8 R
HKFRS 16 Leases'
BB EwEERE1655 HE
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments'
a5 (AR BHRERELZES) —2EF23%0 FRiSTiBRIE 2 THEE 1
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
HKAS 28 its Associate or Joint Venture*
ARV WELEIZ105 RESGFTEAFE28 REFHEEBMENANEGELECAHEIFAZE!
ZERT
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of Business?®
BB WG LR35 2(E5] EBEES
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material®

EREEHENFIRNBEGIERNESR 2EF] BEREH?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020

8 Effective for transaction that occurs on or after 1 January
2020

& The amendments were originally intended to be effective for

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The effective
date has now been deferred/removed. Early application of the

amendments continue to be permitted.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

Except as explained below, the adoption of these new/

revised HKFRSs has no material impact on the Group’s

financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 - Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

The amendments clarify that prepayable financial assets
with negative compensation can be measured at amortised
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income
if specified conditions are met — instead of at fair value
through profit or loss.

HKFRS 16 - Leases

HKFRS 16, which upon the effective date will supersede
HKAS 17 “Leases” and related interpretations, introduces
a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to
recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term
of more 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low
value. Specifically, under HKFRS 16, a lessee is required to
recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use
the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing
its obligation to make lease payments. Accordingly, a lessee
should recognise depreciation of the right-of use asset
and interest on the lease liability, and also classifies cash
repayments of the lease liability into a principal portion and
an interest portion and presents them in the statement
of cash flows. Also, the right-of-use asset and the lease
liability are initially measured on a present value basis. The
measurement includes non-cancellable lease payments and
also includes payments to be made in optional periods if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend
the lease, or to exercise an option to terminate the lease.
This accounting treatment is significantly different from the
lessee accounting for leases that are classified as operating
leases under the predecessor standard, HKAS 17.

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS
17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as
operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those
two types of leases differently.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 - Leases (Continued)

At 31 December 2018, the Group, as lessee, has
non-cancellable operating lease commitment of
HK$17,983,000. A preliminary assessment indicated that
these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease
under HKFRS 16, and hence the Group will recognize a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect
of all these leases unless they quality for low value assets
or short-term leases upon the adoption of HKFRS 16. In
addition, the application of new requirements may result in
changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as
indicated above.

The Group plans to elect to use the modified retrospective
approach for the adoption of IFRS 16 and will recognise the
cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment to
the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2019 and will
not restate the comparative information.

Other than the recognition of lease liabilities and right-of-use
assets, the Group expects that the transition adjustments
to be made upon the initial adoption of IFRS 16 will not be
material. However, the expected changes in accounting
policies as described above could have a material impact on
the Group’s financial statement from 2019 onwards.

HK(IFRIC) - Int 23 - Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

The Interpretation supports the requirements of HKAS 12,
Income Taxes, by providing guidance over how to reflect
the effects of uncertainty in accounting for income taxes.
Under the Interpretation, the entity shall determine whether
to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or
together based on which approach better predicts the
resolution of the uncertainty. The entity shall also assume
the tax authority will examine amounts that it has a right to
examine and have full knowledge of all related information
when making those examinations. If the entity determines
it is probable that the tax authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment, then the entity should measure current and
deferred tax in line with its tax filings. If the entity determines
it is not probable, then the uncertainty in the determination
of tax is reflected using either the “most likely amount” or
the “expected value” approach, whichever better predicts
the resolution of the uncertainty.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle -

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income Taxes

The amendments issued under the annual improvements
process make small, non-urgent changes to standards
where they are currently unclear. They include amendments
to HKAS 12 which clarify that all income tax consequences
of dividends are recognised consistently with the
transactions that generated the distributable profits, either
in profit or loss, other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 - Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify the extent of gains or losses to be
recognised when an entity sells or contributes assets to its
associate or joint venture. When the transaction involves a
business the gain or loss is recognised in full, conversely
when the transaction involves assets that do not constitute
a business the gain or loss is recognised only to the extent
of the unrelated investors’ interests in the joint venture or
associate.

The Group is not yet in a position to state whether these
new pronouncements will result in substantial changes to
the Group’s accounting policies and financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “HKFRS”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
In addition, the financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern
assumption

(i) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared

under the historical cost basis except for certain financial

instruments, which are measured at fair values as explained

in the accounting policies set out below.

(i) Going concern basis

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had net current
liabilities of HK$951,994,000. As at that date, the Group
had total borrowings amounting to HK$477,123,000, trade
and other payables and accruals of HK$331,682,000
and convertible note with principal amount and interests
of HK$1,237,265,000. Out of which, borrowings of
HK$16,956,000, trade and other payables and accruals
of HK$331,682,000 and convertible note with principal
amount and interests of HK$1,237,265,000 would be due
for repayment within twelve months from the date of the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with the
repayment dates of the respective agreements, while the
Group only maintained its cash and cash equivalents of
HK$36,949,000.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore
it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the
Company have given careful consideration to its operating
needs, the future liquidity of the Group and its available
sources of financing in assessing whether the Group will be
able to repay the outstanding debts and be able to finance
its future working capital and other financial requirements.

3.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern
assumption (Continued)

(i) Going concern basis (Continued)

Certain measures have been and are being taken to mitigate

the liquidity pressure and to improve the financial position

of the Group, which include, but are not limited to, the

following:

(@) Three shareholders and directors of the Company
have confirmed that they will provide continuing
and sufficient support to the Group when the Group
face difficulties in repaying the overdue principal and
interests in relation to the above-mentioned borrowings
and convertible note and to finance its operations for
at least twelve months from the end of the reporting
period.

(o) The Group is actively identifying any other possible
financing options and debt restructuring exercises to
strengthen the liquidity of the Group.

The Directors have prepared a cash flow forecast of the
Group. The Directors are of the opinion that, taking into
account the above-mentioned plans and measures, the
Group would have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due within the next twelve months from the date
of the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the
directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018 on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainty exists
as to whether management of the Company will be able
to achieve its plans and measures as described above.
Whether the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern would depend upon the continuing and sufficient
support from the three shareholders and directors of the
Company to the Group to meet its operating and financing
needs in foreseeable future.

The consolidated financial statements do not include
any adjustments that may be necessary should the
going concern basis of preparation be determined to be
inappropriate. These would include any adjustments to write
down the Group’s assets to their net realisable amounts, to
provide for any liabilities which may arise and to reclassify
non-current assets and liabilities as current.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern
assumption (Continued)

(c)  Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the

Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the

primary economic environment in which the entity operates.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong

Kong dollar (“HKD”), which is also the functional currency of

the Company.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Business combination and basis of
consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”). Inter-company transactions and balances
between group companies together with unrealised profits
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the dates of acquisition or up
to the dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with
those used by other members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for
using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value
of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests
issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are principally measured
at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses
are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect,
on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the
non-controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other non-controlling interests are measured at fair value
unless another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.
Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless they
are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case the
costs are deducted from equity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(a) Business combination and basis of

consolidation (Continued)
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the

acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised
against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from
new information obtained within the measurement period
(@ maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date) about
the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration classified as an
asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i)
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest.
Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the
same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or
liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of
non-controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at
initial recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s share
of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive
income is attributed to such non-controlling interests even if
this results in those non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

(b) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able
to exercise control. The Company controls an investee if
all three of the following elements are present: power over
the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those
variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of
these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c) Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquire over the fair value of
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
exceed the aggregate of the fair value of consideration
paid, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree, the excess
is recognised in profit or loss on the acquisition date, after
re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit is the
smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash
inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows
from other assets or groups of assets. A cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually, by comparing its carrying amount with
its recoverable amount (see note 4(s)), and whenever there
is an indication that the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that financial year.
When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment
loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying
amount to each asset in the unit. However, the loss
allocated to each asset will not reduce the individual asset’s
carrying amount to below its fair value less cost of disposal
(if measurable) or its value in use (if determinable), whichever
is the higher. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
in profit or loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but not control or joint control over those
policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method
whereby they are initially recognised at cost and thereafter,
their carrying amount are adjusted for the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition change in the associates’ net assets
except that losses in excess of the Group’s interest in the
associate are not recognised unless there is an obligation to
make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the
Group and its associates are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate.
The investor’s share in the associate’s profits and losses
resulting from these transactions is eliminated against the
carrying value of the associate. Where unrealised losses
provide evidence of impairment of the asset transferred they

are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of
the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included
in the carrying amount of the associate. Where there is
objective evidence that the investment in an associate has
been impaired, the carrying amount of the investment is
tested for impairment in the same way as other non-financial
assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e) Joint arrangements

The group is a party to a joint arrangement where there is a
contractual arrangement that confers joint control over the
relevant activities of the arrangement to the group and at
least one other party. Joint control is assessed under the
same principles as control over subsidiaries.

The group classifies its interests in joint arrangements as
either:

o Joint ventures: where the group has rights to only the
net assets of the joint arrangement; or

o Joint operations: where the group has both the rights
to assets and obligations for the liabilities of the joint
arrangement.

In assessing the classification of interests in joint
arrangements, the Group considers:

o The structure of the joint arrangement;

o The legal form of joint arrangements structured
through a separate vehicle;

o The contractual terms of the joint arrangement
agreement; and

o Any other facts and circumstances (including any other
contractual arrangements).

The Group accounts for its interests in joint ventures in the
same manner as investments in associates (i.e. using the
equity method — see note 4(d)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e) Joint arrangements (Continued)

Any premium paid for an investment in a joint venture above
the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised
and included in the carrying amount of the investment in
joint venture. Where there is objective evidence that the
investment in a joint venture has been impaired the carrying
amount of the investment is tested for impairment in the
same way as other non-financial assets.

The Group accounts for its interests joint operations by
recognising its share of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses in accordance with its contractually conferred
rights and obligations.

(f) Property, plant and equipment

The property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion
of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and
the drilling of development wells is capitalised as oil and gas
properties under property, plant and equipment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over
their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis except
for oil and gas properties which are depreciated by the
units of production method. The useful lives, residual value
and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The useful
lives are as follows:

- Building 20 years
- Leasehold The shorter of their
improvements estimated useful lives

or the lease term
- Compressed natural 20 years
gas (“CNG”) station,

building and ancillary

facilities
- Oil and gas Unit-of-production
properties method utilising only

proved and probable
oil and gas reserve as
the depletion base

- Furniture, fixtures and 3 - 10 years
office equipment
- Motor vehicles 4 - 5 years

Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment
losses. Cost comprises direct costs of construction as
well as borrowing costs capitalized during the periods of
construction and installation. Capitalisation of these costs
ceases and the construction in progress is transferred to
the appropriate class of property, plant and equipment
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the
assets for their intended use are completed. No depreciation
is provided for in respect of construction in progress until it
is completed and ready for its intended use.

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in
profit or loss on disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(g) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

() Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is fair value at the date of acquisition.
Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their

useful lives as follows:

- QOil and gas operation rights Unit-of-production
method utilising
only proved and
probable oil and
gas reserve as the
depletion base

- Favourable supplier contract 10 years

Motor vehicle registration licenses with indefinite useful lives
are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

The amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss and
included in direct costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(g) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

(i) Impairment

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for impairment

when there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible

assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment

annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication

that they may be impaired. Intangible assets are tested for

impairment by comparing their carrying amounts with their

recoverable amounts (see note 4(s)).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount; however, the carrying
amount should not be increased above the lower of its
recoverable amount and the carrying amount that would
have resulted had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. All reversals are recognised in the
income statement immediately.

(h) Oil and gas exploration and evaluation
assets

Oil and gas exploration and evaluation activity involves the

search for mineral resources, the determination of technical

feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of an

identified resource.

The licence costs paid in connection with a right to explore
are capitalised as oil and gas exploration and evaluation
asset. Once the legal right to explore has been acquired,
costs directly associated with an exploration well are
capitalised as gas exploration and evaluation assets until
the drilling of the well is complete and the results have
been evaluated. These costs include directly attributable
employee remuneration, materials and fuel used, rig costs
and payments made to contractors.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h) Oil and gas exploration and evaluation
assets (Continued)

Geological and geophysical costs are also capitalised as oil

and gas exploration and evaluation asset.

If extractable coalbed methane or oil are found and, subject
to further appraisal activity (e.g., the drilling of additional
wells), are likely to be capable of being commercially
developed, the costs continue to be carried as an intangible
assets while sufficient/continued progress is made in
assessing the commerciality of the coalbed methane or oil.
Costs directly associated with appraisal activity undertaken
to determine the size, characteristics and commercial
potential of a reservoir following the initial discovery of
coalbed methane, including the costs of appraisal wells
where coalbed methane or oil were not found, are initially
capitalised as an intangible asset.

All such capitalised costs are subject to technical,
commercial and management review as well as review for
indicators of impairment at least once a year. This is to
confirm the continued intent to develop or otherwise extract
value from the discovery. When this is no longer the case,
the costs are written off to profit or loss.

When proved reserves of coalbed methane or oil are
identified, development is sanctioned by management and
approved by relevant government bodies, the relevant
capitalised expenditure is first assessed for impairment and
(if required) any impairment loss is recognised, then the
remaining balance is reclassified to intangible assets and oil
and gas properties under property, plant and equipment.
After reclassification, amortisation or depreciation will be
provided for the respective assets consistent with the
relevant accounting policy. No amortisation or depreciation
is charged during the exploration and evaluation phase.

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

4.

EEEHBUGR ()
(h) HERBERFEEE (R

o B % 3 BR ) 3B AK AN IR B AR AL 2% R B
REFHEEE

WmERAERRERL AR AREE
—FRHEES (Pl S ER) - ZF
HRERAIRERESVETTE X% - AT
HRER EEUERNGRD MELER
B RASESIERBETEE AR - &
RBERERERAOBMZRETZIERE
EEBZARN BUERBEENZFH
ABEREB KA (BRFBRER
RERSK A MR ZKA) BNEE
AMEREREE -

FMBZEERCRAGFELAER —
REEM  BERERER  UKRERE
B N EEBEMBERARLMS N
EREERFEBECEE - MBEREE
BRAKAER BT -

FETRERAOAHLEREFE A
EEEREBRTHED tEFRE
BRER RS ERRZBENER
TAREBEESERR (WLE) 2
& HNAERBEFTIBEBTLEER
ME BMEMKBETZHREE &
MoBRE BREABEABER S
HEEREHEINERB EHRR
AP B AR - AEEREEKITE -



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
() Payments for leasehold land held for own
use

Payments for leasehold land held for own use under
operating leases represent up-front payments to acquire
long-term interests in lessee-occupied properties. These
payments are stated at cost and are amortised over the
period of the lease on a straight-line basis as an expense.

() Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee

The total rentals payable under the operating leases are
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised as an
integrated part of the total rental expense, over the term of
the lease.

(k) Financial instruments
A  Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018

(i) Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a
significant financing component) is initially measured at fair
value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable
to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a
significant financing component is initially measured at the
transaction price.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

A  Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are

recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the

Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular

way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial

assets that require delivery of assets within the period

generally established by regulation or convention in the

market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered
in their entirely when determining whether their cash flows
are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Company’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Company classifies
its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective interest rate
method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”):
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest,
are measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Debt investments at FVOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the
effective interest rate method, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other
net gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(k) Financial instruments (Continued)
A Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018
(Continued)
(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)
Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”): Financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets
held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial
assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the
near term. Derivatives, not designated as effective hedging
instruments and financial assets was include embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of
principal and interest are classified and measured at FVTPL,
irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the
criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortised
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income,
as described above, debt instruments may be designated
at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if
doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting
mismatch.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not
held for trading and not contingent consideration required
by an acquirer in a business combination, the Company
could irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
the investment’s fair value in other comprehensive income.
This election is made on an investment-by-investment
basis. Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair value. Dividend
income are recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend
income clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of
the investments. Other net gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income and are not reclassified
to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are classified
as FVTPL, whereby changes in fair value, dividends and
interest income are recognised in profit or loss. Dividend
income are recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend
income clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of
the investments. Other net gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income and are not reclassified
to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are classified
as FVTPL, whereby changes in fair value, dividends and
interest income are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

A Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Company recognises loss allowances for expected

credit loss (“ECL”) on financial assets measured at

amortised cost. The ECLs are measured on either of the

following bases: (1) 12-month ECLs: these are the ECLs

that result from possible default events within twelve

months after the reporting date: and (2) lifetime ECLs: these

are ECLs that result from all possible default events over

the expected life of a financial instrument. The maximum

period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum

contractual period over which the Company is exposed to

credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Company in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Company expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’ original
effective interest rate.

The Company has elected to measure loss allowances for
trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and
has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Company
has established a provision matrix that is based on the
Company’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other financial assets, the ECLs are based on the
12-month ECLs. However, when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be
based on the lifetime ECLs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

A Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018

(Continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

Stage 1: Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs;

Stage 2: Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs;

Stage 3: Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition and when
estimating ECL, the Company considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information analysis, based on the Company’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

A Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial

asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days

past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Company considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse
by the Company to actions such as realising security (if any
is held); or
due; unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

(2) the financial asset is more than 90 days past

information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.
For non credit-impaired financial assets interest income is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount.

(iii)  Financial liabilities

The Company classifies its financial liabilities, depending on
the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially
measured at fair value and financial liabilities at amortised
costs are initially measured at fair value, net of directly
attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

A Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

(iii)  Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

(Continued)

Where a contract contains one or more embedded

derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be designated as

a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss, except

where the embedded derivative does not significantly modify

the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded

derivative is prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss if the following criteria
are met: (i) the designation eliminates or significantly
reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise
arise from measuring the liabilities or recognising gains or
losses on them on a different basis; (ii) the liabilities are part
of a group of financial liabilities which are managed and their
performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with a documented risk management strategy; or (iii) the
financial liability contains an embedded derivative that would
need to be separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise, except for the gains and
losses arising from the Company’s own credit risk which
are presented in other comprehensive income with no
subsequent reclassification to the statement of profit or loss.
The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement
of profit or loss does not include any interest charged on
these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade
and other payables, borrowings and the debt element
of convertible loan note issued by the Company are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.
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Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

A Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

(iv)  Convertible notes

Convertible loan notes issued by the Group that contain

both the liability and conversion option components are

classified separately into their respective items on initial

recognition. Conversion option that will be settled by the

exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial

asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity

instruments is classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component
is determined using the prevailing market interest of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference between the proceeds
of the issue of the convertible loan notes and the fair
value assigned to the liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to convert the loan notes
into equity, is included in equity (convertible note equity
reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible loan notes is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The equity component,
represented by the option to convert the liability component
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in
convertible note equity reserve until the embedded option
is exercised in which case the balance stated in convertible
note equity reserve will be transferred to share capital and
share premium. Where the option remains unexercised at
the expiry dates, the balance stated in convertible note
equity reserve will be released to the accumulated losses.
No gain or loss is recognised upon conversion or expiration
of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
loan notes are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of the proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible loan notes using the effective interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

A Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

(v)  Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating

the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability

and of allocating interest income or interest expense over

the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate

that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or

payments through the expected life of the financial asset or

liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(vi)  Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

(vii)  Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
original or modified terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract issued by the Group and not designated
as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised initially
at its fair value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee contract.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contact at the higher of: (i) the amount
of the loss allowance, being the ECL provision measured
in accordance with principles of the accounting policy set
out in 4(k)A(ii); and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

A Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

(viii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the

contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to

the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has

been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for

derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a
creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a
result of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity
instruments issued are the consideration paid and are
recognised initially and measured at their fair value on the
date the financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If
the fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot be
reliably measured, the equity instruments are measured to
reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability or part thereof extinguished and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.

B Accounting policies applied until 31 December
2017

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively, but has

elected not to restate comparative information. Accordingly,

the comparative financial information provided continues to

be accounted for in accordance with the group’s previous

accounting policy.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(k) Financial instruments (Continued)
B Accounting policies applied until 31 December
2017 (Continued)
(i) Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition,
depending on the purpose for which the asset was
acquired. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are initially measured at fair value and all other financial
assets are initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial assets. Regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale
of a financial asset under a contract whose terms require
delivery of the asset within the time frame established
generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace
concerned.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

These assets include financial assets held for trading.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments or financial guarantee
contracts.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

Loans and receivables

These assets are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. They arise principally through the provision
of goods and services to customers (trade debtors), and
also incorporate other types of contractual monetary
asset. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

B Accounting policies applied until 31 December
2017 (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

These assets are non-derivative financial assets that are

designated as available-for-sale or are not included in

other categories of financial assets. Subsequent to initial

recognition, these assets are carried at fair value with

changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive

income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange

gains and losses on monetary instruments, which are

recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting period,
whether there is any objective evidence that financial asset
is impaired. Financial asset is impaired if there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events
that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include:

° significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

° granting concession to a debtor because of debtor’s
financial difficulty; and

° it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

B Accounting policies applied until 31 December
2017 (Continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

For Loans and receivables

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when

there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and

is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying

amount and the present value of the estimated future cash

flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. The

carrying amount of financial asset is reduced through the

use of an allowance account. When any part of financial

asset is determined as uncollectible, it is written off against

the allowance account for the relevant financial asset.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods
when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, subject to a restriction that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.

For Available-for-sale financial assets

Where a decline in the fair value constitutes objective
evidence of impairment, the amount of the loss is removed
from equity and recognised in profit or loss.

For available-for-sale equity investment, any increase in fair
value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

B Accounting policies applied until 31 December
2017 (Continued)

(iii)  Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on

the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially

measured at fair value and financial liabilities at amortised

costs are initially measured at fair value, net of directly

attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be designated as
a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss, except
where the embedded derivative does not significantly modify
the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded
derivative is prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss if the following criteria
are met: (i) the designation eliminates or significantly
reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise
arise from measuring the liabilities or recognising gains or
losses on them on a different basis; (ii) the liabilities are part
of a group of financial liabilities which are managed and their
performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with a documented risk management strategy; or (iii) the
financial liability contains an embedded derivative that would
need to be separately recorded.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

B Accounting policies applied until 31 December
2017 (Continued)

(iii)  Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

(Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair

value through profit or loss are measured at fair value,

with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they arise.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and
other payables, borrowings and the debt element of
convertible loan note issued by the Group are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is recognised in profit
or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

(iv)  Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Group that contain both the
liability and conversion option components are classified
separately into their respective items on initial recognition.
Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange
of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a
fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is
classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component
is determined using the prevailing market interest of
similar non-convertible debts. The difference between the
proceeds of the issue of the convertible notes and the fair
value assigned to the liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to convert the loan notes
into equity, is included in equity (convertible note equity
reserve).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

B Accounting policies applied until 31 December
2017 (Continued)

(iv)  Convertible notes (Continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the

convertible notes is carried at amortised cost using

the effective interest method. The equity component,

represented by the option to convert the liability component

into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in

convertible note equity reserve until the embedded option

is exercised when the balance stated in convertible notes

equity reserve will be translated to share premium. Where

the option remains unexercised at the expiry dates, the

balance stated in convertible note equity reserve will

be released to accumulated losses. No gain or loss is

recognised upon conversion or expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
notes are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component are charged
directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability
component are included in the carrying amount of the
liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible notes using the effective interest method.

Convertible notes with conversion options which are not
settled by exchanging a fixed amount of cash for a fixed
number of the Company’s own shares comprise a derivative
component and a liability component.

At initial recognition the derivative component of the
convertible notes is measured at fair value. Any excess
of the proceeds over the amount initially recognised as
the derivative component is recognised as the liability
component. Transaction costs relating to the issue of the
convertible notes are allocated to the liability and derivative
components in proportion to the allocation of proceeds.
The portion of the transaction costs relating to the liability
component is recognised initially as part of the liability
component. The portion relating to the derivative component
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

B Accounting policies applied until 31 December
2017 (Continued)

(iv)  Convertible notes (Continued)

The derivative component is subsequently remeasured at

fair value, with changes in fair value recognised immediately

in profit or loss. The liability component is subsequently

measured at amortised cost. The interest expense

recognised in profit or loss on the liability component is

calculated using the effective interest method. The liability

component is classified as current liabilities unless the

Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of

the liability for at least twelve months after the end of the

reporting period.

(v)  Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income or interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(vi)  Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

(vii)  Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

B Accounting policies applied until 31 December
2017 (Continued)

(vii)  Derecognition (Continued)

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a

creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a

result of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity

instruments issued are the consideration paid and are

recognised initially and measured at their fair value on the

date the financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If

the fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot be

reliably measured, the equity instruments are measured to

reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished.

The difference between the carrying amount of the financial

liability or part thereof extinguished and the consideration

paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.

(viii) Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
original or modified terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract issued by the Group and not designated
as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised initially
at its fair value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee contract.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contact at the higher of: (i) the amount
determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
HKAS 18 Revenue.

() Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m) Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

(n) Provision and contingent liabilities

(i) Provisions

General

Provision are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount
of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(n) Provision and contingent liabilities
(Continued)
(i) Provisions (Continued)
Decommissioning liability
Decommissioning liability is recognised when the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
of the amount of obligation can be made. A corresponding
amount equivalent to the provision is recognised as part of
the cost of the related oil and gas properties. The amount
recognised is the estimated cost of decommissioning,
discounted to its present value. Changes in the estimated
timing of decommissioning or decommissioning cost
estimates are dealt with prospectively by recording
an adjustment to the provision, and a corresponding
adjustment to oil and gas properties.

(i) Contingent liability

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past
events that is not recognised because it is not probable
that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that the outflow is probable, it will then
be recognised as a provision.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(o) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprise current tax and deferred
tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except for
goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax liabilities
are recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred
tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to the expected
manner in which the carrying amount of the asset or
liability is realised or settled and that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates
and jointly controlled entities, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income in which case the taxes are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or when they relate to items
recognised directly in equity in which case the taxes are
also recognised directly in equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(p) Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies
other than the currency of the primary economic
environment in which they operate (the “functional
currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end of
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly
in other comprehensive income, in which case, the
exchange differences are also recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating to those ruling when the transactions took
place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations
are translated at the rate ruling at the end of reporting
period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
as foreign exchange reserve (attributed to minority interests
as appropriate). Exchange differences recognised in profit
or loss of group entities’ separate financial statements on
the translation of long-term monetary items forming part
of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(p) Foreign currencies (Continued)

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange
differences recognised in the exchange reserve relating to
that operation up to the date of disposal are reclassified to
profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in the exchange
reserve.

() Employee benefits

(i)~ Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other
than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled
wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual
reporting period in which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits are recognised in the
year when the employees render the related service.

(i) Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss when the services
are rendered by the employees.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the Scheme. The
assets of the Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
contributions as employer vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the Scheme.

The Group has joined a mandatory central pension
scheme organised by the PRC government for certain of
its employees, the assets of which are held separately
from those of the Group. Contributions made are based
on a percentage of the eligible employees’ salaries and
are charged to profit or loss as they became payable, in
accordance with the rules of the scheme. The employer’s
contributions vest fully once they are made.

4.

B4 %5 ¥R 3% P 5

201812 H31H

FEEFBR(R)

(p) M85 (8&)

HEBINEBER  INERBEAERZE
BREHERHLZRFELEZERKE
MOBERAK FALERGEZ &

e

200551 A1B sz & - MU B INE
BREEZAMWBAIHINEEZAER
ARFERABDERBZSINEBZEER
BERIE WRBEAMBRE 2B
ERETRE -EEZERZZ TN
PE & N HERR o

() ESEF

() FEHESIEF

MR E RN EEBEERESIRHEAR
R zFERERERE+ @A MK
A EEENZEBERAN (B LB
5N - REHE B AR A B B 1R AR B AR
B2 FEER -

(i)  RERZLLEMNKE
[7) 5 E fFOR RET BIME L 2 R NME B
RERBHEEBRREANER S °

AEERBERBELTESTIEL - &
HEEMARERERIAEHFCABER
B RKRBENEE ([ZETE)) - ]HRTY
NEBZ2EXAFHE AN L ARE
&t Bl Z RN BN AR SRR -
LTSI ZEENERRN —EBLER 2
EeR EAKEZEEIRAFA -8
AEERZAEHKIEK BREAETE
FHEEHK

AERECAETERESNATERGTE
BZRFMERRERESE  FHEE
BEAEEEESRATA - HHRTDUAEE
REBZF AN LIEL  LAREE
ZHRANENBERERAMR - BX
ERRELERBAN2HBBES -

2018 F 8 | HEEHRERERAA

127




128

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(r) Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected
to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss over the remaining
vesting period, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share option reserve.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
other parties are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where the fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at
the date the Group obtains the goods or the counterparty
renders the service.

For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability equal to
the portion of the goods or services received is recognised
at the current fair value determined at the end of each
reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(s) Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of the following assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

e property, plant and equipment under cost model;

e intangible assets;

e 0il and gas exploration and evaluation assets; and

e investments in subsidiaries, joint venture and associate

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset or cash generating
unit (see note 4(c)), discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or cash generating unit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(t) Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets which require
a substantial period of time to be ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. Income earned on temporary investments of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on those assets
is deducted from borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

(u) Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a systematic basis
in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset
are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
consequently are effectively recognised in profit or loss over
the useful life of the asset by way of reduced depreciation
expense.

(v) Related parties

(i) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(@) has control or joint control over the Group;

(b) has significant influence over the Group; or

(c) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)
(i)

(a)

Related parties (Continued)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is joint venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (i).

A person identified in (i)(a) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity

and include:

(@)

(0)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(w) Revenue recognition

A.  Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may
be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods or service is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

(@) provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

(o) creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

(c) does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the goods or service.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(w) Revenue recognition (Continued)

A. Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

(i) Sales of coalbed methane (“CBM”)

Revenue from sales of CBM through pipelines is recognised

when the coalbed methane passes through the built-in

gas metre which is taken to be the point in time when the

customer has accepted the coalbed methane delivered

and the related risks and rewards of ownership has been

transferred.

(i) Sales of raw and cleaned coal

Revenue from sales of raw and cleaned coal is recognised
when the raw and/or cleaned coal is delivered to customers’
designated location and the customer accepts and takes
control of the raw and/or cleaned coal. There is generally
one performance obligation and the consideration includes
no variable element.

Receipt in advance related to consideration received for the
sales of raw and/or cleaned coal are included in “Trade and
other payables and accruals”.

(iii)  Other income

Interest income

Interest income, which mainly includes interest income from
financial services and bank interest income, is accrued
on a time-apportioned basis by reference to the principal
outstanding using the effective interest method.

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

Upon initial adoption of HKFRS15, receipts in advance
represent contract liabilities within the scope of HKFRS 15.
The Group continue to include it under “Trade and other
payables and accruals”.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(w) Revenue recognition (Continued)

A. Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Contract costs

The Group recognises an asset from the costs incurred to

fulfil a contract when those costs meet all of the following

criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to
satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and

(c) the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset recognised is subsequently amortised to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which
the cost relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.

B.  Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances and
excluded value added tax or other sales related taxes.

(i) Sales of CBM

Revenue from sales of CBM through pipelines is recognised
when the coalbed methane passes through the built-in
gas metre which is taken to be the point in time when the
customer has accepted the coalbed methane delivered
and the related risks and rewards of ownership has been
transferred.

(i) Sales of raw and cleaned coal

Revenue from sales of raw and cleaned coal is recognised
when the raw and/or cleaned coal is loaded to the
customers’ truck which is taken to be the point in time when
the customer has accepted the raw and/or cleaned coal
delivered and the related risks and rewards of ownership
has been transferred.

(iii)  Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time-apportioned basis by
reference to the principal outstanding using the effective
interest method.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

(@) CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

(i) Units of production for depreciation and amortisation
Oil and gas properties are depreciated and intangible
assets are amortised using the units of production method
over total proved developed and undeveloped oil and gas
reserves. This results in depreciation and amortisation
charge proportional to the depletion of the anticipated
remaining production from the field. Each item’s life, which
is assessed annually, having regard to both its physical life
limitations and to present assessments of economically
recoverable reserves of the field at which the asset is
located. These calculations require the use of estimates
and assumptions, including the amount of recoverable
reserves. The calculation of the units of production rate of
depreciation and amortisation could be affected by actual
future production which may differ from current forecast
production based on total proved reserves. Changes to
proved reserves could arise due to changes in the factors
or assumptions used in estimating reserves, including price
assumptions. If there is any changes in the assumptions
used, the calculation will be changed prospectively.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(a) CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
(Continued)

(i) Going concern assessment

As disclosed in Note 3(b)(iij to the consolidated financial

statements, there are number of conditions indicate the

existence of material uncertainty which may cast significant

doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going

concern and, therefore it may be unable to realise its assets

and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

The Directors have prepared a cash flow forecast of the
Group and are of the opinion that, taking into account
the plans and measures mentioned in Note 3(b)(ii), the
Group would have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due within the next twelve months from the date
of the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the
directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018 on a going concern basis, notwithstanding material
uncertainty exists.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in note 4, management has made
certain key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimated uncertainty at the end of reporting
period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, as discussed below.

(i) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset, which
requires significant judgment relating to level of revenue
and amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount that is a
reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of revenue and operating
costs. Changes in these estimates could have a significant
impact on the carrying value of the assets and could result
in additional impairment charge or reversal of impairment in
future periods.

(i) Impairment allowance on financial assets measured at
amortised cost

The Group makes allowances for financial assets measured
at amortised cost based on assumptions about risk of
default and expected loss rates. The Group used judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past history,
existing market conditions as well as forward-looking
estimates as at year ended date.

The Group’s management reassesses the impairment of
financial assets measured at amortised cost as at the year
ended date. Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such differences will affect the carrying
value of receivables and thus the impairment loss in the year
in which such estimate is changed.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(iii)  Income tax and deferred tax
The Group is subject to income tax in a number of
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. Transactions
and calculations may exist for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated
tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised to the extent
that management considers it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets
and tax in the periods in which such estimate is changed.

(iv)  Contingencies

Periodically, the Group assesses potential liabilities related
to any lawsuits or claims brought against the Group or
any asserted claims. Although it is typically very difficult
to determine the timing and ultimate outcome of such
actions, the Group uses its best judgement to determine
if it is probable that it will incur an expense related to the
settlement or final adjudication of such matters and whether
a reasonable estimation of such probable loss, if any,
can be made. In accordance with HKAS 37, Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, the Group
accrues a liability when it believes a loss is probable and
the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Due to
the inherent uncertainties related to the eventual outcome
of litigation, although the Group believes that the estimates
and judgement are reasonable, it is possible that certain
matters may be resolved for amounts materially different
from any estimated provisions or previous disclosures.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(v)  Estimation of assets retirement obligations
Provision is recognised for the future decommissioning
and restoration of oil and gas properties. The amount of
provision recognised is the present value of the estimate
future expenditure. The estimation of the future expenditure
is based on current local conditions and requirements,
including legal requirements, technology, price level, etc.
In addition to these factors, the present value of these
estimated future expenditure is also impacted by the
estimation of the economic lives of oil and gas properties.
Changes in any of these estimates will impact the operating
results and the financial position of the Group over the
remaining economic lives of the oil and gas properties.

(vi)  Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires the directors to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash generating unit and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value.

(vii)  Fair value measurements

A number of assets and liabilities included in the Group’s
financial statements require measurement at, and/or
disclosure of, fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial
and non-financial assets and liabilities utilises market
observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used
in determining fair value measurements are categorised
into different levels based on how observable the inputs
used in the valuation technique utilised are (the ‘fair value
hierarchy’):

o Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for
identical items (unadjusted);

° Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs
other than Level 1 inputs;

o Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived

from market data).

5.

B4 %5 ¥R 3% P 5

201812 H31H

EXEHHE R MGzt FHAE
RZEEERE(E)

(b) fESTREAERZ EEER
(&)

) HEEZEHEZIZ
AEERAREERKZRENREER
REE HeBHER/MEFRRAX
ZHRE - ARAXZEANDERE IR
BiRAREBREEL  BREAERE
R REBRKFEE BRZERARIN Y
HREERBEFHRZGTEFEME
AKAXZHE - FAZEGHFTZED
BEEAEERNMREEZNBREESF
HARZRERERI BRI

i) BEBE
ErRESt R B REAGAEENS
ERGELEBEMN2EREE -FAEER
BERFEERESRARSELENAY
BELEZRERERABE IR KA
HHME-

(vi) AFEHE
FINAEEHBHEZETFEAERE B
EREAFEN R KHBEATE -

AREYHERFVYBEERBBEZIAF
EfERAEERAMSAIBEE28 R
B - BEATFEAEMRAZZ2E8RE
IR AEERMAER 228N BER
BFHEERTRER(TATFERERD

o F1R: ERMBSYHMARIERZR
B OCREHE)

o F2/R: FIMBBUAINZAHEER
EREER28

o FE3: EEERZ2HB(ALIFR
BHSEHE) -

2018 F 8 | HEEHRERERAA

139




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

* 5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 5. EXEsHHE & AHBAEA

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION EZ2EEHE(45)

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (b) EFIAHBHEZEZEEERRE
(Continued) (&)

(vii)  Fair value measurements (Continued) i) N FEFE (&)

The classification of an item into the above levels is based RE-—HBEREAS LBAFERTIERAR

on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a significant ABERZAVFEFEREAFENS

effect on the fair value measurement of the item. Transfers HreREER EEREER 2 HER
of items between levels are recognised in the period they TR B EHE AR -

oceur.

The Group measures a number of items at fair value: REERRATEFEZEER -

*  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note e RATEFRERIEZHBEE
23); (P 3¥23)

e Equity investments designated at fair value through s BEREATEZBHEMEZENKE
other comprehensive income and available for sale PR RERERAIHEESHE
investments (note 24); and E (KisE24) s &

e Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss s BAVEEBBRIIKZIVBKAR
(note 33) (P 5£33)

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value B LAMIEE AT EFEZE—FER

measurement of the items above, please refer to the BHREBEAKE -

applicable notes.
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REVENUE 6.
The revenue of the Group are derived from (i) exploration,
development and production of coalbed methane, (i) raw

coal washing and sale of raw and cleaned coal, and (iii)
provision for financial services.

Revenue from contracts with customers within the scope of
HKFRS 15 are disaggregated as follows:

B4 %5 ¥R 3% P 5

201812 H31H

—f £
AEBZFELEBERA0)DE A
BREERER (\RELEMEER
BB R (iR B R -

BEMNBREEYNFEISREEN TS
BHWEDEWT

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FABT
Revenue from contracts with HHEMBHREERE1555
customers within the scope of SENRERTEZ
HKFRS 15 are disaggregated EEAHWRNT -
by products:
Coalbed methane HER 89,406 76,663
Raw and cleaned coal JR I Ko A8 & 331,488 417,637
420,894 494,300
Revenue from other sources: HhRiE 2z :
Interest income from financial services B %% AR % A1l 2 Uz A 6,973 3,635
427,867 497,935

Note:

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using the cumulative
effect method. Under this method, the comparative information is

not restated and was prepared in accordance with HKAS 18.

B o -
A B ) BB B IS R R R B 155 -

YEBRFAFEE - REZT L LREH
TABINREEBEGAHEAFISHERH -
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° 6. REVENUE (Continued) 6. EuuE (@)
Disaggregation by the timing of revenue recognition and U S R B B R TS [ B
7 4R850 Bl 5 15(2) B2 (o) () B& ©

by geographic markets is disclosed in notes 15(a) and (b)(i)
respectively.

TR R B3 A TE A5 B 8 12 I
BAREFANZANBEZAR -

The following table provides information about trade
receivables after ECL and contract liabilities from contracts

with customers.

31 December 1 January

2018 2018

20184 20184

12A31H 1H1H

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FHET

Receivables (note 27) JRE UK BR R (Bt E27) 21,696 8,035
Receipt in advance (note 30) TE U 5k 3A (FT5E30) - 34,972

BURFIREREERKRBERBE TP I
Rz EMEE -

Receipt in advance related to the consideration received
from customers for the sales of raw and cleaned coal.

BREMNB BT BRELEDE155K1% -
BRAIBEEGNBE AEBEEKE
RIEMER EMEMKEBERERE
BIBETE2H BEFPNHEESANTE
E—FRNET - B ZE2018F1A18 2 84
recognised as revenue during the year ended 31 December HEREZE2018F12 831 H I FE NE
2018. RREREE -

Upon initial adoption of HKFRS15, receipts in advance
represent contract liabilities. The Group continues to report
it under “Trade and other payables and accruals”. The
sales contracts with customers are generally satisfied within
one year. The balance as of 1 January 2018 has been
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OTHER INCOME 7. HipgA ’
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FATT
Interest income B WA
- bank deposits —RITFE R 41 81
— short-term investment —REHKE 9,922 9,638
— others (note (a)) — H A (Ft5E(@)) 20,573 20,424

Total interest income on financial assets Z# K ANt E 2 B IS E &

measured at amortised cost Z B A B 30,536 30,143
Government subsidies and grants RS #68 B K 48 B (B9 5% (b))
(note (b)) 25,866 29,447
Others Hh 570 1,288
56,972 60,878
Notes: B E
(@) It represents the interest income from the refundable deposits (@ WhnAsgkENEXNEEZENA]
paid for possible acquisitions of Canada oil fields. Details BRERSOF WA -FRBHL2HM
please refer to note 27(d). FF27(d) °
(b) It represents the regular subsidies received during the year (o) Lt 75 #E BE BT BB FT ¥ 20174 (2017
from relevant government authority on the sales of CBM for F:RBE016F) EECEERES
the year of 2017 (2017: for the year of 2016) and VAT refund SR A U B BB R B B MBS
of July to December 2017 (2017: from December 2015 to EBF9IR 20177 H =128 (20174 -
June 2017) on the sales of CBM from local tax bureau. Both 201512 A £2017F6H) 2 BEF -
of them were generated from the Sanjiao CBM Project. MEHRBEE=EERER
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31 December 2018

* 8. OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET 8. Hit(&HE) Mani$sE
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FH T
Change in fair value of financial assets  ZAFEBEB/IEZIIERZ

at fair value through profit or loss I EEAFEED 29,131 43,275
Change in fair value of financial liabilities & A FEFEBIBZFIERZ

at fair value through profit or loss BaBEAFEZS (FFES3)

(note 33) 37,638 187,042
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 20) BRI EEBE (F15E20) (39,244) (46,705)
Impairment loss on other receivables* H b & W AR 3RO B B 1R - (377)
Impairment loss on loans receivable* & W E SRR (B s R - (4,612)
Impairment loss on intangible assets | EERERE (ME19)

(note 19) (45,734) -
Written off of property, plant and EHEYE - BEREE

equipment (163) (35)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and H&EWE - BE K& E TS W E

equipment 59 28
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale TEMHEESCHREENEE

investments - (1,606)
Reclassification from equity to profitor HEAHHECHEERBESE

loss on disposal of available-for-sale Mo iEs

investments - (260)
Exchange (losses)/gains, net BE 3 (&518), Wz 5 58 (8,033) 1,556
Expected credit losses on financial REHEK AT EZ

assets measured at amortised cost* WBEE 2 BHRERBE (31,769) =
Others Hh 176 3,065

(57,939) 181,371

8 HE2017F12A31B L FEE 2 EKE
R H A MR R AR BB B TR B
BB QT ERFIHRET o

# Impairment losses on loans receivable and other receivables
for the year ended 31 December 2017 were determined
under HKAS 39.

* TRERNGEAZERERNER
RBHERAFEZHBEERERE

The following table shows the charges for ECLs on financial
assets measured at amortised cost for the year recognised in

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income: BEBHNFEAN

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHBT

Charge for the year: FAXM :
Other receivables (note 27(i)) E b jE W BR 5k (HE5E27 () 24,754 =
Other deposits (note 27())) E ke (HFaE27() 5,279 =
Short-term investment (note 28) EHIR & (Mf3E28) 1,736 =
31,769 -
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201812 H31H

9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. BRFIRBiXZHAIEE ’
Loss before income tax expense arrived at after charging: BRATEH X LA EEE kK :
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FABT
(a) Finance costs (a) REBRA
Interest expense for financial REBHEKATEZ
liabilities measured at PBaBEzFMERZS
amortised cost:
Interest on corporate bonds TEEBEHFZFE 34,238 31,123
Interest on borrowings BRFE 28,366 3,582
Imputed interest on convertible AMRER 2
notes (note 33) fE 5% A1 B (P 7533) 246,837 264,658
Others Hth 1,131 5,077
310,572 304,440
Other finance costs: H A gh & A
Amortisation of convertible notes AT AR AR B X 5 K AN
transaction costs (note 33) 2 85 (M93E33) 8,833 14,872
Amortisation of corporate bonds TEBFNR SN A 2 8H
transaction costs 11,926 10,822
331,331 330,134
Less: interest capitalised in W EAGKEEZ
qualifying assets* B AR F B (6,784) (7,961)
324,547 322,173
& Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on the * AFEEBALSREEZEEXRAZK A
general borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a RIZEEN— R MEEED18.0% (2017
capitalisation rate of 18.0% (2017: 17.7%) to expenditure on F17.7%) FEFAERE -

qualifying assets.
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‘ 9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE

9. RIEBIZLAIEE (&)

(Continued)
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHET
(b) Employee costs (including (b) EIRAE (BIEKEE11
directors’ remuneration in ZEEME)
note 11)
Salaries, wages and other benefits e iﬁ&ﬁﬁmﬁﬂ 42,045 41,122
Contributions to defined contribution TE B8t SRR ET 8l 2 5K
retirement plan 759 770
42,804 41,892
(c) Other items (c) HMIEH
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B AN B 1,700 1,700
Cost of inventories sold recognised EERAERNE
as expenses EFE KA 308,918 375,368
Depreciation of property, plant and W - WENREEZ
equipment (note 16) #r & (FiEE16) 34,401 53,188
Amortisation of payments for BEREE LR
leasehold land held for #3H (M eE18)
own use (note 18) 240 233
Amortisation of intangible assets* BB E 2 it
(note 19) (FF5E19) 23,373 20,251
Minimum lease payments under KEHE v EHEENRIA
operating lease — property rentals e /EXikn 9,508 12,257
® Included in “direct costs” in the consolidated statement of & SFAGETERERZIEERA] -
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda, Cayman
Islands and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Group
is not subject to any income tax under such jurisdictions for
the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazette on the following day.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of qualifying corporations will be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of corporations not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the group companies which have estimated assessable
profits subject to Hong Kong profits tax had estimated tax
losses available to offset against the estimated assessable
profits for both years.

Profits of the subsidiaries established in the PRC are subject
to the Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”). Under the Law of the
People’s Republic of China and Implementation Regulation
on EIT, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both
years.

B4 %5 ¥R 3% P 5
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10. Fif@ ¥ X i

BEERE FEHERABHER A
SRAERBA  REBHZE2018F &
201712 A31H L FE B AN HE 7
EREE 2 EAFTEE -

MR2018F3F21H BHEL LZEEB
(20175 B (BE]) (B75R) RHIER)
([MEHIEZR]) » SIAMAFIEHEHE -
& E 2= 20183 F28H R B K A %
7 IYRBATE-

BEMBAMNEREHNE  &EKRQA
E2,000,000% 7T 4 ) 1§ 128.25% Y #t
R F 0 M2,000,0005 7T JA £ i ) #5
Z16.5%M B EHI - T ERERAM
BMABHEHEN QR & & E®ER
16.5% 8 £ — Bl R HF o

HREEAR (BEEHANTEFEH
ZIEFETERBEHN) BB HEERA
HHN %W FE 2 At R R A -
WA EAHR BB NGBS

AR B A S22 B B R 2 g M 2R A b
XMW (TREMER] - REPEA
REMBERREEMSHE KD -
TENEARRZMEFEZHEGR
25% °

2018 F 8 | HEEHRERERAA

147




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10. FAfeHi X i (48)
(@) The amount of income tax expense, charged to the (a) MNiEEEeEHEBERMBAATEHX
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, H e
represents:
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FAT
Current income tax BVEA P15 750
- PRC EIT — B ERAEHR
— Tax for the year — RNFEERIE (3,400) (2,330)
— Under-provision in respect of — HAFHNEETR
prior years (878) (914)
(4,278) (3,244)
Deferred tax for the year (note 34) FREERE (H5E34) 1,319 1,709
Income tax expense TS H (2,959) (1,535)
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10. FA B H (8) :

(o) The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled b) AFEZEHRTHELGEEZHEK
to the Group’s loss before income tax expense per the HRZAEBRKRATEH Y AT EE
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as HWERIAT -
follows:

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTERT TAT

Loss before income tax expense FR P15 2 (AT &S 18 382,926 158,026

FRS %2 (AT S 1B e A5 R -
expense, calculated at 25% 1%25% (20174 : 25%) 5T &
(2017: 25%) 95,732 39,506

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries R H fth sl AR £1&E ~

Tax credit on loss before income tax

operating in other jurisdiction B AR TRME & (16,808) (5,188)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses Al #1542 H N H B R 5t

and non-taxable income WAZ R & (82,229) (31,729)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised R IR 2 % 18 518 & Fi 75 77 £ 1,224 (3,210)
Under-provision in respect of prior years ¥ & T 2 (878) (914)
Income tax expense TS = H (2,959) (1,535)

At the end of reporting period, the Group had estimated
unused tax losses of approximately HK$14,558,000 (2017:
HK$19,455,000) available for offset against future profits.
The tax losses are subject to the final assessment by the
tax authorities in the respective jurisdictions where the
tax losses arising from. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the estimated unused tax losses
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included
in unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately
HK$11,513,000 (2017: HK$16,410,000) that may be carried
forward for a period of five years from their respective year
of origination. The remaining unrecognised tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

In respect of deferred tax liabilities, details are set out in
note 34.

RRERBERE  AEBEBErA
REEMRR Nz mKEARIE
B 18 4 /514,558,000 7T (20174 :
19,455,000 7T) - MIBEBIEAFE £
MIEE B 2 B REE R 2 BB E
AR o R EETE AR G TR -
M EBL AT A ET 2 M ARB A 2 TR IBE B
BRELERBEE - st AKRBRBIEES
B2 B84 /511,513,000/ 7T (20174 :
16,410,000 ) ' B ELE S FE R
BERF - FI T ARBARABIEREER A &
MR R4S o

FRARCHEBEZFBHIINW T
34
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

¢ 11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 11. EEME
Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows: EEHEEEDT
For the year ended 31 December 2018 B E20185F12A31H L FE
Salaries, Retirement
Directors’ allowances scheme
fees and benefits contributions Total
TR 1] BRETE
EENS REH E3 @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Executive directors HITER
Dai Xiaobing E1] = - 2,535 18 2,553
King Hap Lee =BH - 2,000 18 2,018
Wan Tze Fan Terence BTE - 2,000 18 2,018
- 6,535 54 6,589
Independent non-executive directors BUEWITES
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter? HEZ? 200 - - 200
Wong Lung Tak Patrick R 200 - - 200
Wang Yanbin FER 200 - - 200
Dang Weihua BRE 200 - - 200
800 - - 800
Non-executive directors FHTES
Chen Hua PR 200 - - 200
Huang Shaowu HRE 200 - - 200
He Lin Feng AR 200 - - 200
Chen Chun Tung Jason! RHRE 24 - - 24
Chai Lin® Lesfe - - - -
624 - - 624
1,424 6,535 54 8,013
Salaries, allowances and other benefits paid to or for the BENENRTES2EH S EMEHE
executive directors are generally emoluments in respect HEFNBERABEZZEATHARARAG R
of those persons’ other services in connection with HMBAREEEEKAIRME 2 EMR
the management of the affairs of the Company and its %25 e
subsidiaries.
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(Continued)

Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows: (Continued)

1. T (&) ’
EEHOHBEOT : (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE2017F12A31HILEE

Salaries, Retirement
Directors’ allowances scheme
fees  and benefits  contributions Total
e 20 RIRGTE
EEMS TR R @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET AT TAL
Executive directors HITEE
Dai Xiaobing g - 2,514 18 2,532
King Hap Lee SR - 2,000 18 2,018
Wan Tze Fan Terence BTE - 2,000 18 2,018
- 6,514 54 6,568
Independent non-executive directors BUFNTES
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter? EHE 22 200 - - 200
Wong Lung Tak Patrick i 200 - - 200
Wang Yanbin T 200 - - 200
Dang Weihua ERE 200 = = 200
800 - - 800
Non-executive directors FTES
Chen Hua R 200 - - 200
Huang Shaowu Ry 200 - - 200
He Lin Feng A #h 200 - - 200
Chen Chun Tung Jason' RIRE 150 - - 150
750 - - 750
1,550 6,514 54 8,118
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

11.

12.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(Continued)

Notes:

1. Resigned on 15 November 2017
2. Resigned on 31 December 2018
8. Appointed on 1 April 2018

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
a compensation for loss of office. None of the directors
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration for the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, three (2017: three) were directors of the
Company whose emoluments are disclosed in note 11. The
emolument of the remaining two (2017: two) individuals is

11.

12.

EEME (8)

Bt 3

1. R2017411 A158 B T
2. R2018F12A31BEHE
3.  TR2018F4A1HEZRE

HZE2018F K2017F12A31H L F [E -
AEBYVERTHNEEINHEERE
EMARRIMARNEBE Z B SHAIEA
BERE W8 o B E20184F K2017F12 A
SIHLEE #HMEEERNEXIRENE
ERENA

mEmAL

AEBRUZSHFA LR - =4 (2017
F:=f) BARRIZEE HBcE
TEPT 1B ER - HeAMGL (20174 : A
fEERFATZMENT

as follows:
2018 2017
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FHT TFATT
Salaries and other emoluments FekEMME 4,000 3,725
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INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 12. REH AL (E)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior EXHENTERELEEKE FE
management (non-director individual) were within the EFEAD) ZBIEN T T3 EE :
following bands:
2018 2017
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A# A
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/%8 7T A T~ 5 5
HK$1,000,000 - HK$1,500,000 1,000,000/ 7t £1,500,000/% 7T 3 2
8 7
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the above AEEYERN LARSHFEFTALX
highest paid non-director individual as an inducement to join NS ERBEIMARKIARSE BB 2
or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of REN S DBER 2 fh{E
office.
DIVIDEND 13. K2

The directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

BETEFHRBEEE2018F12A318 It
FEEMBKRE (20174 : &) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

14. LOSS PER SHARE

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
has conducted a share consolidation (note 37(a)(iv)). In
determining the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue for the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Share Consolidation (as defined in note 37(a)(iv)) has been
regarded as completed since 1 January 2017. Loss per
share for the year ended 31 December 2017 was restated
accordingly.

a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$376,922,000
(2017: loss of HK$160,367,000) and the weighted
average number of 2,410,333,000 ordinary shares (2017:
1,679,488,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the year.

b) Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017 is the same as the basic loss per share of
the Company’s outstanding share options and convertible
notes, where applicable, had an anti-dilutive effect on the
basic loss per share for the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2017.
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14. BIRE1E

HZE2018F12A31HILFE - AEEE
ETRG A O (aE37(@)iv) - RETEE
F2018F12A31H L FEEBITLBER
ZIEFHERE - BRHE6H (EERKH
FE37(a)(iv)) B B201741 A1 H #E 1 5 1F
BT o BIE2017F 128318 IEFE 2
BREBECHEEBIELED -

a) BREXESE

BREXEEBDIRBBERAAGEE AR
1ty &5 18376,922,000/8 7T (20174 : &
$#160,367,000% 7T) * A R F A B 1T
3 A% 2 04 F 15 £2,410,333,0008%
(20174 : 1,679,488,0000% & & A% ) =t

st
= o
ZAr

b) Bix#EEEE

HZE2018F K2017F12A31H L F [E -
BRBEEERESRENEEMRR -
RAFRMAKRITEZERERATRERER
(W@ ) - HE Z=20184 &20179 128
SIHEFEERANSRERAEEAGRE

=
/é/‘ﬂja °



15. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that
are used to make strategic decisions.

The Group has four (2017: four) operating and reportable
segments. The segments are managed separately as each
business offers different products and services and requires
different business strategies. The following summary
describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable
segments:
Coalbed methane: Exploration, development and
production of coalbed methane
Raw and cleaned coal: Raw coal washing and sale of
raw and cleaned coal
Oil and gas exploitation:  Exploitation and sale of crude oil
and natural gas

Financial services: Provision for financial services

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group had a
new business unit, Financial services, which was engaged in
the provision of financial services in the PRC. The directors
believe that the information about this segment is useful
to the users of the consolidated financial statements and
separately disclosed.

There are no sales or trading transactions between the
business segments. Corporate revenue and expenses are
not allocated to the operating segments as they are not
included in the measurement of the segments’ results used
by the chief operating decision-maker in the assessment of
segment performance.

Oil and gas exploitation segment for the years ended 2018
and 2017 represented the Canada Farm-in Project (note 17)
and possible acquisition for Canada oil fields (note 27(d)).
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15. S EPHE

AEBERTIBRERAREZMLANAE
HEREEMER R c EBEELEDE -

AN @ PR A M (E (20174 : [O1E) E& &
AREDI - ARG EHIRM THEDD
ERRBUEETREBRE - WD 57
WLE IR o MTEﬁEIXTﬁ%%ﬁ
BEZHE

KRER R - FEAM
EERER

JRIERAERE + RECE T E R K
pe

A A B B K 3K & [R

RARFK: MRAR

M IEIRTS - TR 7 IR

HE2017F12A31B ILEE  KEEA
— B EBEN - ERE - R BRIE
BRI -EERE ZoB2ER
EBAF THEAVISHRE  WIEBZ

¥ o BETENEXEERS - b F

WARRSXPIDEEEREDE  RE
EEBRERRE %%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%%%
MORREAELEBREREANRE LA
XHERA -

#H £20184F K2017F IEF E 2 A A
XARFEK D 246 i &€ RFarm-in1E B
(B &E17) R ATREU RS a2 Kom B (P&
27(d))
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

‘ 15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 15. D ERRE (&)

(a) Business segments (a) ¥BHEB
Segment information about these businesses is set out as BRAZETEGB 2O EREHMT
follows:
For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HEF2018F12A31HILFE
Coalbed Rawand  OQil and gas Financial
methane cleaned coal  exploitation services  Unallocated Total
higf
BER FREREE XARHEE  WMBRE AR Ch)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TR TR TER TET
Results 2i
Revenue from external customers: RENAREEZHA :
- Within the scope of HKFRS15 -ERHBREENE R ERAR 89,406 331,488 - - - 420,894
- Interest income from financial services ~BBRBHERA - - - 6,973 - 6,973
89,406 331,488 - 6,973 - 427,867
Segment results'® EEY - 5,888 13,211 19,205 11,874 (58,401) (8,223)
Change in fair valug of financial liablties at }EN@MEMJ B BaE
fair value through profit or loss PN - - - - 31,638 31,638
Change in fair value of financial assets at TE"WELUEM‘J B HKEE
fair value through profit or loss PANEL) - 29,131 - - - 29,131
Impaiment loss on intangble assets BYEERERR - (45,734) - - - (45,734)
Impairment loss on goodwil BEAERR - (39,244) - - - (39,244)
Expected credit loss on financial assets BEERAGEL
measured at amortised cost URAECREEEFS (754) - (5,279) - (25,736) (31,769)
Finance costs BEAT - (1,126) - (1,181)  (322,240)  (324,547)
Share of loss of an associate Eli-FHERRER (178) - - - - (178)
(Loss)/profit before income tax expense BEER LA (BR)/ &7 4,956 (43,762) 13,926 10,693 (368,739)  (382,926)
Income tax expense s - (2,164) - (795) - (2,959)
(Loss)/profit for the year KEE(BB)/ &7 4,956 (45,926) 13,026 9,898  (368,739)  (385,885)
Assets and liabilities BERER
Reportable segment assets® RENPEE 4,356,810 151,097 324,110 34,225 96,630 4,962,872
Reportable segment labilies: REAPEE 305,688 14,848 15 1137 1,632,578 1,954,266
Other segment information HppipEs
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 51,253 5,687 - 105 969 58,014
Capital expenditure incurred during the year ~ £REA 2 BAR 51,675 1,040 8,672 17 101 61,505
Timing of revenue recognition within ?iﬁﬁlﬁkf&fﬁ’“” F15RBERL
the scope of HKFRS15: RUAZER :
- apoint in time -REARRES 89,406 331,488 - - - 420,804
- over time -R-BEER - - - - - -
89,406 331,488 - - - 420,894
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(a)

15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

Business segments (Continued)

Segment information about these businesses is set out as

follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2017
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15. & & ()
(a) EBH I (EK)
ﬁ@&ﬁ%%Z“%éﬂ%ﬂmT

HE2017E12A31A ILEE

Coalbed Rawand  Of and gas Financial
methane  cleaned coal  exploitation services  Unallocated Total
L2y ¥l
RER FREREE XRERR  BEEE AOR st
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR T iR TR
Results E1
Revenue from external customers RENRERZHA 76663 417,697 - 3,63 - 49793
Seqment results™2 NREE® 1,324 9,050 17317 1,588 (41,791) (12,452)
Change in fair value of financial liabilties at BATHEERERIIR KRR
fair value through proft or loss LATEEY - - - - 187,042 187,042
Change in fair valug of financial assets at BATHERERIIR HBEE
fair value through proft or loss LATEED - 43,275 - - - 43,075
Impairment loss on goodwil HEREER = (46,705) = = - (46,705)
Impairment loss on other receivables HENESAEER - = = = (377) (377)
Impairment oss on loans receivable EREFAEER - - - (4,612) - (4,612)
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale investment  HEREHESREE ZBR - - - - (1,606) (1,606)
Finance costs BERA - (4,255) - - pITgy E2179)
Share of loss of an associate i3l AN | 72 (418) - = = = 418)
(Loss)/proftt before income tax expense RAERZ A (B8) /&M 906 1,365 17,377 (3,004 (174850)  (158,026)
Income tax expense it - (1,535) - = = (1,535)
(Loss)/profit for the year KEE (BR)/ B 906 (170 17,377 (3,024)  (174650) (159,561
Assets and liabilities BERERE
Reportable segment assets’ IRENHEE 4,605,341 260,378 345,831 74,089 123920 5,409,559
Reportable segment liabilties THREIBEE 320,346 88,080 16 531 1836001 2,245,064
Other segment information EhHEs
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 65,554 7,125 - % 895 73,672
Capital expenditure incurred during the year ~ EREAZEATH 129,116 11,270 12,424 - 375 153,185
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

* 15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 15. T EBER & (&)

(a) Business segments (Continued) (a) EFBHE(E)

Notes: BT

1. Unallocated results mainly include salaries, rental expense 1. ROBELEZTEPEIRA HE& Rk
and professional fees for Hong Kong head office. HEBRSEBENRBRAT -

2. The 2018 segment result of coalbed methane included 2. 2018FHERZDBEEBEBRMNH
government subsidies and grants of HK$25,866,000 (2017: B & 4 B125,866,0007% JT (20174 :
HK$29,447,000). 29,447,000/ 7C) °

3. Unallocated assets mainly include cash and cash equivalents, 3. AP EEFTEZERRASLESERE
short term investment, equity investments designated Y RERE RATEEAEMEE
at fair value through other comprehensive income and WHEFBRZBRERERAIHEE SR
available-for-sale investments and unallocated liabilities mainly BE MAINKEEBETITERREEHE
include short-term loans, convertible notes, corporate bonds AR ERE - CEEHEREAFEE
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. BRERVIRZHBARE -

(b) Geographical information and major (b) MEERREEEF
customers

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s TRRAKEREIINATE 2 W &R

revenue from external customers and non-current assets SRT AN IEREEE ([F8EFER

other than financial instruments (“specified non-current FEE])ETON -

assets”).

(i) Revenue from external customers ()  FKEIIREFZ Kwm

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue by REFBRZPHBRE D 2 WSS :

geographical location of the customers:

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000

FT#ERT F&TT

Hong Kong (place of domicile) B () - -
The PRC & 427,867 497,935
427,867 497,935
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 15. P ERE|E (8) ’
(b) Geographical information and major (b) MEEEEREFEEFE(4)
customers (Continued)
(i) Specified non-current assets (i)  FEEIETEEE
The information of the Group’s non-current assets by BRAAEBIREEMREI D ZIEREHE
geographical location of the assets is detailed below: EZERFEMRINT -
2018 2017
HK$’°000 HK$'000
TFET FHET
Hong Kong (place of domicile) BA (FTEH) 3,118 3,972
The PRC H 4,309,794 4,652,415
Canada nexX 61,600 57,255
4,374,512 4,713,642
Information about major customers FEEREH
During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, there H 22018 K2017F12A31H I FE -
were five customers contributed to 10% or more revenue to FEAREFPERMAEE 2 R AZEI0%K
the Group’s total revenue. % H10% °
2018 2017
Segment HK$’000 HK$’000
5EB TFHET FHET
Customer A Coalbed methane 89,406 76,663
EFEA HE R
Customer B Raw and cleaned coal 82,023 N/A
®FB JRBE R RS B 35 A
Customer C Raw and cleaned coal 65,410 60,604
®PC JRE R B
Customer D Raw and cleaned coal 41,190 N/A
®FD JRE R AE R A iE A
Customer E Raw and cleaned coal 29,054 124,108
%PE R R
Customer F Raw and cleaned coal N/A 96,232
EPFF R E R A5 iEmA
Customer G Raw and cleaned coal N/A 78,496
®FG R R AE iEm
N/A: Transactions during the year did not exceed 10% of the TEA: FRARXRHFUTHBAREEK
Group’s revenue A10% °
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31 December 2018

* _16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. W% » R RRHE

Furniture,
CNG station ~ Construction ~ Oil and gas fixtures and
Leasehold ~ and ancillary in progress properties office Motor
Building  improvements facilities (note (al) (note (b)) equipment vehicles Total
CNGHR HEIE BREE GR EekE
BF HEWRRE EERE (K (a)) (W) RHEAZRE RE it
HKS$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK§'000
THT THAT T Tin TER TER ThT TiAT

Costs: A
At 1 January 2017 ROITE1A1R 1423 468 332,520 26302 1,303,393 5,380 12758 193233
Additions HE 197 216 11,487 50,511 77,001 37 858 140,627
Transfer -t - - 6,952 (234,886) 207,93 - - -
Acquired through acquiston  EBKE—%

of a subsidiary HEAAEA - i - - - 133 - 134
Written of i - - - - - - (128) (128)
Disposal for the year ERHE - - - - - - (837) 837)
Bxchange adustments B A% 110 % 23,168 12,608 108,565 379 639 145490
At 31 December 2017 1o017E12318 1730 I 374,127 104618 1716915 6,229 13200 2217620
Additions T - ) 9,390 19,313 20,849 173 1018 52,833
Transfer 8% - - - (11,669 11,663 - - -
Disposal for the year ERLE - (127) - - - (185) (559) 871)
Exchange adjustments ERA% 79 (18) (16,624) (4,554) (80,175 (272) (453) (102,175)
At 31 December 2018 10185128318 1,651 656 366,893 07,714 1671252 5945 13206 2167407
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y% - BERERHE (&) ’
(Continued)
Furniture,
CNG station ~ Construction ~ Oiland gas fixtures and
Leasehold  and ancillary in progress properties office Motor
Building  improvements facilities (note (a)) (note (b))  equipment vehicles Total

CNGHR  ERIE  HWAE BN BEkE
B HEWRRE  EEIE  (WE@)  (WEL) RELEDRE R Bt
HKSOD  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKBOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOO  HKSOD  HKS00
T TR TR T TR TR T TR

Accumulated depreciation Bit1i&ERE
and impairment

At 1 January 2017 R017E1A1A 1 64 21,432 - 21,398 3213 7,905 54,084
Charge for the year AT

(note 9(c) (M3l 8 % 22,559 - 28,049 79 1610 53,188
Written of i - - - - - - 99) 93)
Written back on disposal ~~ AEHE - - - - - - (650) (650)
Exchange adjustments EiEE - 5 A - - 250 413 699
At 31 December 2017 20176128318 159 163 44,020 - 49,442 4,269 9,185 107,228
Charge for the year AT

(note 9(c) (Hr3ko(e) 8 126 10,174 - 13,153 312 1,554 34,401
Writen back on disposal ~ BEIILE - (60) - - - (156) (551) (767)
Exchange adjustments EiAE 1) ] - - - (110) (192 (310)
At 31 December 2018 R2018E12A31H 240 220 63,194 - 62,59 4,305 9,99 140,652
Carrying amount; HREE:
At 31 December 2018 R2018F12A31H 141 434 303,699 107,714 1,608,657 1,640 3,300 2,026,855
At 31 December 2017 R017E12A31H 1,571 548 330,107 104,618 1,667,473 1,970 4,105 2,110,392
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Impairment assessment

For the purpose of impairment testing, CNG station and
ancillary facilities, oil and gas properties, construction in
progress and certain furniture, fixtures and office equipment,
motor vehicles and intangible asset (note 19) are allocated
to the Sanjiao CBM Project, representing an individual cash
generating unit (“CGU”). As at the end of the years ended
31 December 2018 and 2017, the directors of the Company
did not identify any impairment indicators in Sanjiao CBM
Project. Nevertheless, the recoverable amount of Sanjiao
CBM Project as at the end of these reporting periods were
estimated, based on value in use calculations (“VIU”) using
cash flow projections from formally approved budgets and
capital expenditure which reflects the development and
production plan of this CGU. The recoverable amounts
were estimated to be higher than the carrying amounts of
the non-financial assets of Sanjiao CBM Project. As such,
no impairment loss was recognised. The pre-tax discount
rate used in the VIU calculations at 31 December 2018 was
18.27%.

For the purpose of impairment testing, certain leasehold
improvements, furniture, fixtures and office equipment,
motor vehicles and intangible asset (note 19) and goodwill
(note 20) are allocated to the raw and cleaned coal CGU.
The recoverable amount of the raw and cleaned coal CGU
is determined based on either fair value less costs to
disposal or VIU whichever is higher. The recoverable amount
of the raw and cleaned coal CGU has been determined
from VIU based on cash flow projections from formally
approved budgets covering an seven-year period, which is
the remaining contractual period of the coal washing leased
factory. Management considered that the budgets should
cover the remaining contractual period of the coal washing
leased factory as it reflects the development and production
plan of this CGU.
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16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Impairment assessment (Continued)

As at the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts
of the assets and liabilities belonging to the Raw and
cleaned coal CGU were amounting to RMB60,253,000
(2017: RMB164,507,000) while the recoverable amount
of the Raw and cleaned coal CGU, as determined by
an independent professional firm of valuers, based on
VIU using cash flow projections from formally approved
budgets and capital expenditure was RMB27,192,000
(2017: RMB124,000,000), which was RMB33,061,000
(2017: RMB40,507,000) less than the respective carrying
amounts. As such, the directors of the Company determined
an impairment loss of RMB33,061,000 (equivalent to
HK$39,244,000) (2017: RMB40,507,000, equivalent to
HK$46,705,000) which was fully allocated to goodwill (note
20) and was recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. No impairment loss was allocated
to assets other than mentioned above. Details of the key
assumptions used in VIU are set out in note 20.

Notes:

(@) It mainly represents oil and gas properties under construction
as at the end of the reporting period.

(b) It represents gas wells located in Sanjiao block as at the end
of the reporting period.

B4 %5 ¥R 3% P 5

2018412 H31H

16. 1% « B ERRE (B)

AR (48)

RBEPHERE FBRERKEKE
HEcELEEU EERABER®R
HA AR%¥60,253,0007T (20174 :
AR #164,507,0007T) @ MR & & 15
BECELEEMZA KRB SENHNAA
R #27,192,0007T (20174 : AR ¥
124,000,0007T) (J3#& — R B L B H1E
MiTBERAEERBE LA AERE
REATHZBEESRERANEE) &
7% FE N HBRmE A A R #33,061,000
ot (20174 : A R #40,507,0007T) °
It RRREESETEREEEAARK
33,061,0007T (48 £ 7239,244,0007% 7T.)
(20174 : AR #40,507,0007T (#5 R
46,705,000/ 7)) ' WE B A REHE
(M 5%20) B A 2 Em R NFER o
MEREEEDEE EXFTAINZE
E-fRFEABEMRAZEEZBEH
R FE20 ©

BEEE

@ HIBXRTRBEHHEERBZER
HREE °

(b) EERTRREEBEERECNEXE
R I o

17. OIL AND GAS EXPLORATION AND 17. MR EKREEHEE
EVALUATION ASSETS

HK$’000
TETT

Cost: R :
At 1 January 2017 R2017%F1 A1 H 41,307
Additions NE 10,554
Interest capitalised &R F B 1,870
Exchange adjustment PE i R 3,524
At 31 December 2017 MR2017%12A31H 57,255
Additions NE 7,092
Interest capitalised B AR F A 1,580
Exchange adjustment PE 7 #& (4,327)
At 31 December 2018 MR2018F12 A31H 61,600
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

17. OIL AND GAS EXPLORATION AND

EVALUATION ASSETS (Continued)

Canada Farm-in Project

In October 2015, the Company’s subsidiary, SOG Energy
Inc., entered into a farm-in agreement (“farm-in agreement”)
with a Canadian company (“Farmor”). Pursuant to the
farm-in agreement, the Company became as a Farmee shall
drill the test well within an area (“farm-out Land”) agreed
between the Farmor and Farmee. When the Farmee has
drilled the test well to an agreed depth and if the anticipated
output from any zone in the farm-out Land are reasonably
anticipated to be covered the cost of drilling, equipping
and operating of the wells, Farmee shall case the well and
conduct production test. Once the Farmee caps the test
well with the obligation to conduct production test and has
performed all related obligations under farm-in agreement
to Farmor’s reasonable satisfaction, Farmee shall earn the
interests in the farm-out Land, subject to the reservation to
Farmor therefrom the agreed royalty. No consideration is
paid by the Group to the Farmor, but the Group needs to be
responsible for all the costs of the drilling. Under this farm-in
agreement, the Farmor giving up future economic benefits,
in the form of its oil reserves, in exchange for a reduction
in future funding obligations. The Group recognises its
expenditure under the agreement in respect of its own
interest and that retained by the Farmor, as and when the
costs are incurred. The Group accounts for its expenditure
under the agreement in the same way as directly incurred
exploration and evaluation expenditure. Up to 31 December
2018, the Company incurred around HK$61,600,000 drilling
costs for this farm-in project (2017: HK$57,255,000).

The Group classified this farm-in project as oil exploration
and evaluation assets under HKFRS 6. The directors
have assessed the impairment of this oil exploration
and evaluation assets in accordance with the criteria
under HKFRS 6 and by reference to the progress in the
implementation of this farm-in project during the year.
The directors concluded that there are neither facts nor
circumstances which may indicate that the carrying amount
of this oil exploration and evaluation assets has exceeded
the recoverable amount as at the end of reporting period.
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R2016F 108 » X2 A WE R A
SOG Energy Inc.B2 —R N& KA 7
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#1) o RiBfarm-intp - A QA (EB
Farmee) # M FarmorfaFarmeel? & #) E
& ([farm-outT b |) R & F B FH - B
FarmeeE R A H H ZEHERE R - i
& T #b 78 Bl 3 B farm-outt A {E {a] [&
BHEAESRESER REREE
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(AERMAHEE)  UBEIEEBEIR
HRESZ2ET -REAELER  ~&E
Gt E 8 F#Em &k BFarmortr B 8 # &=
BRENEABAHBBZETNRSZ - XEH
eERARARABERBHRE THRX
ERAEEEANMERTGAILH -EE
2018512 H381H - A& A 2 gt Utfarm-in
15 B & 4 # R B 7K 8961,600,0005% 7T
(20174 : 57,255,000/ 7T) °

BB B MEERNFECT  NEE
1% & farm-inI8 B 5 %8 & A i &) 57 & 5T
BE - BREBV KRS ERFE6HIE
TR R 2 Z F NE1T%farm-in1E B
FEE  EEETEZEHRHERTGH
BEMRE BEBEHT  RNESHHEE
R - BEEMEERIBERNAIEBERZ
BHMRRTHEENEREEEEBAE
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18. PAYMENT FOR LEASEHOLD LAND HELD 18. B ST
FOR OWN USE

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FHT

At 1 January M A1R 4,356 4,277

Amortisation for the year (note 9(c)) N4 S (P 5E9(c)) (240) (233)
Exchange adjustment b 5, 58 B (201) 312
At 31 December ®12A31H 3,915 4,356
2018 F 3 | HEHBEIERERAA
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

190. BILE&E

Motor vehicle Favourable
registration Operation supplier
license right agreement Total
RERTHE ZEE REHEGRR @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT FHT THT
Costs: o NH
At 1 January 2017 R2017%1 818 2,272 2,164,329 66,193 2,232,794
Exchange adjustments 0 i, 20 % - 162,803 4,980 167,783
At 31 December 2017 2017612 A31R 2,272 2,327,132 71,173 2,400,577
Exchange adjustments EHAE = (111,637 (3,414) (115,051)
At 31 December 2018 M2018412A31H 2,272 2,215,495 67,759 2,285,526
Accumulated amortisation R3HEHRiEE :
and impairment:
At 1 January 2017 R2017%1A18 - 14,009 11,583 25,592
Amortisation for the year AEEHE
(note 9(c)) (P 7E9(c) - 13,416 6,835 20,251
Exchange adjustments EHAE - - 1,155 1,155
At 31 December 2017 R20174612A31R - 27,425 19,573 46,998
Amortisation for the year KEEHE
(note 9(c)) (P 5F9(c)) - 18,096 5,277 23,373
Impairment loss for the year N &R {E &5 18
(note 8) (P zE8) - = 45,734 45,734
Exchange adjustments BE 5 R - (2,361) (2,825) (5,186)
At 31 December 2018 M2018412A31H - 43,160 67,759 110,919
Carrying amount: BRE(E :
At 31 December 2018 M2018412A31H 2,272 2,172,335 - 2,174,607
At 31 December 2017 201712 A31H 2,272 2,299,707 51,600 2,353,579
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Operation right

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s operation right
represent the right under one (2017: one) production sharing
contract which gives the Group the right to participate in the
production of coalbed methane with details as follows:

B4 %5 ¥R 3% P 5

2018412 H31H

19. BB E (8)

EEE

MR2018%F12A31H ' AEB 2 L EH#S
FE— (2017F : —) E@AKERN
2R BAEEAE2EKEREE -
ELR NN

Gas fields Location Expiry date
= H i B FIEAE
Sanjiao CBM Project Shanxi Province, the PRC 2036
=REERIER RELPEE

The operation right is initially recognised at its fair value
on the date of acquisition by reference to a professional
valuation prepared by Asset Appraisal Limited. Subsequent
to the reporting period, the operation right is measured
using the cost model.

Amortisation is provided to write off the cost of the
operation right using the units of production method based
on the amount of proved and probable oil and gas reserves.
Amortisation is charged to “direct costs” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the operation right
was allocated to the Sanjiao CBM Project. During the
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the directors
of the Company did not identify any impairment indicators
in Sanjiao CBM Project. Details of the estimation of the
recoverable amount of this CGU are set out in note 16.

LERNIRUBERAZATELSZE
THEEENEERERARARRZE
EEERER RREHEEK  £8#
RAKARAGE -

WosE & E R AR TR E B B R
ENEERMAETEHE BEERA
EEBERZ [ERERA] A -

BREANRANS ZERIRE=HK
EBRIER - RE 220184 k2017412 A
SIBLEFE ARREZEZTTER =K
EBRIEBFNEMBREDR - ARG E
A B8y 2 AT W Bl 6 BB i 5t AT 15 SR BT 5
16 °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

19.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
Favourable supplier agreement

Favourable supplier agreement represents the coal supplier
agreement with one of the Group’s subsidiaries. According
to the agreement, the supplier will provide raw coal at
3% lower than the market price. The favourable supplier
agreement has estimated useful lives of ten years.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the favourable
supplier agreement has been early terminated by the
supplier. The management of the Group considers that
the favourable supplier agreement had no value upon early
termination and full impairment was made.

19. BB E (8)

BEZHEE G
BEZHEEHZEASE -—KHNBEAQ
AR BRI o RIEW & - HE
EARIRER M E3% . ERERERRK - &
BeHtERBRATAIRFHATE -

HZE2018F12A31HILFE - BEZ#
EEHECEHEEEREFERIL A5 E
EEERR BEREZHERBENEIR
FRIFFEEEE  HEFEL2ERE -

20. GOODWILL 20. W&
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FAT
At 1 January w1 HA18 100,515 93,483
Exchange adjustments PE W 38 2 (4,822) 7,032
At 31 December M12H31H 95,693 100,515
Accumulated impairment loss: ZETREEE
At 1 January M1A1R 48,638 =
Impairment loss recognised FARRREEE
in the year (note 8) (Mf&E8) 39,244 46,705
Exchange adjustments PE 5, 58 B (3,785) 1,983
84,097 48,638
Carrying amount RHEE
At 31 December W12 H31H 11,596 51,877

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group has
acquired 75% equity interest of Golden Glow Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively known as “Golden
Glow Group”) for a consideration of RMB135,000,000
(equivalent to HK$168,656,000). The excess of the cost of
purchase over the net fair value of the identifiable net assets
of Golden Glow Group of RMB83,713,000 (equivalent to
HK$104,583,000) was recorded as goodwill and allocated
to the CGU in the Raw and cleaned coal CGU.
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20. GOODWILL (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the revenue
stream of the Raw and cleaned coal CGU was slower
than expected and it was expected that the Guaranteed
Profit (note 23) would not be met. Hence, the directors of
the Company considered that these circumstances led to
recognition of impairment loss of the CGU. As such, the
directors of the Company determined an impairment loss
of RMB40,507,000 (equivalents to HK$46,705,000) to the
goodwill.

Save as disclosed in note 19, the revenue stream of the Raw
and cleaned coal CGU was adversely affected during the
year ended 31 December 2018 after the early termination
of the favourable supplier agreement. Hence, the directors
of the Company considered that these circumstances led
to a further recognition of impairment loss of the CGU
and an impairment loss of approximately RMB33,061,000
(equivalent to HK$39,244,000) was provided for the year
ended 31 December 2018. Details of the impairment testing
are set out in note 16.

The following are key assumptions on which management
has based its cash flow projections for the period covered
by the most recent budgets:

B4 %5 ¥R 3% P 5
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20. B2 (&)

HE2017F12A31BLEFE  BEK
BREBESEABEN 2 RE mERELHE -
TS T RE T & R i A1) (FF5£23)
Bt ARAREERRAZEBRAEH
BRESELBEMZHERRE - it
ARAFESETBEREBEARS
40,507,0007T (185 5246,705,000787T) °

BR BT TE19FT 4% B8 & Hb - #L 22018412
AMBLEFE RERBEREESEES
7 2 Yoz i PMB 2B 2 4 FE 7 19 o A AR A
BEEZIaEZE - Bt ARAE
ERBZERNEHE—IHRASE
EEBEN 2 REEE  WE B E20184F
12A31B L2 FEREBBHOARYE
33,061,000t (#H % 1439,244,0007% 7T)
FTIREE o MERAFBERNRWEE6

UTREEEREROBESSHHEE
RenBRAELEZIERR

2018 2017
Discount rate IR xR 21.88% 22.36%
Operating margin 1 R = 2.58% 8.92%
Growth rate R & 2.40% 3.00%

The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect specific
risks relating to the relevant CGU. The operating margin
have been based on past experience and the growth rate
was determined by considering both internal and external
factors for the first five years and terminal growth rate not
exceeding the long term average growth rate of the same
industry.

FIRAZHBREDIHRANRRL RRE
AeELABMZRHERR - GEMBX
REBEEEKREE  MERXLELE
BEREFAERINBERIARRHIER
RIABBRARTENRAFHERERM
BT -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

* _21. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 21. R—REELEZHEDR
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FAT
As at 1 January MW1HA1H - -
Share of loss for the year (note (a)) FADEEE (K@) - -
As at 31 December ®12A318 - -
Amount due from a joint venture (note (b)) FEU — 5K & 1 2 IR (M 3E (b)) 320 320
320 320
Notes: B &
(@)  Share of loss has been fully recognised up to the investment (a) HBZE2015F12A31HILFE @ BEER
in a joint venture during the year ended 31 December 2015. ZEREEBERSEINR —REEDEZ
No further share of loss is required to be recognised for the ®AE - HE2018%F k20174 12A31H 1E
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017. FE - BAE - PEAEIGEIE -
(b)  The amount due from a joint venture is unsecured, interest by EER—FRELLERBLEHRR &£
free and repayable on demand. B RBARERKAEER -

The Group has a 50% (2017: 50%) interest in a joint venture, AEEREECEIETHBEBRARE
Smart Win International Limited, a company incorporated in B50% (20174 : 50%) #x  BE AR
the BVI and operating in Hong Kong. The primary activity of EBERRESTMALETREBEE
Smart Win International Limited is investment holding. EB AR - HEEBEBRAGIZEE

EBREEER -
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21. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

22.

(Continued)

The contractual arrangement provides the Group with only
the rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement, with
the rights to the assets and obligation for the liabilities
of the joint arrangement resting primarily with Smart

21. R—REELHEZ

B4 %5 ¥R 3% P 5

BRLHHER A S H IR
EFECEN mMHAELD
MNERBEZEKRIEZERIEEREAR
R ARIEE B W

W
Bk

il

A

2018412 H31H

BERHE
BEE

51158 -

Win International Limited. Under HKFRS 11 this joint e EREE N EWFEAER
arrangement is classified as a joint venture and has been EREEVBEBRERAR ARG EER
included in the consolidated financial statements using B ZAEhEHAEF AR
the equity method. In the opinion of the directors of the BERAGECECHBERBEZSWMT

Company, this joint venture is not material to the Group,

and the summarised financial information in relation to the

joint venture is presented below:

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET F& T

Loss for the year FANEE (554) (8)

Other comprehensive income E b2 A= - =

Total comprehensive income BEE WS (554) (8)
INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 22 R—RBEAT 2=

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FHET

As at 1 January ®W1A1H 59,137 58,010

Share of loss for the year FERNDHEE (178) (418)

Exchange adjustments M 5, 8 B (982) 1,545

As at 31 December M12H31H 57,977 59,137

2018 £ |

FEARERERLDA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

¢ 22. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 22 M—FREBATIZHER ()
Details of the Group’s associate are as follows: BREAANEEBE AR ZFBIHIOT :

Percentage of

Form of business Place of ordinary share
Name of company structure incorporation indirectly held Principal activity
BERE
AT B ES R A 1 R 3L 2h TEREM EEEH
WARZEERME  Sino-foreign equity joint  The PRC 30%  Development and operation of a
BRAT venture H liquefied natural gas plant (‘LNG
FINEBE plant”) in the PRC to produce
liquefied coalbed methane
RABEREREERIERAR
BRI (BRI RARBRIE
U ) LAEERIEEER
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, this ARBEERE ZBERIEHEAEER
associate is not material to the Group, and the financial I B K AREFEBREATNTBE
information in respect of the Group’s associate is set out B2 :
below:
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT TAT
Loss for the year FREE (593) (1,393)
Other comprehensive income Hith 2 W= - -
Total comprehensive income 2w (593) (1,393)
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

B4 %5 ¥R 3% P 5

2018412 H31H

23. MAFEEBERIKRZUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BE
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Contingent consideration in relation to WEHRBAR ZHABRE
acquisition of subsidiaries
— Non-current —FEnH 38,301 30,077
— Current — R E 19,399 21,529
57,700 51,606

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group had
acquired 75% equity interests of Golden Glow Group, which
the vendor irrevocably guaranteed the Group that from 1
October 2015 until 30 September 2021, six years in total,
the total net profit after income tax expense attributable
to Golden Glow Group per annum should not be less than
RMB30,000,000 (“the Guaranteed Profit”). Contingent
consideration represented the fair value of the amounts to
be received by the Group if the Golden Glow Group fails to
meet the Guaranteed Profit.

The Group has engaged an independent firm of valuers
to assess the fair value of the Guaranteed Profit as at the
end of reporting period. The fair value of the contingent
consideration arrangement was estimated by applying
the income approach at a discount rate of 21.88% (2017:
22.36%). In assessing the adjustments to reflect credit risk
in the fair value measurement process, the directors of the
Company did not consider the credit risk to be significant
as the vendor of Golden Glow Group still owns the
non-controlling interest with carrying value of HK$5,709,000
(2017: HK$16,655,000) (note 40) and had good settlement
record of the shortfall of the Guaranteed Profit.

HZE2015F12A31HILFERN A& H
I B Golden Glows B 2 75%0% # + &
fR B 5 N AT M [A) A 2 B PR (R F32015
F10A18 £ £202149H308 It 2 &
HEE R - TFEGolden Glows B fE(L ~
BRETEMET HBRAENETORARKE
30,000,000 ([fR&E&F]) « kB RE
5 fWGolden Glow£s [ 7 B8 W & 1R 78 )&
- AEBGKDNZ EHATE -

AEEBEZE—RBLEERMT - AT
HRFREFRIR S HAEEREZAFE -
FAEREBLHEZRAFEDRBBAER
#1238 F21.88% (20174 : 22.36% ) # 17
Bt - RAFEFEBRPTHRERE
ERBZARE  ARAEEREEE
R I NEK - R A RGolden Glows
& {73 # /& BR /{8 45,709,000 7T (2017
£ : 16,655,000/ 7T ) « FE ¥ I #E 2= (BT
F40)  WHEBRIFZRBRFZEE
R sk -
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31 December 2018

23.

24,

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has
received RMB12,000,000 (equivalent to HK$14,169,000)
(note 51(b)) of the shortfall of the Guaranteed Profit for
the year ended 31 December 2017 (the “Shortfall 2017”).
The remaining balance of Shortfall 2017 of approximately
RMB5,045,000 (equivalent to HK$5,767,000) (note 27(c))
will be settled in 2019. The Group estimated the shortfall
for the year ended 31 December 2018 attributable to the
Group would be approximately RMB13,730,000. Details of
summarised financial information of Golden Glow Group set
out in Note 40.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

23.

24,

RAFEEZEBERIRZME
=3¢ )

HZE2018F12A31BILFERN A5 E
B WEE £2017F12A318 L FER
Bafz =B ([2017FE 28 ]) AR
12,000,0007T (48 % 714,169,000 7T)
(F7E51(b)) ° 2017 FE 2B HBEHAR
#5,045,0007T (48 % $25,767,000/% 7T)
(M 5E27(c)) #5 M2019F B+ - A&
E5t  AEEE(RE Z=2018F12H831H
IFFEzZBELH R/ ARY13,730,000
JC ° Golden Glow: & 7 81 7% & £ &
R HIEE40 ©

BRAFEZEREBEE T
ARZARMERE T EER
BE

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FHT

Listed securities in Hong Kong, at fair value &/ FHHES @ IEQAFE 956 5,409

Available-for-sale investments were reclassified to financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(non-recycling) upon the initial application of HKFRS 9 at 1
January 2018. Please refer to Note 2(a)A(i) for the change in
accounting policy.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the listed securities
represented the equity interests in companies that are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, net fair value
loss amounted to HK$4,453,000 (2017: HK$1,928,000) was
recognised in other comprehensive income.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on
quoted market prices.
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M20184F K2017E12A318 » L &S
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HE2018F12A31BILFERN  FAFE
[E5184,453,000/8 7t (20174F : 1,928,000/7%
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25. LOANS RECEIVABLE
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2018412 H31H

5. EIE K

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET TETT

Loans receivable & U E 3k 36,332 72,043
Less: impairment loss (note(h)) B R EE R (M EEh) (4,572) (4,803)
Loans receivable, net FEW B R FRE 31,760 67,240

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the loans receivable in
the Group’s financial services were as follows:

(@ In March 2017, the Group advanced a loan to a
private company in the PRC, an independent third
party, of RMB20,000,000. The loan was secured
by trade receivables, interest bearing at 10% per
annum and repayable by the end of March 2019. As
at 31 December 2017, the Group has considered the
recoverability and taken into account of the effect
of the estimated discounted cash flow, therefore, a
provision of RMB4,000,000 was made.

(o) In April 2017, the Group advanced two loans to a
private company in the PRC, an independent third
party, of RMB40,000,000. The loans were secured by
certain equipment, interest bearing at 10% per annum
and fully repaid in June 2018.

() In May 2018 and November 2018, the Group
advanced two loans to a provincial hospital in the
PRC, an independent third party, of RMB10,000,000
and RMB3,000,000 respectively. The loans were
secured by certain medical equipment, interest bearing
at 8% and repayable in May 2023 and November 2023
respectively.

(d) The Group is not permitted to sell or repledge the
collateral in absence of default by the borrowers.
The borrowers are obliged to settle the amounts in
accordance with the terms set out in the relevant
contracts.

A20184 KR2017412A31H » A& EE
ARG 2 ERE KT ¢

(@)

2017463 H » A& B M — K+ E
REtHX(—RBIE=H)BHN
B A R#20,000,0007T ° % E &
LAFE U BR SRAEIR 18 - IR FX10%
B WBMR2019FE3AKEIE -
MR2017F12A318 ' REEEE
B E M ET REETITRER S
M2 FRTEBARK
4,000,0007T °

%2017¢4H CAREE R R E

EhE(—BBIE=7) 2N
ﬁ%)\ﬁmo 000,0007T Z B 3K °
ZEFAE TREERR - REF
E10%ET B - W B R2018F6 7 &
HEE o

2018458 %2018F 118 + &
EEM—FRPEERER (—EB
VE=ZF)BRAMESNAEARKE
10,000,0007T & A . #3,000,0007T
ZER - ZEFUETEERMEE
AR - LT E8%ET B - WHBIAR
202345 A K%2023F11 ABE -

ERESTUTEZONERLT  AKHE
TRHEARmAFEER - 1*t
BEBRBEABA OB IGREE
BRASOA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

25. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

(e

Upon initial adoption of HKFRS 9, the Group has
assessed the recoverability of all loans and considered
that all loans (except for the loan mentioned in note
(a) above) were of good credit quality and has not
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Management considers that the loss
allowance calculated based on 12-month ECL was
not material and no additional loss allowance was
required. As at 31 December 2018, the Group believed
that there was no significant change in credit risk since
initial recognition and the balances were considered
fully recoverable. Therefore, no further ECL was
required. For the loan of RMB20,000,000 mentioned
in note (a), the Group calculated the loss allowance
based on lifetime ECL and considered the current
provision of RMB4,000,000 is sufficient and no further
ECL is required.

©

5. EME R (&)

B RN E S B 5 3R 5 2E R S O5R
% AEEBDFEFBERZAR
Bl - WRAFMABER (LXK E
@FTL s ERBRIN 2 EEEER
i BEERBR AV S ERARIL
ﬁ%%%%oE@%WE&QMH
BHEEBETE CBERELT
BA - WBAIREINEERE -
%2018@12)%31 H - A&EEHEE -
SERKR A VSRR EEE
m@'ﬁ EER AR AR T2 ULE o
Bt  BEBRE—SHEHEE
B8 - Bkl s ERARKE
20,000,0007T i & © A& Bz 2 5
BHEEEBTEEBEERE 1R
7 I B /) B 8 A R 4,000,0007T
BRM BARRE—SHEBEER
&g o

Analysed for reporting purpose as: H FHREBWETZON
2018 2017
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Current assets MENE E 18,290 48,029
Non-current assets ERENE E 13,470 19,211
31,760 67,240

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at the end of
the reporting dates was the carrying value of the loan
receivables.
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25. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 25 FERER(E)
(h)  Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of h FREKEFNESERERZSHN
loans receivable during the year is as follows: T
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ERT TETT

Balance as at 1 January

™M A1H 2 &t

(note 2(a)A(ii)(c)) (Ff EE2(2)A)(C)) 4,803 -
Impairment loss recognised under RIBFD S G 2ER]

HKAS 39 FEI5R MR 2R EEE - 4,612

Impairment loss recognised under RIE B 7S B 75 ) & 2 Al
HKFRS 9 FORMER ZREERE - =
Exchange adjustments ME 5, 8 B (231) 191
Balance as at 31 December M12A31B 2 &8 4,572 4,803

26. INVENTORIES 26. #&

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Spare parts, consumables and others w1 M R EA 11,950 15,070
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

‘ 27. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

27. MR « B RB R H fh e
WhR » H & R TE R IE

PREPAYMENTS
31 December 1 January 31 December
2018 2018 2017
2018%F 20184 20174
12A31H 1H1H 12H31H
HK$°000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000
FHET FHT FHET
(note (a))
(M 7£(a))
Non-current assets FERBEE
Deposits and prepayments %o RIEMRIE
(note (b)) (Bt 5E (o)) 52,365 95,777 95,777
Current assets MENE B
Trade receivables JE 15 BR K 22,012 8,367 8,367
Less: impairment loss (note (h)) & : BEEE 1B (FT7E(h)) (316) (332) =
21,696 8,035 8,367
Notes receivable e W 2 5% 2,401 18,371 18,371
Other receivables (note (c)) A AR SR (B 5E(c)) 54,753 54,810 54,810
Less: impairment loss (note (i) & : JEl B & 1B (BT &EG)) (26,014) (1,352) (392)
28,739 53,458 54,418
Other deposits (note (d)) H i & (M 3E(d)) 290,581 293,808 293,808
Less: impairment loss (note (j)) & : JE & 1B (BT &E()) (10,337) (5,724) =
280,244 288,084 293,808
Utility deposits KEZE 2,453 2,781 2,781
Prepayments (note (e)) a1+ 5k 8 (FtE(e)) 29,573 60,825 60,825
365,106 431,554 438,570
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27. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Upon initial adoption of HKFRS 9, an opening adjustment as
at 1 January 2018 was made to recognise additional ECLs
(see note 2(a)Alii)(c)).

The balance included prepayments and deposits paid for
exploration costs of HK$52,365,000 (2017: HK$79,968,000)
on the Group’s construction in progress, prepaid rental of
HKS$nil (2017: HK$15,809,000) for coal washing factory.

The balances mainly included interest receivables
of short-term investment of HK$14,545,000 (2017:
HK$4,623,000), receivables of Shortfall 2017 of
HK$5,767,000 (note 23) and consideration receivables of
HK$24,000,000 (2017: HK$24,000,000) which represented
the outstanding consideration arising from disposal of certain
oil fields in the PRC in 2016 and secured by the operation
rights of the oil fields (the “Secured Assets”).

Consideration receivables

Upon initial adoption of HKFRS 9, the Group has assessed
the recoverability of the consideration receivable. The Group
considered that the ECL was not material and no addition
ECL was recognised as of 1 January 2018. Management of
the Group believed that the consideration receivable would

still be fully recoverable.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the outstanding
consideration was not settled on schedule and the financial
conditions of the debtor deteriorated. The Group noted that
this deteriorated the debtor’s ability to settle the outstanding
consideration. Based on the assessment of the management,
the involved costs and time of recovery of the Secured Assets
outweighed the expected economic benefits which could be
generated. As such, the Group believed that the credit risk
of the consideration receivable has significantly increased
and the full recovery of consideration receivable was not
expected. Therefore, a lifetime ECL of HK$24,000,000 (note

(i) was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2018.

B4 %5 ¥R 3% P 5

2018412 H31H

27. FEMHR™ - B RB R H fh &
WBR™ « ZERFEMRIE (8)

MEEE

(@)

BHIRRMBE BT S REERFESR % -
FHAED N2018F1 A1BEL » bARE
REBINEHEEEE (RHF2@A)C) °

RRBERNEEERIRZ B EK
AN 32 5 9 TR A 518 K R £52,365,00078
7 (20174 : 79,968,000 Jt) A & R
BESRIE R 2 B R & T IT (20174 ¢
15,809,000/8 L) °

BRATEZDRERERKREHEERNER
14,545,000 7T (20174 : 4,623,000
7 JT) ~ 20174 F& I % 885,767,000/
7t (M 523) & & W X 824,000,000
7L (20174 : 24,000,000/ 7r) * BN
2016F HEETHBMEMESE ZK
MRE LA EEEERRF (B
EHREE] -

FEM X 1E
BRRNE B G RELERESRE
RNEEE T EEWNREZ TR E -
AEERREHEEBSRETELN
BHZE2018F1A1ABEARRE — &
BHEEER AEBEEREEHEREE
WA AB )% P B E U ) o

H Z2018F12A31B L FE » KR
B ARWMELEE  BEBAZ B
MEE - AEEERD  WBERSER
ABEARNREZENEZ - REE
BEZHG WEBEREEMS R
Z RN R W [ BB A] B A 2 T B AR
Mz o Bt - AEEBEEKREZE
ERBRCEELN MEHETEE
U B fE WK (B - B Ut - &L 220184
12AIBILFEERAEHEHREE
[E51824,000,0007 7T (K 7E()) ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

27. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

()

(Continued)

Other receivables

Prior to 1 January 2018, impairment loss of HK$392,000
was recognised under HKAS 39 on other receivables. As
at 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018, 12-month ECL
of HK$960,000 (note 2(a)A(ii)(c)) was recognised against
accumulated losses after considering the historical loss
experience and current economic conditions, management
of the Group believed that there is no significant change in
credit risk since initial recognition and no further 12-month
ECL was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2018.
The management of the Group believed that the credit risk of
certain other receivables has increased and full recovery has
not expired. Therefore, a lifetime ECL of HK$754,000 (note (i)

has recognised for the year ended 31 December 2018.

In respect of the assessment of recoverability of interest
receivables of short-term investment, details are set out in
note 28.

The balances mainly represented refundable deposits of
HK$230,532,000 (2017: HK$248,523,000) paid for possible
acquisition of Canada oil fields as disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 30 June 2014 and 1 September 2014
respectively and interest receivables of HK$58,311,000
(2017: HK$41,737,000) in relation to these deposits
(collectively the “Refundable deposits and related interest

receivables”).
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27. MR « B RB R H fh e
WhR « H e R TE A RIE (8)

M : ()
© (&
H fth FE W BR 3R

MR2018F1A1H Al - RIBE B S5
Bl 5395 e 38 2 H b i U AR FXOR (B &S
18 /392,000 7T ° }¥2018F1 18 K&
20185 12A31H ' KEERE LB L
B RBERLEM RGN R EBEER
12{@ A 78 B {5 & &5 15960,0007% 7T (M
FH2@A)c)) AEEEBEEEEE - &
ERBBVMIERARL EBEEES
B# F2018F12A31B ILFE  HA
BRAE—SHACEER - AEEE
BEMEGE THMERERZEER
B BN - i TE HA G S aE B B | H
fth FE W BR 5K o B It - B E£20185F12 A
AL FEERREHEHAEEEE
754,0007% 7T (B 3E() ©

ARENE IR E RN B 2 A e m T
HFEBE R E28 ©

MR EEEARRDA DB R20145F6
HAB80H Kk2014F9A1B 2 A &
ZAlgEEME X AAZE MR
i 1% £230,532,000/8 T (20174 :
248,523,000 ) R HBIE® 2 &
I %1 258,311,000 7 (20174 -
41,737,000/ 7T) (#e il [ Al R BIR & K
RS -



27. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

(Continued)

On 30 June 2014, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
has entered into the first non-legally binding memorandum
of understanding (“MOU 1”) with Jade Million Co Ltd,
(the “Vendor”) in relation to a possible acquisitions of the
interests of certain oil and gas blocks in Canada (“Target 17).
According to the MOU 1, the Group paid a refundable deposit
of Canadian Dollars (“CAD”) 30,000,000 which is interest-free
to the Vendor in July 2014. On 1 September 2014, the
Group entered into another memorandum of understanding
(“MOU 2”) with Vendor and paid a refundable deposit of CAD
10,000,000 which is interest bearing at 4.5% per annum in
relation to a possible acquisition of the interests of certain
oil and gas blocks (other than Target 1) in Canada (“Target
2”). On 30 April 2015, 31 December 2015 and 30 September
2016, 30 June 2017, 29 December 2017 and 31 January
2019, the Group and the Vendor agreed in writing to further
extend the time limit for entering into formal agreements in
respect of MOUs and the exclusive periods as set out in the
MOUs to 31 December 2015 and 30 September 2016, 30
June 2017, 31 December 2017, 30 September 2018 and 31
July 2019 respectively.

On 30 June 2016, supplemental agreements for MOU
1 and MOU 2 were signed for interest charge based on
the outstanding deposits at the rate of 8.5% per annum
commencing from 1 December 2014 and 1 May 2015

respectively up to the refund of the Deposits.

Save and except for the aforesaid extension of the time limit
for entering into formal agreements and the exclusive periods,
all other terms of the MOUs shall remain unchanged. Up to
the date of this report, the Group is still performing the due

diligence review.

B4 %5 ¥R 3% P 5
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27. FEMHR™ - B RB R H fh &
WBR™ « ZERFEMRIE (8)

feE - (&)

(d)

(%)

M2014F6A308 KA R ZEK B R
7 & #Jade Milion Co Ltd([EJ5]) 5T
VE—DRRERNRNZABES
H((RBESE]) RAHE B8
WEmeREToaRERE ([8EF1])
ZHED - BREFRBERS  AEEHE
R2014F7TAME R X% 82 AR
2 12 ©30,000,00080 7t ([0t ]) ° B
201459A1H - AEEHEE FFI LS
—MmRETE ((REERE2]) - R~
RAEBAUEKENERE T HRER
(TBfZE2]  BEIAINER) 2 A
WX IR T F45%T B2 A REES
10,000,000/ 7t * 201544 A308 -
20154 12H31H + 20164 9H30A1 -
201746 H308 + 20176124298 &
2019F1A31B " ASEREFEEM
BE—PERBZEFTBERE L
ERXHZERIR R ZERBEE SR
HNBRARH MEDHLEZE2015
F12HA31H - 201659 H30H « 20174
6H308 - 20174124318 * 201849
HA30E %201947A318 -

2016466 A308 * B 2 B 3t iR R 18 =
HARMBETIESHAHZE - RD
B BIRE R X TR &R S F8.5%:
B8 - 2 BI#%2014412 518 K2015
FER1EHBFENE BEERER

B bt & &= 7] 37 IE 3 1 i W0 A IR K =%
SBRAEMHBIN ZERBRTEM
BEMGREFTE -HEARER
B AREDEETERES -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

‘ 27. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(d) (Continued)

As these MOUs are non-legally binding and the Group can
unconditionally withdraw from this transaction any time
and the deposits will be fully refundable by 31 July 2019 if
no further renewal of the aforesaid extension. As such, the
deposits were classified as current assets as at the end of

the reporting periods.

Prior to 1 January 2018, no impairment allowance was
recognised. As at 1 January 2018 and 31 December
2018, 12-month ECLs of HK$5,724,000 (note 2(a)Alii)(c))
and HK$5,279,000 (note (j)) on the Refundable deposits
and related interest receivables were recognised against
accumulated losses and profit or loss respectively after
considering the value of the interests in Target 1 and Target
2, management of the Group believed that there is no

significant change in credit risk since initial recognition.

()  The balance mainly included prepayment to raw coal
suppliers of HK$23,529,000 (2017: HK$50,138,000) for the

coal washing factory.

(f) The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of loss
allowance, based on invoice date at the end of reporting

period is as follows:

182

. FEWERR B E R R H fth FE
WHRR « e RTEFFRIE (&)
MicE - (&)
@ (&

HRZERBETHETNRLERORS
N LSS 1#&%5%%&&%15?&%0
MEE—FER PR e
2019F7HAB1ARAI T A2 BRE -
- EeREREHMERESER
MENEE ©

7201841 A1 H Al - B & 7 2 Rl E &
% - R20184F1 A1H8 &20184 12 A 31
B &EZRBEIREZE2ZEEE
B DRRBRIABERBERAEE
e RAR R R A R R12(E A T
= B 5 185,724,000 T (M 5E2(a)Ali)
() }&5,279,0007 7T (MI () - ANEH
EREMERE EERKRE YD ER U
PR AR B ) o

BARTERRERERER BN RE
i JE 7 7} 18 23,529,000 7T (20174 :
50,138,000/ T) °

RBEEHHAERTERERZHAERE
WHR R (R B 1R 8 H) 2 BRilk o A m
T

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FH T

Current or within 30 days I8 B 3k D RB0K 21,696 3,652
31 - 60 days 31 260K - -
61 - 90 days 6190% - 3,401
Over 90 days % R90K - 1,314
21,696 8,367

The average credit period granted to customers is 0-30 days
from the invoice date. The Group does not hold any collateral

as security.
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27. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

()

(Continued)

The Group recognised loss allowance based on the
accounting policies stated in note 4(k)A(ii) and 4(k)B(ii). Prior
to 1 January 2018, an impairment loss was recognised only
when there was objective evidence of impairment. As at 31
December 2017, no impairment loss on trade receivables

was recognised.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to a number of independent customers that had a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management believed that no impairment allowance was
necessary in respect of these balances as there had been no
significant change in credit quality and the balances were still

considered fully recoverable.

Upon initial adoption of HKFRS 9, the Group applies the
HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring ECLs at an
amount equal to a lifetime expected loss allowance for
trade receivables. The ECL is assessed collectively using
a provision matrix with appropriate groupings based on
debtors’ aging. During the year ended 31 December 2018,
ECL based on the provision matrix was immaterial and no

additional ECL was recognised.

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past two years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the period
over which the historical data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over

the expected lives of the receivables.
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27. FEMHR™ - B RB R H fh &
WBR™ « ZERFEMRIE (8)

feE - (&)

()

(%)

AN 55 B AR 55 MY sE4(K)A) K 4(K)B(ii) BT 2
2B BRREREEEME - K201851
A1HA - ABEEHBRRENE B FZE
K78 ERBEEE - R20178F124
318 - Bi&E 3 U R SRR (B R 18 o

B8 BB R OR B & JEBGRIR % & 8
AEBERHARLCENBYIRFE
o ENBELR BRNEEERLE
EREHFHBARMEEAABEKD -
WEREREBEARZFRRF R
BB -

BIRRINE B SR R B &
REEERE B YRS ERIFE5R A
LEEERERERZZHESREE
BEREzcHAEEHEEESE -
FEHEEEEREERRR 2 RERE
PR BEMEREE D EEITEENE -
EH Z2018F12A31B L FE @ B E &
HEETHZEREEERYAIEX
HUUL I R RSN R R E B e o

BEHEEXDREBEBEMFZERE
BEBREH ZFLETSFEHREN
[ B My S R Sk BRI HA R 2 R IR R
EAARRAEEYE EEREEREF
RAZEBERRNEBELENER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

* _27. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER 27. FEWARSR « FEM E 1R & H th FE
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND WERF « RS RFEFRRIBE(8)
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued) MicE - (&)
(@ The following table provides information about the Group’s @ TERRE#HASEEERRBZEMER
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at 2018%F12A31H k2018F1A1BHEE
31 December 2018 and 1 January 2018 was determined as ZEWRRFESHEESENT ¢
follows:
31 December 2018
2018%12HA31H
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
EHEsEE HIREE BERE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET THET
Current (not past due) HHF (REER) 0.00% 21,696 -

1 January 2018

201851 H1H
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHES R X REREE g di
% HK$’'000 HK$’000
FHT F& T
Current (not past due) BEF (REH) 0.00% = =
Past due:- BHER: —
1-30 days 1E30K <2.0% 3,652 73
31-90 days 31E90K 3.0-5.5% 3,401 180
Over 90 days ENIIFS 5.5-6.0% 1,314 79
8,367 332
All trade receivables are less than 180 days past due, not FrE RN BRI EHZ180K A « KRR
impaired and related to few customers which have a good B BREAEEBERIFEELHEDN
track record with the Group. Based on the past experience, XEEM - REUNELS  SEEMG
management estimated that the carrying amount will be fully HERmamE g2k -
recovered.
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27. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER 27. FEWARSX - B ER R H g °
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND WHERER « e R FEFIRIE (&)
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued) M : ()
() Movement in the loss allowance amount in respect of trade h FRAEERKERZEERHEY
receivables during the year is as follows: T
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Balance as at 31 December 2017 RIFE B E T EH 39N
under HKAS 39 2017£12A31H 2 &84 - -
Impact on initial adoption of HKFRS 9 BHRRGEEVBREER
(note 2(a)A(ii)(c) 55955 Z = & (MsE2(a)Alii)(c)) 332 -
Restated balance as at 1 January R1A18 28 &3 &6k 332 =
Impairment loss recognised during the year FRERZREEE
(note 8) (Bt 5E8) - -
Exchange adjustment ME 5, 58 2 (16) -
Balance as at 31 December M12A318 2 468% 316 -
Prior to 1 January 2018, no impairment allowance was M2018F1A1H A BIERBEEASE
recognised under HKAS 39. FHAE RIS 3958 R R B B -
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27. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

27. MR « B RB R H fh e
WBR™ « ZERFEMRIE (8)

Notes: (Continued) M : ()
()  Movement in the loss allowance amount in respect of other () FAEBHEHMEBKERERZRERES
receivables during the year is as follows: HEHOT -
2018
Lifetime
ECL Impairment
12-month (individually allowance
ECL assessed) under
Stage 1 Stage 3 HKAS 39 Total
2HTEH B
128 A T8 #A =858 HFHEST
E8EE (ERIEME) #ERISE395%
SEAREER HIPEEE  ZiREEE st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET THET FERT
Balance as at 31 December 2017 1R 5% i & &t # Bl §5395%
under HKAS 39 20175128318 2488 - - 392 392
Impact on initial BHARARNEEMBRE
adoption of HKFRS 9 FHIFORZHE
(note 2(a)A(ii)(c)) (B aE2(a)Alii)(c))
Other receivables E b fE AR SR
(note (c) above) (E3BtsE(e)) 960 392 (392) 960
Restated balance as at #2018%1H1H
1 January 2018 Z B E G 5 ER 960 392 - 1,352
Impairment loss recognised FABRZBEERE
during the year (note 8) (P 7¥8)
Consideration receivable KR E
(note (c) above) (E3eBtsE(e)) - 24,000 - 24,000
Other receivables E b fE AR 5K
(note (c) above) (XX FizE(C)) - 754 - 754
- 24,754 - 24,754
Exchange adjustment PE X 8B (46) (46) - (92)
Balance as at ®2018%F12H31H
31 December 2018 P& 914 25,100 - 26,014

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2018




B4 %5 ¥R 3% P 5

2018412 H31H

27. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER 27. FEWARSX - B ER R H g °
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND WHERER « e R FEFIRIE (&)
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued) M : ()
(i) (Continued) (i) (%)
Comparative for the year ended 31 December 2017 under RiEEF AT 2| E3955 &, £2017FE128 31
HKAS 39 BilEEZLLBHF
2017
HK$’000
FHET
Balance as at 1 January R1A1B 2 %8 =
Impairment loss recognised during the year (note 8) FRNHERZRERE (MFs) 377
Exchange adjustment ME 58 2 15
Balance as at 31 December 2018 #2018 12A318 2 &6f 392
()  Movement in the loss allowance amount in respect of other () FARBIEAREHEEERAEZ
deposits under 12-month ECLs during the year is as follows: Emige 2 EREBESEEHNT ¢
2018 2017
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Balance as at 1 January R1B1B 2 &85 - -
Impact on initial adoption of HKFRS 9 BRARNEEMEREEL
(note 2(a)A(ii)(c)) o5k 2 2 (P sE2(a)Alii)(c)) 5,724 -
Restated balance as at 1 January M1R18 ZEET &6 5,724 -
Impairment loss recognised during FARRZBEEE (FE8)
the year (note 8) 5,279 -
Exchange adjustment bE 3 55 % (666) -
Balance as at 31 December 2018 "2018%FE12H31H Z2 &85 10,337 =
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‘ 28. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENT 28. EHAIR &
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31 December 1 January 31 December

2018 2018 2017

20184 20184 20174

12A31H 1HH 12H31H

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT T T FH T

Balance at 1 January M1A1B 2 &% 74,472 77,205 71,804
Impairment loss VRI=N SR (4,285) (2,733) =
Exchange adjustments ME 5, 58 & (971) = 5,401
Balance at 31 December MW12A318 Z2 &% 69,216 74,472 77,205

On 10 July 2014, the Group entered into a subscription
agreement with a PRC company which engaged in
investment and consultancy services (“Investee”) (an
independent third party) to acquire bonds issued by the
Investee. During the years ended 31 December 2017 and
2018, the bonds were further extended to 27 April 2018
and 1 May 2019 respectively with other terms remain
unchanged. The bonds are guaranteed by the shares of the
Investee’s related company which is a private company in
the PRC and bears fixed interest at 13% per annum.

Upon initial adoption of HKFRS 9, the Group assessed
the recoverability of the short-term investment and related
interest receivables (note 27(c)) on a collective basis
and considered that there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, therefore
the ECL is based on 12-month ECL. A loss allowance of
HK$2,733,000 was recognised as of 1 January 2018 and
a further 12-month ECL of HK$1,736,000 was recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2018 to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macro-economic factors
affecting the ability of the Investee to settle the receivables.

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at the end of the
reporting dates was the carrying value of the short-term
investment.
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MR2014F7A108 AL EH K S
HEREERBz2PREQAF ([HIEE
AN (—BBIE=ZF) AL RE W
N EEWIRE T EIT2ES - BLE2017
F NM2018F12A31HIEFE %5 E
FEIHE 5 Rl#E — P ERE2018F4 A
27H K201965 A1 » HM G M=
B oZEBEFHEREA 2 —HBEER
Al(B—HPEREDLZE) 2RMDIEE
R WIREEFFE13%ETE ©

BREMNE BV B REERIFIR %
AEBEEREBAETHEREE RIA
Féﬁﬂ&ﬂ B (Mf3x27(c)) 2 aJ e Bl 1 - 37
RAEEERR B 7 LRI EEZE
i'a‘bu AR TEESEEEE T RI12EAE
HiEEEIEE - R2018F1A1HER
518 152,733,000 7T © WA E; £2018
F12A31B L FEE — T HRB12{(E A 18
HR{E & B5181,736,000/8 7T * LA [ B 87 &
WIREASINBEBER 2N 2 RBK
EERZAEMEER -

RBEEHERE  FREERRSEH
REZREE-



28.

29.

SHORT-TERM INVESTMENT (Continued)

Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of

B4 %5 ¥R 3% P 5

28. AR A (&)
EREMESRE BRBEREZH N

2018412 H31H

short-term investment during the year is as follows: T~
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FAT
Balance as at 31 December 2017 RIZEFEDT T ZER| 5395k
under HKAS 39 220174128318 2 468 - -
Impact on initial adoption of HKFRS 9 B XRIRMEFEMFEREEA
(note 2(a)A(ii)(c)) ROk 2 252 (Kt sE2(a)Al(ii)(c)) 2,733 =
Restated balance as at 1 January 2018 22018% 1818 Z & &5 464 2,733 -
Impairment loss recognised during FNERZBEEE (ME8)
the year (note 8) 1,736 =
Exchange adjustment ME 5, 58 B (184) =
Balance as at 31 December MN12A318 2 &6k 4,285 =

Note: The balance includes ECLs of short-term investment and

related interest receivables.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

M AHREEEHREZEREEBERR
Gl e BN

29. RERIMESEFEY

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH#ET F&TT
Cash and bank balances, denominated in ATHEEEE
Be RIRTHES
— HKD and USD —BILKET 26,655 913
— Renminbi (“RMB”) — AR 10,126 20,670
- CAD — T 26 166
- Others —Hftp 142 17
36,949 21,766

Cash and cash equivalents of HK$10,126,000 (equivalent
to RMB8,858,000) (2017: HK$20,670,000 (equivalent to
RMB17,214,000) were denominated in RMB. RMB is not a
freely convertible currency and the remittance of funds out
of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by
the PRC Government.

2018 £ 3| |

10,126,000 L (HER ARE
8,858,000t ) (20174 : 20,670,000 7T
(HENAR17,214,00070) )21 E &
ReEEBYMUARKENE - ARKILIE
BERALBEE {PHEELESASH
BT 2 SN B o] BT 4R PR o

FEARERERLDA
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¢ 29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2. & RIESZEEY (&)
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the bank balances were 720184 K20175F12 A31H » I|RITHAR
deposited in banks in the PRC, Hong Kong and Canada FHRRHE BEERMEXAEESER
with high credit ratings or with good reputation. The credit ARSI EEBERTEBZBRIT - EERR
risk is not material. WAEK o
30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 30. FEfTARRR « Hitb FEMTRRIEARTE
ACCRUALS REHR
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FAT
Current Liabilities mEaE
Trade payables (note (a)) FEAS BR 3K (Bif3E(a)) - 30,662
Other payables and accruals (note (b)) HEih I HIERERER
(B EE (b)) 326,367 325,343
Receipt in advance (note (c)) FE W R IE (B EE(c) - 34,972
Amounts due to shareholders (note (d)) JE 15 A& 3R 5118 (Bt 3% () 5,315 16,855
331,682 407,832
Notes: Mz -
(8  The amount mainly represented raw coal costs payable to a @ ZeBIZAXNTIERKEERD
major raw coal supplier. ) R AR o
() The amounts mainly included exploration costs payable of b) ZEeHEIZERAMMREEZRNM
approximately HK$256,881,000 (2017: HK$269,828,000) in EhE Ak A 49256,881,00078 7T (20174F :
respect of oil and gas properties. 269,828,000 7T) °
(c) The amounts represented receipt in advance from sales of () meHABEBEEREEK-
cleaned coal.
(d)  The balances were unsecured, interest free and repayable on (d) “EHRABEER 28 REAERERH
demand. RHEE °
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30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 30. FEfTARRR « Hitb FEMTRRIERTE
ACCRUALS (Continued) RER (&)
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date EAERRFEHEERGIEEZAZ
at the end of reporting period is as follows: R OTAT -
2018 2017
HK$°000 HK$’000
THET FH T
61 — 90 days 61E90K - 30,662
The average credit period granted by suppliers is 0-30 days HEFGAEENFEHEENAREH
from the invoice date. HEOZE30K °
31. PROVISIONS 31. #1E
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FE T
Balance at 1 January W1 B18 2 &6k 6,709 4,810
Provision for environmental restoration and IRBBERELE
decommissioning costs FRE . #E 2,291 1,537
Exchange adjustments b 5 A (406) 362
Balance at 31 December MW12A318 2 & & 8,594 6,709
The provision for environmental restoration and 2018F R2017THRIFEEREFEILERAE
decommissioning costs for 2018 and 2017 represented ZEBREBEEE=KEREL (HRXHZ
directors’ estimated assets retirement obligations relating to A3 EHCESHAEEREBWMERMT -

the Sanjiao CBM Project as set out in note 43.
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32. BORROWINGS 32. &E

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FET
Other borrowings — unsecured (note (i)) HnmmmEE (i) 3,556 77,437
Corporate bonds — unsecured (note (ii)) IR FE H (I RE(i) 473,567 456,451
477,123 533,888
On demand or within one year BERN—FRNEE 16,956 77,437

More than one year, but not exceeding il —F B NEBME
two years 6,000 10,400

More than two years, but not exceeding R E B NEARE
five years 361,200 257,000
More than five years 838 1 F 92,967 189,051
477,123 533,888

Amount due within one year included WAREBBE—FA

in current liabilities BH %8 (16,956) (77,437)
Non-current portion ERBE D 460,167 456,451




32. BORROWINGS (Continued)

(i)

(i

(i)

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had outstanding
borrowings with principal amount of HK$77,437,000
advanced from several individual third parties and a financial
institution. These borrowings were unsecured, carried fixed
interest rates ranging from 15% to 30% per annum and
guaranteed by a director of the Company, Dr Dai Xiaobing,
a director of a wholly-owned subsidiary and an individual
third party. Out of HK$77,437,000, HK$67,437,000 has
been settled before 29 March 2018. During the year ended
31 December 2018, the Group entered into supplemental
agreements with the lender to extend the repayment of
HK$10,000,000 and HK$6,444,000 was settled. The
remaining balance of HK$3,556,000 was settled in early
February 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company
issued the corporate bonds with principal amount of
HK$6,000,000 (2017: HK$143,400,000) which carried fixed
interest rate of 6% per annum (2017: 5% to 8%) with maturity

in 1 to 8 years (2017:2 to 8 years).

The range of effective interest rates on the Group’s
borrowings for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017

are as follows:

B4 %5 ¥R 3% P 5
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32. EE (&)

(i)

(i

(ii)

M2017F12A318 AEEHE A S5
77,437,000 T2 RMEEBE - TIR
BETEAE=ZAR—XUBHKEZ
BR-ZEEEABEER BEEFR
15%ZE30% KA RAEEZH /X
T —REEMBRAIZ —BEER
— B E A =7 HER - 177,437,00078
JLHR  67,437,0007% T B 7201843 A
298 R fE +f - B E20184F 124318 1k
FEAN  AEBEEFIIZHTHE
LA FE £:10,000,000/% 7T 2 & ZX HFR » I
2 {2 116,444,000/ 7T ° £t 53,556,000
BT R B R201942 A ME -

B E2018F12A31IALFEER  ARQ
BB ITEE G 56% (20174 : 5% %
8%) * FH A1E84F (20174F : 2%8
F) 7 EEH - AN$A6,000,000/5 7T
(20174 : 143,400,000/ 7C) °

B ZE2018%F K2017412A31B L F E
N AEEBENERMNE R TIEE :

2018 2017
Other borrowings — unsecured HEiEEKHER 30% | 15.0% - 30.0%
Corporate bonds - unsecured EIRE OB 5 5.0% - 8.0% 5.0% — 8.0%
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33. CONVERTIBLE NOTES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

The convertible notes recognised in the consolidated

33. TR IRER
RIEA BN E R TR =gt

statement of financial position are calculated as follows: o
Liability Derivative Equity
component component component Total
B9 FTEE S 5 @zt
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT FET FHET
At 1 January 2017 R2017F1 8108 1,230,412 224,937 10,409 1,465,758
Released upon expiry FA I B B 3¢ [E]
(note 37(0)) (B E37(0)) (167,064) - (10,409) (177,473)
Amortisation of transaction R Z A 2 B
costs (note 9(a)) (Ffi3E9(a)) 14,872 = = 14,872
Imputed interest expense EFFI 2
(note 9(a)) (FFE9(a)) 264,658 = = 264,658
Interest paid ERAE (104,847) - - (104,847)
Change in fair value (note 8) A &% &) (Ffi:£8) - (187,042) = (187,042)
At 31 December 2017 2017412 A31H 1,238,031 37,895 - 1,275,926
Released upon expiry FA I B B 3¢ [E]
(note 37(0)) (B E37(0)) (309,136) - - (309,136)
Amortisation of transaction R A 2 B
costs (note 9(a)) (Ffi3E9(a)) 8,833 - - 8,833
Imputed interest expense &S FI 2
(note 9(a)) (FFE9(a)) 246,837 = = 246,837
Interest paid EANENEE] (66,298) - - (66,298)
Change in fair value (note 8) ‘A F{E& &) (Ffi:£8) - (37,638) = (37,638)
At 31 December 2018 2018512 A31H 1,118,267 257 - 1,118,524
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33. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

Convertible note 1

The Company issued convertible note in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$100,000,000 with a 8% coupon rate
on 19 June 2015. The convertible note was denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and will mature in two years from
the issue date. The note can be converted into ordinary
shares of the Company at the holder’s option at the rate
of HK$0.207 per share. Imputed interest expense on
the convertible note was charged at the rate of 18.96%
calculated using the effective interest method. The
convertible note was fully redeemed in June 2017.

Convertible note 2

The Company issued convertible note in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$200,000,000 with a 8% coupon
rate on 1 February 2016. The convertible note was
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and will mature in two
years from the issue date. The note can be converted into
ordinary shares of the Company at the holder’s option at
the rate of HK$0.207 per share. Imputed interest expense
on the convertible note was charged at the rate of 18.96%
calculated using the effective interest method.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company
has partially redeemed it with principal amount of HK$64
million. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Group entered into an agreement with the bondholder to
extend the maturity date of bonds to 18 May 2018 while the
conversion right attached expired. The convertible note was
fully repaid during the year.
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33. TR ER (&)

o[iRBE E R (—)
ANARR2015F6 A19R BT A€ B 5
7100,000,0007 7T B 2 B & £8% 2 A
BBRER - AIRREEAETAE B
BITHHRATMERNEE - ZHRAKE
BAEAZEBENER0207E T2 EHE
ERAANAZEBR A RREE
fE 55 I B ST I T B R R BOE IR I
18.96% 5T & o Al #1 ik E 1% B 1201746
AEHER -

o[REERE(Z)

AR A R2016F21H BT AE B E
#200,000,0005% 7T A 2 B & £8% 2 A
BMBRERE - IRBREEB T E - B
BITHHRTMEANEE - ZHEAKE
BBEAZERZRIAEGR0207E T 2 ER
ERAANAZEBR A REKREE
fE 55 I B X I T B R R BOE R K
18.96%& & o

HZE2017F12A31BILFERN » XA A
A 7K 4 %864,000,0007% 7T & 2 46 5 3% 7]
BIRENE - B E2018F12A31B ILF &
N AEEEREBELFRFE A LHBE - U
5 1& % 2 3 H B i £2018F5H18H -
T B 75 B R AR I 5 KR o AT R R B
ERFREBHEE -
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33. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

Convertible note 3

The Company issued convertible note in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$160,000,000 with a 8% coupon rate
on 26 May 2016. The convertible note was denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and will mature in two years from
the issue date. The note can be converted into ordinary
shares of the Company at the holders’ option at the rate
of HK$0.207 (note) per share. Imputed interest expense
on the convertible note was charged at the rate of 18.96%
calculated using the effective interest method.

The convertible note is personally guaranteed by two
directors of the Company, Dr Dai Xiaobing and Mr King Hap
Lee, to the bondholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
entered into an agreement with the bondholders to extend
the maturity date of bonds while the conversion right
attached expired. The convertible note was fully repaid
during the year.

Pursuant to the terms of the Convertible note 2 and
Convertible note 3, whenever the issuer has issued any
shares, grant of options, warrants or other rights to
subscribe for or purchase or acquires shares at a price
lower than the conversion price thereof, the conversion
price would be adjusted to a reduced price. Hence, this
does not meet the fixed for fixed criteria and the share
conversion option element of the Convertible note 2 and
Convertible note 3 shall be treated as a derivative liability
with subsequent changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss.

The fair values as at 31 December 2017, assessed by an
independent valuer, were calculated using the binomial
options pricing model. Key input assumptions were set out
in note 51(b)(ii). The change in the fair value of derivative
liability compared to the end of each reporting period was
recognised in profit or loss during the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017 (note 8).
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33. TR ER (&)

REER (=)

ANA R HR2016F5 426 T A€ B 5
160,000,000 7T B 2 B & £8%2 A
BBRERE - IRBREEB T E - B
BITHHRATMERNEE - ZHRAKE
HBEAZERINGR0207E T 2 ER
(M3 BRAARAR Z LM - ATRMK
EBRZEGFEXZHNERABERMEE
LR E18.96%5T & ©

AHRBERERAARRZMUES (F/)
EELRERMEL) AESFHE AR
HEAER -

HZE2018F12A31ALFERN A5 H
HESRBEA UGG WEREBHFZ
FEAE - MM e AR R SRR o Al
BREBREERFANBEREE -

REBAZBRREE (D) RABRERE (=)
ZEF - HBETABTEARD B
B AR - AR AR R Bk H i AT DUME R AR A
BREZERABIBEIRER N Z
AN RIS ERRBEEREER-
o ETHEEEREEEE  MAl#
BRER(Z) RAIBRBRERER (=) 2 BEGE
BETRERGETEAERE  HR
NFEINBE B A B FER

R2017F 128318 2 AFEHRB LG
BRETHE  DER_EAHETE
REGTE - 28 ASURRZH R =
51(b)(ii) e TTEBE 2 A FERSHEH
B4R 2 E B R EE20184F k2017
F12A31B L FE B8 ER (HE8) °



33. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

Convertible note 4

The Company issued convertible note in an aggregate
principal amount of US$130,000,000 with a 8% coupon
rate on 29 September 2016. The convertible note was
denominated in US dollars and will mature in three years
from the issue date. The note can be converted into
ordinary shares of the Company at the holder’s option at the
rate of HK$0.207 (note) per share. Imputed interest expense
on the convertible note was charged at the rate of 22.85%
calculated using the effective interest method.

The convertible note was secured by the issued shares of
two subsidiaries of the Company, Power Great Limited and
Orion Energy International Inc., by way of first fixed legal
charge to the bondholder as continuing security.

The convertible option should be separated from the liability
component and accounted for as a derivative liability with
subsequent changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
It was because the host contract (i.e. liability component)
was denominated in a currency which was not the functional
currency of the Company. Hence, this does not meet the
fixed for fixed criteria. The fair values at 31 December 2018
and 2017, were assessed by an independent valuer, was
calculated using the binomial options pricing model.

Details of key input assumptions of the valuations were set
out in note 51(b)(ii). As at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
there were changes in the fair value of derivative liability
compared to the end of reporting period that recognised
in profit or loss during the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2017 (note 8).

Note:

Pursuant to the terms of the Convertible note 2, Convertible note
3 and Convertible note 4, whenever the Company has issued
any shares at a price lower than the conversion price thereof, the
conversion price would be adjusted to the reduced price. Upon the
completion of subscription of 3,380,000,000 shares of the Company
at a price of the Convertible note 2, Convertible note 3 and
Convertible note 4 shall be adjusted accordingly, which is reduced
to HK$0.053 per share with effect from 9 March 2018. Subsequent
to this date, the conversion price has been further adjusted upon
the completion of subscription of shares and the completion of the
share consolidation (note 37(a)(iv)) ranging from HK$0.03 per share
to HK$0.168 per share during the year. As at 31 December 2018,
the conversion price was HK$0.168 per share.
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33. T[RIRFR (E)

o[ R 4R (M)

AR A R2016F9 2900 T A& 4258
/130,000,0005 T B & 8 & 58%2 A]
BRERE - AR EERAEICAE B
BETHEBRF=ZFRNEE - ZEAKRIE
A AZEENSR0.207% T (K &)
ZERERARNAG Z LB - AR
ZERERMNEXHERERFE X
R E22.85%5TH o

AR RBIARR R 2 MK M E A B
EARAA MR ZERERER QA
ZBETKD  BRE -BEEEAEMT
ZHTAREBESFHAAERERR -

BMREEREB LN AES D - WAR
FENTEABE ERRAFENEEZD
BlffiEEBR - IIEREEN(ANE
BED) UERRBIINEEER 2 G
BBt ETFEBERETEEE-
20184 201712 A31H 2 A F{EH
B EMEITRE - Ty A ZE R E
BEEEAGE -

HEETEHAHEBR ZFBIHNME
51(b)(ii) > 20184 2017412 A31H -
PTHERBZATFERRE BRELRE (B
MNE E20184 R2017E12A31 A IEEE
ZIERER) BEE (HES8) °

MaE

BIRATRKRER (Z) - IBRBRER (=) kA
BEZE (W) 2GR EARFEE AR [E
BEREBRE 2 ERBITEMBD  BRE
HAEEZEEER NERIRATBRRER
(Z) AR ER (=) RATRRER (M) 2
{8 1% 32 18 A~ A 7]3,380,000,0000% B 17 14 - #
BB 5 (EHE FE A EE W B8 = & R0.05378 7T © B
20183 A9HBAM - fE:Z B Hit% - EHEIN
SEA IR T & 180.0378 7T & & 180.168% LR
BERR D R FERR AR 10 & BF (B 3E37(a)(iv)) 18
BMREC E#E — A& - R20185F12 A 31
B - BEAER0.1687ETT °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

‘ 34. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Details of the deferred tax assets and (liabilities) recognised

34. IEEHIEE R
ENERARERBEER (AE) 2

and movements during the year were as follows: 15 REEHMT -
Intangible
assets
BREE
HK$’000
FAT
At 1 January 2017 R2017%1 /1R (12,695)
Credited to profit or loss (note 10(a)) s AB &R (FT3E10(a) 1,709
Exchange adjustments BEE 5, (3,249)
At 31 December 2017 M2017F12A31H (14,235)
Credited to profit or loss (note 10(a)) sTAB &R (BT3E10(a) 1,319
Exchange adjustments BEE 5, o B 635

At 31 December 2018

201812 A31H (12,281)

198

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to set off when the deferred tax
related to same fiscal authority. The following net amounts
determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

ERERBEERABER AR
FRE M 3 3 DA B S0 FIE T IR A [R) — B 75 4
T AgELEHE UTREGEUB
MARBEERHRET ZERRFE -

2018 2017

HK$’°000 HK$’000

THET FABT

Deferred tax liabilities ELEFIBA G (12,281) (14,235)
Deferred tax assets EETRIBE E - -
(12,281) (14,235)

Pursuant to the PRC Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is
levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from
the foreign investment enterprises in the PRC. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, no deferred
tax has been recognised for withholding taxes, as there
is no distributable profit for the Group’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC.
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35. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

a) The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, both
the employer and each employee are required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000 (2017: HK$30,000) by each
party. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

b)  Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised
by the relevant local government authorities, whereby
the Group is required to make contributions to the
Schemes at a rate ranging from 21% - 30% (2017:
21% to 30%) of the eligible employees’ salaries.
The local government authorities are responsible for
the entire pension obligations payable to the retired
employees. The obligations are calculated based on a
certain percentage of the basic payroll.

36. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS

The Company operates a share option scheme which
was adopted on 28 May 2010 for a period of ten years
commencing from 28 May 2010 whereby the directors
of the Company are authorised, at their discretion, to
invite employees of the Group, including directors of any
companies within the Group, to take up options to subscribe
for shares of the Company. The terms and conditions of the
grant are determined by the Board at the time of grant. The
exercisable period of an option is not to exceed a period
of ten years commencing the date the share options be
granted. The options give the holder the right to subscribe
for ordinary shares in the Company. A nominal consideration
of HK$1 is payable by the grantee upon acceptance of an
option. Options would be forfeited should the employee
leave the Group. All the existing share options were granted
under the scheme.
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35. EERAKET

@ AEBEREFEAGMEAEST
ZHER - AREBEESEBEAIZE
ZRERIBHMUEATESE ([
BeTEll) - RESFHEIHB
VEFRABEZATEH/KEKRE
- RiIERESHE BERER
EXBEEEEZEBAKAZ5%
EHER - S HF ST A EEKRAL
30,000/% 7T (20174F : 30,000/ 7T.)
B EBR o MFHEIE L 2 fERENE 57
EBEFE -

(o) WEFEEBALEBRARER K
SE2EAEHAEHRTKEE
B ARAEHRFRAKBEE ([3Z
FEED Bt AEEERE?
REEBNFSRAZSFHEELN T
21%ZE30% (20174F : 21%%E30% )
B o BB EE MR
KEEZEHERRSETEE - Z
EEADNBRBERTF S 2E@ATS
LEErE o

36. RAGRLIRGBARZE S

AN A A 20105 A28 H B4y — 18 B8 iR
#EsHE - 85201058280 i 5t A Hi10
FoBN ARARESERERBRA
SEEE (BEASEAMKERAZ
ER)REBRE  URBAABRD -
BHZBARREHHEFENELHKE
EoBREZATITERNSBERBEE
BEAE SR L B EARRAT10F - BARER T35
BEARENZEAQATLBER - AFAR
ERNERERN  BEXNREARES
TeofWEEBBRAANSEE - Bi§ 2 AR
BRI - RB 2B BREDIRER S
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36. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 36. BRAGEHUKKRTRZX S

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

a) The terms and conditions of the share options that
existed during the year ended 31 December 2018
were as follows and all options are settled by physical
delivery of shares:

(48)

(@) LA TAEZE2018F12A31H It
EFE2BRE 2GR RGN BT
EEREHFERAEEINRMNEE

Vesting Adjusted Number of Contractual
Date of grant condition Exercise period exercise price options life of options
RHBaH GRiEHE YR GHERTEE BRENE BRESHEY
'000
T
Options granted to directors:
RPEEZHEIE:
- on 6 December 2011 Immediately 6 December 2011 to 5 December 2021 HK$2.76 11,400 10 years
- R2011412A6A BEs 2011412868 22021412 A5H 2767 106
Options granted to employees:
RFPESZBIE:
- on 6 December 2011 Immediately 6 December 2011 to 5 December 2021 HK$2.76 29,800 10 years
- 12011412 A6A BEs 2011412868 22021412 A5H 276 106
Total share options 41,200

BRESR
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36. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 36. RAGREURMBFHRZE S ’
TRANSACTIONS (Continued) (48)
b) The number and weighted exercise prices of share (b) BREZEE MINETEBSOT :
options are as follows:

2018 2017
Adjusted Adjusted
weighted weighted
average  Number of average Number of
exercise share exercise share
price options price options
R e
IHEFEL I
TEE BREZE TEE BREHE
HK$ ’000 HK$ '000
Ex T4 BT )
Outstanding at beginning REA M RITE
of the year 2.36 1,438,000 2.38 1,479,000
Share consolidation during FARMDE GF (FEE)
the year (note) - (1,294,200) - -
Lapsed during the year FARRM 2,22 (102,600) 2.31 (41,000)
Outstanding at the end of the year R K iH A TT1E 2.76 41,200 2.36 1,438,000
Exercisable at the end of the year RFERA] F1T{E 2.76 41,200 2.36 1,438,000
Note: The exercise prices of and the number of shares entitled MieE : REBEERITEZEREmEERE

A& 19 77 i 1B R A 15 B B B 1 B R AR 15
& B (M 3E37(a)(v) ) % F % - 12018
F12A31H MARITHEZ BIREZ &R
BT E R2.768 T (20174 : 2.36
) MMEFEHEBRTENFERA
2.93%F (20174 : 1.774) »

to be subscribed for under the outstanding share options
have been adjusted following the completion of the Share
Consolidation (note 37(a)(iv)). The options outstanding
at 31 December 2018 had adjusted exercise prices of
HK$2.76 (2017: HK$2.36) and a weighted average remaining
contractual life of 2.93 years (2017: 1.77 years).
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* _37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 37. X R &
(a) Share capital (a) M=
(i) Authorised and issued share capital () EEREZFITRA
2018 2017
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
& E 4] & E T
’000 HK$°000 ‘000 HK$ 000
T TERT TR FHT
Authorised EE
At 1 January »1A1H 40,000,000 400,000 40,000,000 400,000
Increase in authorised shares A TE AR 7N 3 1N 15,000,000 600,000 = =
Share consolidation (iv) % 173 & B (iv) (45,000,000) - = =
As at 31 December W12 A831H 10,000,000 1,000,000 40,000,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid ERTRAERE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each &M EE0.018 T2
LRk
At beginning of the year REH] 16,538,791 165,388 | 17,093,656 170,937
Shares repurchased (ii) B 17 B 11 i) - - (554,865) (5,549)
Shares issued before Share R & FFRT 1T
Consolidation Z Bt 11,340,000 113,400 = —
Share consolidation (iv) B 0 & B (iv) (25,090,912) - - -
Shares issued after Share Rl & T
Consolidation Z Bt 557,560 55,756 = =
At end of the year RER 3,345,439 334,544 | 16,538,791 165,388
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive TRRFEEABERIRTREIR KRS
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to WEARTARE LERAIE—FZREE -
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary AL BEREARAIZHTEEZER
shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual L o
assets.
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37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(@) Share capital (Continued)

(i) Authorised and issued share capital (Continued)
Increase in authorised share capital

On 22 June 2018, the authorised share capital of
the Company was increased from HK$400,000,000
to HK$500,000,000 by an creation of an additional
10,000,000,000 shares with a nominal value of HK$0.01
each.

On 9 August 2018, the authorised share capital of
the Company was increased from HK$500,000,000
to HK$1,000,000,000 by an creation of an additional
5,000,000,000 shares with a nominal value of HK$0.1 each.

Issue of shares during the year

On 26 January 2018, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with an independent third party
for the subscription of a total of 3,380,000,000 new
ordinary shares of the Company at HK$0.053 per share.
The subscription was completed on 12 March 2018
and the Company received a proceeds of approximately
HK$179,140,000.

On 21 June 2018, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with an independent third party for the
subscription of 3,980,000,000 new ordinary shares of the
Company at HK$0.036 per share. The Company received a
proceeds of approximately HK$143,280,000.

On 27 June 2018, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with an independent third party for the
subscription of 3,980,000,000 new ordinary shares of the
Company at HK$0.03 per share. The Company received a
proceeds of approximately HK$119,400,000.

On 12 October 2018, the Company entered into two
subscription agreements with two independent third
parties for the subscription of each of 278,780,000 new
ordinary shares of the Company at HK$0.168 per share.
The Company received a total proceeds of approximately
HK$93,670,000.
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37. AR Rt (&)

(a) B&E (&)

() EEREETRA(E)
JEE AR A IE 0

M2018F6H22H * AR Al EE R A E
38 3% £%10,000,000,0000% & A% M {£0.01
BT Z B 1D+ #9400,000,00078 7T hn =
500,000,000/ Tt °

M2018FE8HOR A A RAER AN E
38 # 3% 5,000,000,0004% &F f% m (E0.175
7t 2 B 5+ #©1500,000,0007% 7T 1 N =
1,000,000,000% 7T °

FERETZRG

R2018F 18268 A AR H—FE L
E=FFIVRBHZE REEENER
0.0537% 7T 33 i & $£3,380,000,0004% 72
DA LB - N2018F3F12H * R
BEHEZRETK  ANAGWERAER
T 49179,140,000/%8 7T °

MR2018F6H21H " A G H —F B
F=AFIUREME NEBEANE
%0.0367% Jt 72 #%3,980,000,0000% 7~ &
A ERR - AR B WEFTERIBL
143,280,0005 7T °

MR2018F6 H27H * AR A H— F B,
E=ZFFVREHZE ADTEBEANE
f%0.08/% 7T R #3,980,000,000% ZAx 2
A ERR - AR B YWEFTE RIBL
119,400,000/ JT °

R2018F 108128 * A AR EREZ B
E=FFI A MHORERZE  NE B
1%0.1687% 7T 7 Bl 3R #§278,780,000%
RNRAF LB - ANQBWEFTE KIE
4 ££4993,670,000/8 7T °
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37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(@) Share capital (Continued)

(i) Repurchase of shares

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company
repurchased a total of 554,865,000 shares of the
Company at an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$98,163,000 of which HK$5,549,000 was debited to
share capital and balances of HK$92,614,000 was debited
to the share premium account. Out of 554,865,000 shares
repurchased, 552,565,000 shares were cancelled during
the year ended 31 December 2017 while the remaining
2,300,000 shares were cancelled in January 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there was no
repurchase of shares.

(i) Lapse of vested share options
In 2018, 102,600,000 share options lapsed (2017:
41,000,000).

(iv)  Share Consolidation

With effect from 9 August 2018, every ten issued and
unissued existing shares of par value of HK$0.01 each in
the share capital of the Company were consolidated into
one consolidated share (the “Consolidated Share”) of par
value of HK$0.10 each (the “Share Consolidation”). All
Consolidated Shares rank pari passu in all respects with
each other.

The Share Consolidation has let to adjustments to (i) the
conversion price and the number of Consolidated Shares
falling to be issued upon the exercise of the conversion
rights attaching to the convertible note in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the convertible note; and (ii)
the exercise price of the share options and the number
of Consolidated Shares falling to be issued upon exercise
of the subscription rights attaching to the share options
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the share
option scheme of the Company. These adjustments have
been taken up elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements.
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- b 3. == L ]
37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 37. EXR R E (8)
(b) The Company (b) HEAT
Available-for sale
investments
reserve/Fair
value reserve
Share Share Contributed Share option (non-recycling) ~ Convertible note Accumulated
capital premium surplus reserve (note 87(c)(iv) equity reserve losses Total
THHESHEE
G/ ATE
R (TRENE
E88) TRRES
k& b LR BRERE (P &37(c)(iv) G RithR Eh
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 TET T T L T THL ThEL TET
At 1 January 2017 201751418 170,987 4212,118 81,043 110,344 (260) 10,409 (1,619,026) 2,966,165
Loss for the year REEER - - - - - - (153,656) (13,656)
Other comprehensive income £t 2EHE - - - - 1,928) - - (1,928)
Total comprehensive income for ~ AEE2EUNEEE
the year - - - - (1,928) - (153,656) (155,584)
Released upon expiry of RUTERE R SEER
convertible notes 3B - - - - - (10,409) 10,409 =
Released upon lapse of REREANERE
share options 37 (@i - - - (2,491) - - 2,491 -
Repurchase of shares hihEE 37(a)fi) (5,549) (92,614) - - - - 6 98,157)
At 31 December 2017 #2017 12A318 165,388 4,120,104 81,043 107,863 (2,188) - (1,759,776) 2,112,424
Loss for the year EEEEE - - - - - - (338,101) (338,101)
Other comprehensive income £t 2ENE - - - - 4,459) - - (4,453)
Total comprehensive income for ~ AEE2ENHEE
the year - - - - 4,459) - (338,101) (342,554)
Issue of shares 00 37(a)f) 169,156 366,334 - - - - - 535,490
Released upon expiry of RTAREE HEEE
convertible notes 33 = = = = = = = =
Released upon lapse of REREXUERE
share options 37(a)ii) - - - (72,725) - - 72,126 -
At 31 December 2018 #2018 12A31H 334,544 4,486,438 81,043 35,128 (6,641) - (2,025,152 2,905,360
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37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue
of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share.
Share premium is not distributable but may be applied in
paying up unissued shares of the Company to be issued to
equity holders as fully paid bonus shares or to provide the
premiums on repurchase of own shares.

(i) Contributed surplus

Contributed surplus arose when the Company issues shares
in exchange for the shares of subsidiaries being acquired,
and represented the difference between the nominal value
of the Company’s shares issued and the value of net assets
of the subsidiaries acquired under the group reorganisation
in 1999 in preparation for the listing of the Company’s
shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. Under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), contributed
surplus is available for distribution to equity holders.
However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or
make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

- it is or would after the payment, be unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

- the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share
capital and share premium account.

(iii) ~ Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the fair value of the
actual or estimated number of unexercised share options
granted by the Company and recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments as
set in note 4(r).
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37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(iv) Available-for-sale investments reserve/fair value
reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income under HKFRS 9 that are held at the end of the
reporting period. Prior to 1 January 2018, this reserve
included the cumulative net change in the fair value of
available-for-sale investments held at the end of the
reporting period in accordance with HKAS 39. This amount
has been reclassified to fair value reserve (non-recycling)
upon the initial adoption of HKFRS 9 at 1 January 2018 (see
note 2(a)A(i)).

(v)  Convertible note equity reserve

The reserve represents the equity component (i.e. option
to convert the notes into shares) of the convertible notes
issued by the Company.

(vi)  Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations outside Hong Kong which were
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy as set
out in note 4(p).

(vii) Accumulated losses
Cumulative net gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.

(d) Distribution of reserves

At 31 December 2018, the Company had no reserves
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie.
Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended),
the Company’s contributed surplus in the amount of
HK$81,043,000 (2017: HK$81,043,000) is currently not
available for distribution. The Company’s share premium
account in the amount of HK$4,486,438,000 as at 31
December 2018 (2017: HK$4,120,104,000) may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.
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37. EX R (8)

(c) fREEMHERRAR(E)
(v) AHRHESHBEEFE 2 FERZ
HE(TRRESEZE)
AFERKE(TEENEZER) BER
REABEREBEZBRERSEM B R
EHRBFRIETCEATFESAEME
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EIRBEES ST ERFEI05 A ® S 2
EREFAEZAHLESHEE 2 RET
N EZEEFERE - R2018F1A1HH X
KN BAMBEREERNFNRE  Ze
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HEEE) (RWiE2@A®0)) °
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(d) SikfEE

MR2018F12H8381H » A2 & & (% &
AHRBESRE, HKEDHIK - BE
AREI981F R a0k (KER]) XA
B) 2 #U B #281,043,000/% 7T (2017
% : 81,043,000 L) H A A DK °
M2018F12HA31H ' X AR 2K i&
& Bk 54,486,438,0007% 7T (20174 :
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DK °
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‘ 38. COMPANY LEVEL STATEMENT OF

38. A ATR2018%F12A31HZ

FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 AR R R
DECEMBER 2018
2018 2017
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Mk FHET FHET AT TEL
Non-current assets EREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RMB AR 22 39 4,500,578 4,511,743
Equity investments designated at & A FEZEBE 2 EHK
fair value through other @R 2 RIER &
comprehensive income ) 24 956 -
Available-for-sale investments HEEESHEE 24 - 5,409
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 4,501,534 4,517,152
Current assets REEE
Other receivables, deposits and ~ E M EUKER - ke K
prepayments BN FRIE 3,042 27,880
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEED 24,904 443
Total current assets MEBEERE 27,946 28,323
Total assets BEE 4,529,480 4,545,475
Current liabilities REBERE
Other payables and accruals HENTIERERER (32,029) (49,653)
Convertible notes BRRE (1,118,267) (297,142)
Borrowings & (13,400) (51,021)
Financial liabilities at fair value BRFEEBBRIIRZ
through profit or loss HBaRE (257) (37,895)
(1,163,953) (435,711)
Net current liabilities REEERE (1,136,007) (407,388)
Total assets less current HEERRDER
liabilities 3,365,527 4,109,764
Non-current liabilities kREBAMRE
Borrowings BE (460,167) (456,451)
Convertible notes QELES - (940,889)
Total non-current liabilities FnBERELEHE (460,167) (1,397,340)
NET ASSETS BEFE 2,905,360 2,712,424
Capital and reserves FATBBANEGEFR
attributable to owners of #iE
the Company
Share capital PR A 37(a) 334,544 165,388
Reserves B 37(b) 2,570,816 2,547,036
TOTAL EQUITY g 2,905,360 2,712,424
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39. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Details of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018

are listed below. The class of shares held is ordinary unless

stated otherwise.
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39. "B AT 2L :
MR2018F 1231 B BB AR 215
IR - BRBAEHRBEIN BT IRDIER

Proportion of ownership interest

fagEM
Place of Group's
incorporation/ Particular of issued and effective  Held by the Held by a
Name of company Note operation paid up capital holding Company  subsidiary  Principal activity
A/ B&TR k58 H-XHE
LaER Wi EERE HRRAHR ERGRE ©X0TRE  ASRE EERR
Wiseley Investments Limited The BVI 100 ordinary shares of 100% 100% = Investment holding
BHREARAA ABRARES US$1.00 each REZR
100REHRER0ET, EBR
Easy Sino Investments Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HKS1.00 100% 100% - Provision of administrative
EERERRAR B 1REBRREAE100ET services {o group companies
nEELARREERRE
Chuang Xin Management Services Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of HK$2.00 100% 100% - Provision of management
Limited B WRERREAR2008T services to group companies
HRERRHERAR nEEARRETERE
Grand Rise Development Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of HK$100 100% 100% = Investment holding
FEERERAR 3 00 ERRREAE100% T REBR
Power Great Limited The Cayman Islands 1 ordinary share of 100% 100% - Investment holding
HERRAT RERS US$1.00 each REER
1REREE0ET ERR
Superb China Limited The BVI 100 ordinary shares of 100% 100% = Investment holding
FEERAT ARBARER US$1.00 each REER
100RBHREET0£T . ERR
2018 53 | FEBRERERD A 209




210

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

39. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

39. R BAB z#m (F)

(Continued)
Proportion of ownership interest
BRREM
Place of Group’s
incorporation/ Particular of issued and effective  Held by the Held by a
Name of company operation paid up capital holding ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activity
i/ E¥fTR k58 H-RME
A58 8E HRRA#E ERGRE BX0IRT  ASRE IERR
Bi Tuo Yuan Technology The PRC Registered capital RMB500,000 100% - 100%  Inactive
(Shenzhen) Co,, Ltd hE AR ARE5000007 e
BRRRR (R ARAA
Orion Energy Interational Inc. (*OEY’) The Cayman Islands 100,000,000 ordinary shares of 100% - 100%  Exploration, development
BnReRERERAR (Ha% ) REHS US50.001 each and production of coalbed
100,000,000% methane
BREBO00ET EER bR RENLERER
Xian Hong Chang Co,. Inc. The PRC Registered capital 100% - 100%  Inactive
BERERRREREERAT PH RMB51,700,000 LES
AR ARSS1,700,0007T
Pipeline International Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00 100% = 100%  Investment holding
ARERERAT B RERRBAR100ET REER
Metro Standard Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00 100% - 100%  Inactive
BHARAT Ei REBRERRA00AT ExH
Ultraway International Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00 100% 100% - Investment holding
BRARERAT B REBRBAR100ET REER
S0G Energy Inc. Canada 1 ordinary share of 100% = 100%  Participation in oil and gas
nex CAD1.00 each projects
1RBRER!.00MT2 EEK SEBFER
Sino Executive Limited The BVI 100 ordinary shares of 100% 100% = Investment holding
AEERRHE US51.00 each RERR
100REHRER0ET, EBR
Total Orignt Global Limited The BVI 100 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - Investment holding
RERARES US$1.00 each REER

10REREE0XTZEBR
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39. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 39. R BAS 2= () ’
(Continued)
Proportion of ownership interest
BHEEM
Place of Group’s
incorporation/ Particular of issued and effective  Held by the Held by a
Name of company Note ~operation paid up capital holding ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activity
R/ EETR 3 1] H-%ME
ARER Wi EERG BRRAHE ERGRE ARATRE LFRF  IERH
Abundant Discovery Limited The BVI 100 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - Investment holding
HERRAT ZREBRES USS1.00 each REER
100REREE 0% K AR
Golden Glow Holdings Limited The BVI 100 ordinary shares of 75% = 5% Investment holding
ZRERRHNS US$1.00 each RERR
100REHRER00ET L ERBR
FEELMENELARAT The PRC Registered capital 5% - 75%  Raw coal washing and sales of
([ZE&ERER]) RE RMB50,000,000 raw and cleaned coal
SE AR AR 50,000,000 REXERHERRRRR
Soperton Limited The BVI 1 ordinary share of 100% 100% = Investment holding
ZRERRHNS US$1.00 each REER
1REREE 0T ERR
S0G Capital Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00 100% = 100%  Investment holding
KRESERAR B RERRRARI00ET REER
REASBERERRAT The PRC Registered capifal 100% - 100%  Financial services
i RMB300,000,000 SRR
A A AR %300,000,0007
Taijin Finance Group Limited 41 Hong Kong 10,000 ordlinary shares of 100% = 100%  Inactive
FEeREEARAA B HK$10,000 BXH
10,000k E B RRAA10,000% 7
Notes: B &
Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly-owned i BIEFEEARELAINEBELE

foreign enterprise

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at

the end of the year.

FR - BENBARETEMNERKES -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

* _40. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 40. FEi=RRtE S
The Golden Glow Group, 75% owned subsidiaries of the RN BB T75%HE %8 2 I B A FlGolden
Company, has material non-controlling interests (“NCI”). The Glows Bl S B AR #Eam ([ FEE R
Hal) o AW I BANEEI00%HE B
FEPE AR b 2 2 B A BB A Bl AR & I
BEKe

NCI of all other subsidiaries that are not 100% owned by
the Group are considered to be immaterial.

A RGolden Glow B (75 B A 3P4 8
A 2 EERBEE50T

Summarised financial information in relation to the Golden
Glow Group, before intra-group eliminations, is presented

212

below:
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHET FE T
For the year ended 31 December BE12A31HILEE
Revenue WA 331,488 417,637
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE), & T (35,852) 3,225
Total comprehensive income for the year FAZHEKALLEE (42,492) 3,808
(Loss)/profit allocated to NCI 7B B FEE IR
(&B8) &7 (8,963) 806
For the year ended 31 December HE12A31BILEEE
Cash flows (used in)/generated from mEEr (R /B
operating activities Be&heE (1,411) 124,281
Cash flows used in investing activities REEEMAZEERE (1,040) (1,213)
Cash flows generated from/(used in) BEEBE (TR Z
financing activities Ren=E 39 (122,183)
Net cash (outflows)/inflows Be (b)), mAFE (2,412) 885
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40. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 40. FEFERRHELR (48) ’
(Continued)

2018 2017
HK$’°000 HK$'000
FHT T T

As at 31 December ®12H31H
Current assets mEEE 34,190 197,072
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,024 54,928
Current liabilities mE A E (2,098) (171,147)
Non-current liabilities EmEBEE (12,281) (14,235)
Net assets EEFE 22,835 66,618
Accumulated non-controlling interests ZETIEERER 5,709 16,655
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

‘ 41. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH 4. BEFEFEEAKE—KMEBLA
ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY IN SIWEEE
PRIOR YEAR
On 20 November 2017, the Company’s wholly-owned R2017F11 8208 ' A AR 22 &K
subsidiary, Sino Executive Limited (“Sino Executive”) J& X ASino Executive Limited ([ Sino
acquired entire issued share capital of Taidin Finance Group Executive |) [ & 3 F Taidin Finance
Limited (“Taidin”) from the transferor, Taidin Finance Group Group Holdings Limited!§ & %= & & Bk &
Holdings Limited, at a consideration of HK$2,097,000. BMERRAR (IFRe]) 22 HTKR
Taidin held a lease agreement of the office premises and A 1B /2,097,000 T - T iFHH
office furniture and equipment which were occupied by the ERINTKENEE Ny E IV E N YN
transferor and did not carry out any significant business HeHERZ ARNWBRHTELS
transactions on acquisition date. FREREBRS -
In the opinion of the directors, the acquisition did not EERA WHEEE ETERKEES -
constitute an acquisition of business in substance. The WEENHERS A RIFARMREE
acquisition of the rental deposits paid and office furniture ERERAEBWE KB R
and equipment were then considered as acquisition of BEE
assets through acquisition of a subsidiary.
Therefore, the acquisition was not accounted for as a Bt - RIBEBREV K RE LR E3HRE
business combination in accordance with HKFRS 3 — HEM WBEBTE ARINEELAEGH-
Business Combination. The acquisition of TaiJin was W EEZR$ 2 R2017411 B20B Ak °
completed on 20 November 2017.
HK$'000
FHT
Property, plant and equipment M - WE KRR 297
Deposits paid Bftize 1,897
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 66
Net assets disposed of HEZEEFE 2,260
To be allocated to the carrying amount of property, BHEEME  BEK
plant and equipment HiE 2 REE (163)
Total consideration BRAE 2,097
Satisfied by: SANEE
Cash paid BEfMIRe 2,097
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEES 2RSSR EFRE
Cash and cash equivalents acquired WEHRESRBESEEY 66
Cash consideration paid BENBESKE (2,097)
(2,031)
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42. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 42. ZERERERMFE :
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing BETETELEZBEZHIR
activities
Non-cash changes
R &2
As at 1 Interest Effect of At 31
January  Financing expense  exchange December
2018  cash flow recognised difference 2018
120184 & E 2 ERER  R2018%F
1A1H Rens X 28 12A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TET TET THET
Year ended B Z2018%12831H
31 December 2018 ILEE
Borrowings BE 533,888 (130,355) 74,529 (939) 477,123
Convertible notes AARER 1,238,031 (375,435) 255,671 - 1,118,267
1,771,919 (505,790) 330,200 (939) 1,595,390

43. PRODUCTION SHARING CONTRACT 43. EmO B ER

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has one (2017: one)
production sharing contract in respect of the development
and production of coalbed methane in the PRC.

On 28 March 2006, OEl (which the Group acquired on 15
November 2010) entered into the Sanjiao CBM Project with
China United Coalbed Methane Corporation Ltd (“CUCMCL”)
(the “PRC partner”) for the exploration, development,
production and sale of the coalbed methane and other
related or derivative products that may exist in a total
exploration area of approximately 383 square kilometers
subject to reduction in accordance with the Sanjiao CBM
Project located in the Erdos Basin of Shanxi and Shaanxi
Provinces in the PRC (the “Contract Area”).

Pursuant to the Sanjiao CBM Project, OEl is engaged as
the foreign partner and operator to provide the necessary
technology know how and assign its competent experts
to explore, develop, produce and sell coalbed methane
or coalbed methane products extracted from the
Contract Area. OEl and PRC partner have formed a joint
management committee as required under the Sanjiao
CBM Project and appointed representatives as members of
the committee (the “Joint Management Committee”). The
Joint Management Committee is responsible to oversee the
operation in the Contract Area.

MR2018%12A31H » KEBEERBEA —
IH (20174 : —H) B ERAREMEE
BREZERDKAR -

2006F3H28H @ BIg L (AEER
2010511 H158 W iE 5% A 7)) B2 AR B X
BRERETAR ([FEBERER]) ([
FEADITY=XKERERE "EE
BEBAN P RE LTS REEE 2R
ZHat ((AHE]) 2=XKER
HEHBSE HAE AERBENEELN
383F HFRAEBERMFEEE (B FFEIR) A
GEZERERREMBEIITEER -

RE=ZXKEREER BEZER/INT
BHENZER  RESE 2B AHE R
ZRTEB 2 ERAR S QMR R - 7
B OAEREEMERZRKERIKRE
REM BIRELEPTBHERE=X
RERBRBERKKIBAEEZES
(mEe) REERKREEZZE

ﬁ
=
KE  MESEEEEANIERZEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

43. PRODUCTION SHARING CONTRACT

(Continued)

In April 2009, CUCMCL transferred all of its interest and
associated obligations with respect to certain gas fields,
including the areas covered by the Sanjiao CBM Project, to
PetroChina. The transfer was approved by the State-owned
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the
State Council. PetroChina joined the Joint Management
Committee of the Sanjiao CBM Project.

Under the Sanjiao CBM Project, the development of
the Contract Area is divided into the exploration phase
development and production phase. OEIl is required to
conduct core testing and run pilot production to ascertain
the potential commercial value of the coalbed methane field
in the planned exploration area.

The exploration phase has an initial term of four years and
expired on 1 July 2010. The PRC partner has extended
the exploration period to 30 June 2012 in order to develop
a larger production scale. Based on the supplementary
agreement of the Sanjiao CBM Project dated 28 October
2010, the exploration period was extended to 6 years
to 30 June 2012. The exploration period has been
further extended to 30 June 2014 by way of a further
supplementary agreement of the Sanjiao CBM Project dated
on 6 July 2012. In December 2014, a further supplementary
agreement of the Sanjiao CBM Project was signed, the
exploration period has been further extended to 30 June
2016. All costs incurred in the exploration phase shall be
borne by OEL.
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ETTRRAARAENBEERS BR
BAZKERBZEEBEEE-

IR B W) R AU - 201057 A1H
B R BB SR PELZE2012
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i A2010F 10828 2 =R M B R 1E 8
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43.

44,

PRODUCTION SHARING CONTRACT

(Continued)

On 20 November 2015, the Group received the official
written notification from NEA for the approval of ODP
and the project then enter into the development and
production phase. On commencement of the development
and production phase, all the development and operating
costs shall be borne as to 70% by OEl and 30% by the
PRC partner, except if the PRC partner chooses not to
participate in a particular site. If the PRC partner chooses
not to participate in a particular site, all the development
and operating cost will be fully borne by OEI. Also, the PRC
partner’s participation can be less than 30% for certain
wells in respect of which the PRC partner will not need to
bear the development costs or will bear at a specifically
agreed percentage. As a result, the profit sharing ratio will
be adjusted according to their actual participating interest in
the coalbed methane field.

The Sanjiao CBM Project has a term of thirty years, with
production period not more than twenty consecutive years
beginning from the date of commencement of commercial
production to the expiry date of the production period as
specified in the ODP, unless production is suspended or
abandoned in accordance with the Sanjiao CBM Project or
under special circumstances, the production period can be
extended with the approval of the relevant PRC authority.

SIGNIFICANT NON-CASH

TRANSACTIONS

a) During 2018, finance costs of HK$6,784,000 (2017:
HK$7,961,000) was capitalised as property, plant and
equipment and oil and gas exploration and evaluation
assets (note 9(a)).

b)  During 2018, provision for environmental restoration
and decommissioning costs which increased by
HK$2,291,000 (2017: increased by HK$1,537,000)
was included in the property, plant and equipment
(note 16).

43.

44,
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ERSTHRERE (&)

201511 208 - AEEHEER KL
BEREREEAN (NAE B ERE
AEAR) HEBEREARZEREE
PR -EHBEREEHRAR AR
BREENABEHRRLERPTEH
& B IR70%%30% 2 L &I - i fid R
FRHEET2HEMARE ST
BIERIGR © R A B EETSERE
K- Ehe - ARIET B EE
FTE LB AT REERA o fhoh -
PHBHEEETHERFZL2EMA DR
30% - A 77 B Tt B 7B R HE R AR AR
R X EERE—(EARFIBEZADL °
Bt Ao EEBERERESB
REERE 2 ER2E S mIELFHE -

ERXRERBERBM=1T5F L£EHH
BELAERKBPEEEERIEA (R
BRBREITRMET LTAZRNE
B_+F BIEBRBE=KEREEE
FEEIMELEEXRFTHEREEY
EBATEBTHEALE A -

EXFEREXSD

(@) mM2018F K » Bl & Bk 76,784,000
7T (20174 : 7,961,000% 7T) B
BEARRYE - BE REEN KR
KRR RS EE (KE9(@) °

(o) M2018F A ' WIBEBEME IEF
FA B B &1 Hn2,291,00058 7T (2017
& : #401,537,000/8 7T) B 5t A YD
¥ BERFE(HE16) A -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

45. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
owners and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between higher
owners’ returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded
by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the capital structure of the
Group consists of net debts, which include other payables
and accruals, provisions and borrowings, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors review the capital structure regularly. As part
of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through payment of dividends, new
share issue as well as the issue of new debts or repayment
of existing debts. The net debts-to-equity ratios at 31
December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:
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45. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued) 45. EXEE (4§) :
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FET
Total debts: BEIEARRE
Trade and other payables and accruals JE 11 AR SR % H ) JE A~ 3RIE
NIERRE R 331,682 407,832
Borrowings B 477,123 533,888
Provisions g 8,594 6,709
Convertible notes MR ER 1,118,267 1,238,031
Financial liabilities at fair value through ERAFEERERIERZ
profit or loss BT asE 257 37,895
1,935,923 2,224,355
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B ReRReEED (36,949) (21,766)
Net debts BEH%FE 1,898,974 2,202,589
Equity R 3,008,606 3,164,495
Net debts-to-equity ratio BB FEEERLE 63% 70%
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject ARl REEAMBRRALAZINEE
to externally imposed capital requirements. M2 ERREFTHR ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency risks,
commodity price risk and equity price risk arises in the
normal course of the Group’s business. These risks are
limited by the Group’s financial management policies and
practices described below.

(@) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its
short-term investment, loans receivable, trade, note and
other receivables, deposits, and cash at banks. Their
carrying amounts represent the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

To manage the credit risk associated with trade receivables,
the Company adopts risk control to assess the credit quality
of the customers and debtors, taking into account their
financial positions and past experience. The Company has
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.

(i) Trade, notes and other receivables and deposits

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision
for trade receivables. To measure the ECLs, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The ECLs also
incorporate forward looking information. The Company
provides information about the Company’s exposure
to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31
December 2018 and 1 January 2018 in note 27 and note
2(a)Alii)(c) respectively.

In respect of notes receivables, they represented bank
acceptance bills which were issued by banks in the PRC
with high credit-rating or with good reputation. There was
no recent history of default and the management has
assessed that the ECLs was not material as of 1 January
2018 and for the year ended 31 December 2018.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group had no
significant concentration of credit risk.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(@) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Cash with banks

The Company expects that there is no significant credit
risk associated with cash at banks since they are placed
at banks with high credit-ratings or with good reputation.
There has been no history of default in relation to these
banks and thus the risk of default is regarded as low. No
loss allowance provision for bank balances was recognised
as of 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018.

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans
to cover expected cash demands, subject to approval
by the Company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable
marketable securities and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.
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46. BA¥5E b EIE (4])

(a) EEREPE (&)

(i) RiTH=Z
ANABBEHTELRRTREARZIEKX
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BEREETRKNRTEE ZRTTZ
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BB - 8 £20185F1H18 &20184F12
A318 - BERRITESIEL EBIBRME

(b) HENE R EE

REBESRABR I AEERERPBEET
IR TABEEIZAR - AEEE
BROBEL T ERBERRABRER
MBECEMNIBEE  SASEEE
EETRESZEBRSABETERR

AEEETENKEERETRARS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

* _46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 46. A5 IEEE (&)
(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REELERE(E)
The contractual maturities of financial liabilities are shown as BREECEARBBERNT
below:
Total
contractual More than1  More than 2
Carrying undiscounted ~ Within 1 year  year but less years but less More than
Amount cash flow orondemand than2years  than 5 years 5 years

BIEIR 1£/E, 1E0E 2N
FEfE HekEsE BEX {B2ENT {B5ENT SENE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tix Tin Tin Tin Tin Tix

2018 2018
Trade and other payables and EREFREBENTER

accruals ElRgH 331,682 331,682 331,682 - - -
Convertiole notes hREE 1,014,000 1,237,265 1,237,265 - - -
Borrowings e 477,123 675,268 50,495 36,09 434,793 153,904
Total @ 1,822,805 2,044,235 1,619,442 36,09 434,793 163,904
2017 2017
Trade and other payables and EREFREBEATER

accruals BRER 407,832 407,832 407,832 - - -
Convertible notes mHRER 1,310,000 1,672,915 435,705 1.287,210 - -
Borrowings A8 533,888 777,753 116,299 43,875 323,531 294,048
Total s 2,051,720 2,858,500 959,836 1,281,085 323,531 294,048
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group’s fair value
interest rate risk arises primarily from borrowings and
convertible notes. Borrowings and convertible notes were
issued at fixed rates which expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. The Group has no cash flow interest rate
risk as there are no borrowings which bear floating interest
rates. The Group has not used any financial instruments to
hedge potential fluctuations in interest rates.

At 31 December 2018, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the Group’s loss for the year by approximately
HK$48,161,000 (2017: HK$50,200,000) before the
consideration of capitalisation of interest. The sensitivity
analysis has been determined assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the end of reporting period
and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate
risk for the borrowings in existence at that date. The 100
basis point increase or decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest
rates over the period until the next annual reporting date.

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
recognised assets and liabilities that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the operations
to which they relate. At 31 December 2018 and 2017, no
related hedges were made by the Group.
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46. BA¥5E b EIE (4])
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R/ TEZBERT  FRBEEm/
BREIOEEZE B SAEEAFEFHE
#4052 4148,161,00058 7T (20174
50,200,000/ 7T) (‘T EF R ER(EFE) °
BURKE AT Ty R AR B R B gy i ] & 29 R
HEREDZLE BBt ARZBEEZ
BEMERREZETE - M52 100
AEHAREREH T —FEREAHZ
ATEARIR R 2 Al RE A IR B 8h 2 5114 o

(d) EEREMKE
AEEAZEKRBREIZREUEHA
EB2MEEB N BB EZ O’
REAEKRBE - 20184 K2017412 A
318 - ANEBEWEIEL AR EF o
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* _46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 46. 5 E PR EE (&)
(Continued)
(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d) E¥EE(8)
(i) Exposure to currency risk ()  BREZ EEERE
The following table details the Group’s exposure at the TRES) A K E R S B A R E R
end of reporting period date to currency risk arising from RUANEBEERE ZEE AN Bt
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency BzBEEXBEMAS ZEE SIS -
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they BRESMEREERNARMBE & -
relate. The sensitivity analysis includes balances between MZEEBRTIAE B R 2 g
group companies where the denomination of the balances NNz S¥EETHE -

is in a currency other than the functional currencies of the
lender or the borrower.

2018 2017
Australian Australian
dollars UsD RMB CAD dollars Usb RMB CAD
an EYs MRS i R E ARE 7
'000 '000 000 000 000 000 000 000
n i n n T T T T
Short-term investment RfiRE - - 62,000 - = - 64,300 -
Trade and other receivables  FERER 50 R 2 b FE MR 3¢ - 3 12,430 - - B 4,551 -
Notes receivable* EhEE: - - - - 2,000 - - -
Cash and cash equivalents B RIEE EEY 2 107 6,796 4 2 33 2 4
Amounts due fromgroup ~~ EMEBREFE
companies - 130,000 25,000 14,133 - 130,000 18,000 10,604
Trade and other payables TR REfEMZA
and accruals RERER - - - - - - - (1,758)
Amounts due to group EifSBARTE
compenes - 42%2) (90216 (10576) - 0% (156750 (8.259)
Convertible notes EpEs - (130,000 - - - (130,000) = =
Overall net exposure PRRRFE 2 (224122)  (184,050) 3,561 2,002 (200,905) (69,899) (402)
* Included in interest in a jointly controlled entity AR —REEREIES
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate change in
the Group’s (loss)/profit after income tax expense and
accumulated losses and other components of consolidated
equity in response to reasonably possible changes in the
foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant
exposure at the end of reporting period. The sensitivity
analysis includes balances between Group companies
where the denomination of the balances is in a currency
other than the functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. A positive number below indicates an decrease in
loss/increase in profit and decrease in accumulated losses

B4 %5 ¥R 3% P 5

2018412 H31H

46. BA¥5E b EIE (4])

(d) E¥EME (&)

(i) BRI
TRETRBEAREREE R EEE
REARRE R ZIMNEE R Z AL S B E
ERAEERMAEH L& (BB, 8
M N BT B 18 A M A7 A HE o H A 4H AP
DRZBHEY FRESTEELIRE
WRARIEZER M FEHRIIAET
HfEHT 2 EW AN 2 B¥EETE - i
BTARBERRS  ATEBRTE
BED RME R R BERD - B
BTAEBERRY AT EHER/
AR RFBEREKEBESFRERRZ

where the HKD weakens against the relevant currency. For
a strengthening of the HKD against the relevant currency,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on loss/profit
and accumulated losses, and the balances below would be

TE O BATERAKES/ER-

negative.
2018 2017
(Increase)/ (Increase)/
decrease in decrease in
loss after loss after
taxation and taxation and
Weakening in  accumulated Weakening in accumulated
HKD losses HKD losses
BREEHBER Briiie g E &
Rith5E RitER
BURE (En) R ArkE  GEm),/m>
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
TERT TET
RMB AR 2% (3,156) 2% (1,679)
CAD il 2% 308 2% (50)
Australian dollars BT 2% - 3% 366

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the
end of reporting period and had been applied to each of the
Group entities’ exposure to currency risk for the financial
instruments in existence at that date, and that all other
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

FREDITIRRIMNEE R 2 #EN R
THEERERTEHERCHAEE

BT&EER

F%) RETHET -

2018 £ 3| |

2AFBEZHBIT AR R

ZEEBER MAABHEGBEHR(LER

FEARERERLDA
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The stated changes represent management’s assessment
of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates
over the period until the end of the next reporting period.
In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between
the HKD and the USD would be materially unaffected by
any changes in movement in value of the USD against
other currencies. Results of the analysis as presented in the
above table represent an aggregation of the effects on each
of the Group entities’ profit or loss after income tax expense
and equity measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into HKD at the exchange rate ruling at the end
of reporting period for presentation purposes. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for 2017.

(e) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from
equity instruments classified as available-for-sale equity
securities which are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong. Listed investments held in the available-for-sale
portfolio have been chosen based on their longer
term growth potential and are monitored regularly for
performance against expectations. The portfolio is diversified
in terms of industry distribution, in accordance with the
limits set by the Group.

The Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from
changes in the Company’s own share price to the extent
that the Company’s own equity instruments underlie the fair
values of derivatives liabilities of the Group. At the end of
reporting period, the Group is exposed to this risk through
the conversion rights attached to the convertible notes
issued by the Company as disclosed in note 33.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis on equity price risk includes the
Group’s financial instruments, which fair value or future
cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in their
corresponding or underlying asset’s equity price. If the
prices of the respective equity instruments had been 20%
higher/lower, loss for the year would increase/decrease
by nil (2017: nil) and other component of equity would
increase/decrease by HK$191,000 (2017: HK$1,081,000).

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2018

46. BA¥5E b EIE (4])

(d) E#EEME(E8)
(i) SEE S (E)
Fritz BBEEREHEE T —ER

AN
BB -stms  REETR
TZBMBEEXRTEXIXTHEMER
ZEMEBEEEH I EAFE - LRIIR
ZOMBEREHAEEETSERERS
Wt EBFE L IR M E MM ERE 2R
TEXBRERBTUARZINZAZRA
BUXHRBESRES W ERE - &
DT TR 201 7TF MR 2 BT o

(e) BRAEEHEEE
AEBEAZRAD BRI HERAKE S
(RBBMIMA LT MELZRATA
ZBRAEREHER - RAfHE SR
BEMAAARAZ LMREDREER
ERERENMER  TREBEHH X
RETERER REHAREAKE
REZBRH D BN TARITE -

HWAREZTETRBERAFERZEAR
ARABARG ZBRATER  BIAREEIREA
ARBARGZBREZESHMATRAER
[\ B o B 4R BT RESBAT 4 B - M 5 HA A
RRE - AKRBERERARAMBETARRK
SR 2 R AR A It = B o

HRE ST
BRAEBRERZFRESNMBELAER
ZHBIA EAFESIARKRESTE
KEEAEAEXEEEE 2 RAER
BEMEE WSBRATAZER L
/T B20% - ANEFEEIB BN m
T (20175 : ) - i H Ao fr & & 2 A
1 4% hn S8 42191,0005% 7T (20174 :
1,081,000/ L) °



47. COMMITMENTS 47.

(a) Operating lease commitments — Lessee

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases were payable as follows:

B4 %5 ¥R 3% P 5

2018412 H31H

e

(a) HEZHERE—FHEAA
20184 K 2017F12 8318 » FERH R A]
WK ERE A RERBERBLE
W

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FHT

Within 1 year 16 R 10,451 6,144
After 1 year but within 5 years 118 B5F N 7,532 4,244
17,983 10,388

The Group is the lessee of a number of properties held
under operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial
period of one to six years without an extension option. None
of the leases includes contingent rentals.

(b) Capital commitments

AEERBRELEHERALZEYELZ
EEA—BME  ZFHEZNTH
MNF1EeF Y EEHEEE-FTE
HEMERELEES -

(b) BFHIE

2018 2017
HK$°000 HK$’000
THET FET

Commitments in respect of the Sanjiao REREERIEEB 2 &
CBM Project 23,842 18,333
Commitments in respect of the LNG project  FL/EIL AARRIE B 2 &z - 69,090
23,842 87,423

2018 £ |
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48.

49.

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Environmental liabilities

The Group engages in the exploration, development
and production of coalbed methane resources. The
consequence of coalbed mining includes dismantlement and
demolition of infrastructure in the mining sites. The Group
may have obligations to make payments for restoration and
rehabilitation of the land after the sites have been extracted.
As at 31 December 2018, a provision of HK$8,594,000
(2017: HK$6,709,000) was made in the consolidated
statement of financial position (note 31).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements,
no related party transactions have been entered into during
the year which might reasonably affect any decisions made
by the users of these consolidated financial statements.

Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as
disclosed in note 11, all the highest paid employees as
disclosed in note 12, and other six (2017: five) senior
management personnel are as follows:

48.

49.

HB/AE
HHRRZEME
ARBEEREREARZHE  PBEMN

EEMETEBERR2ERBERE
RFHGIES 2 EARE - NEENES
BEEBE TKARE  XNERLME
REERER - N2018F128318 -
fRE MBI & AYER 78,594,000/ 7T
(20174 : 6,709,000 t) 2 # & (M &
31) °

FAEALXS
BEBRRABITREESN - FRHEE
AT AREERSRAMERREAEL
AEEHZREELEABYEZBEA
125 -

FTEEEASHE
AEBEFTEEEABMS (BEM
FIEBsEMARREE N 2RIEA -
M2 ERsEMEBREaFEEX
N2 RIBRFAINE (20174 : %) HMh
RREBRABINZRIB)AT

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Short-term employee benefits EHIESRT 16,690 15,033
Post-employment benefits B 1R A - =
16,690 15,033

Total remuneration is included in “employee costs” (see note
9(b)).

Finance costs

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
paid interest on borrowings of HK$1,403,000 (2017:
HK$2,893,000) to certain key management personnel.

| Annual Report 2018

Me@eE et ATE TR Al (R
b)) °

FLE= 0%
HE2018F12A31HLEFE A&
EmaTErZEEBAEXHEENE
1,403,000/ 7T (20174 : 2,893,000/
TL) ©



50. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities recognised as at 31 December 2018 and
2017 may be categorised as follows:

50.

B4 %5 ¥R 3% P 5

2018412 H31H

MBEERMBREZYER
=
A20184 R2017E12 AT AR 2 A E
B KEERMBEEZERAES EN
™

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET F&T
Financial assets HEEE
Financial assets at fair value through EAFEEBRERIERZ
profit or loss MEEE 57,700 51,606
Equity investments designated at fair value ~ 1ETE AR AFEBBEM
through other comprehensive income 2HEK IR RERE 956 -
Available-for-sale investments AtHESmHEE - 5,409
Financial assets measured at amortised cost R # K AT E 2 BB E 488,181 =
Loans and receivables (including cash and ERkERFZIE(BIERS
bank balances) MARTTHE ) - 563,007
546,837 620,022
Financial liabilities MBER
Financial liabilities at fair value through BATEERBERIIERS
profit or loss WBaE 257 37,895
Financial liabilities measured at REBHKATFEZ
amortised cost VEaE 1,909,468 2,144,779
1,909,725 2,182,674

51. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Financial instruments not measured at fair
value

Financial instruments not measured at fair value include
trade, notes and other receivables, deposits, loan
receivables, short-term investment, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables, accruals, borrowings
and convertible notes. The fair value of all these financial
assets and financial liabilities are not materially different from
their carrying amounts.

(a)

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard
terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets
are determined with reference to quoted market prices.

AFEE
(a) EFBRAFEABZMBIR

YRR FEAEZHMBTABEER
R BE B M B EYERR - B
F’Euﬁlfm RHRE R hREEFE
Y BNERALEMEMNTIE  BRZE
A BERABRERER MEZSEWH
ﬁ&&ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁz NFEYEEREE
HE

BB EEGER AL R RE T ERT
GEBNWEKEERYKEBENAFE
TI2EMGREETE -
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* _51. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 51. AF{#i 2 (&)
(a) Financial instruments not measured at fair (@) EFBRAFEHFEZHMBIA
value (Continued) (48)

The valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs
used in determining the fair value measurement of level 2
and level 3 financial instruments, as well as the relationship
between key observable inputs and fair value are set out
below.

(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value
Information about level 3 fair value measurements

(i) The fair value of contingent consideration is estimated
using a discounted cash flow method.

TXHINEFTF2EREIEMBEITE
ZAVEFERMEBNMBERMEE
ATABREAZE UERETEAJHE
AN TFEZENRRE -

(b) HAFEHFEZHEIAR
EREIEATEETEMER

() HAEAEREZAFEERRZREN
BAGHE -

Significant unobservable inputs EXFOUHRE NS

2018 2017
Discount rate Prin = 21.88% 22.36%
Growth rate #RR 2.40% 3.00%

Increase in discount rate and growth rate by 1% and
the 1% would decrease the fair value of the contingent
consideration by HK$811,000 and HK$1,608,000.

(i)  The fair value of derivative component in convertible
notes is estimated using a binomial options pricing

3 R R R R 53 BIE 01 % K L1 %4
B~ F1E 5 BIE 4811,000
7 7T 121,608,000/ 7T °

B AR

(i

ABMREBRTERD 2 A FERER
“EAHREEELMGE -

model.
Significant unobservable inputs EXFUHREANER
2018 2017
Dividend yield % B W s 0% 0%
Volatility B 62.68% 24.94%
- 28.62%

Increase in the volatility by 1% would increase the fair
value of the derivative component in convertible notes by
HK$60,130.

R B M 3 N1 % A5 S B AT 2 AR AR T A B
o)A (B 60,1308 7T °
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51. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 51. XA F = (&) :
(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value (b) BMAFEEHEZMBIA(E)

(Continued)
The following table provides an analysis of financial TREHZATFTEYNENMBE TAERA
FEERED 2D :

instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value

hierarchy:

Level 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for F1E : HRAEEZEERERME Y
identical assets or liabilities; SREB (REFE) ;

Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included within FoE : TR BEE (BNEMR) i (A
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or HERTE) BRERNEIEE
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly ERARBsrEESBEZHE
(i.e. derived from prices); and 53

Level 3:  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based FIE: WIFRBEITERTEHEZE
on observable market data (unobservable inputs). EXNBAEZEHE (TEEH

%) -
2018
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E1E 28 SE3E @t
HK$’00 HK$’000 HK$’00! HK$’000
TER FER TERT TERT
Financial asset at fair value BAEEEBRERS
through profit or loss JIRZIA B EE
- Contingent consideration — s ARRE - - 57,700 57,700
Financial assets at fair value BAFEEBRH
through other comprehensive 2HEIETIRZ
income HBREE
- Listed securities in Hong Kong — BB LEMES
at fair value (R A¥E) 956 - - 956
Financial liabilities at fair value XX FEHEBER
through profit or loss SR BT B &
— Derivative component in —ABMBREE
convertible note PTHEE S - - (257) (257)
2017
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
21 FEofE E3E Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Financial asset at fair value BRAFEEBER
through profit or loss IR ZAEEE
- Contingent consideration —RARE - - 51,606 51,606
Available-for-sale investments Tt HH & &R EE
— Listed securities in Hong Kong — BB LEMES
at fair value (RATFE) 5,409 - - 5,409
Financial liabilities at fair value {RAF{EEBIIELR
through profit or loss SRR Z 17 & 1R
— Derivative component in —ARBRER
convertible notes PTEZD - - (37,895) (37,895)

There were no transfers between levels during the year. FRNEEH BT EE ST MEE -
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51. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 51. XA F = (&)
BATRENBEZHMBETA(E)

52.

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2018

(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value

(Continued)

Reconciliation for financial instruments carried at fair value
based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) are as

(b)

REERTABRGEABE (F3E) X
RFEARNTHTAZHERNOT :

follows:
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FH T
Financial assets at fair value BAFEEBBHRIRZ
through profit or loss MHBEE
At 1 January ®1A1H 51,606 22,621
Change in fair value NFEEE 8,973 26,275
Receivables (note 27(c)) JE U5 BR 3% (BT 3E27(c)) (5,767) =
Settled during the year (note 23) FANEE (Hf5E23) (14,169) (17,000)
Exchange adjustment e H A 17,057 19,710
At 31 December M®12A831H 57,700 51,606
Financial liabilities at fair value BRAFHEHEBELRIRZ
through profit or loss MBER
At 1 January M1A1H 37,895 224,937
Change in fair value (note 8) NEEZ B (H3E8) (37,638) (187,042)
At 31 December MW12H31H 257 37,895

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2019.

52. MR TR2Z2EHM
Bk 2 BESEN201993H29R
FEME R B R o
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